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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of
Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
"Directors”) of Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited (the
"Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”),
| am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year").

The business of the Group primarily involves the wholesale and
retail of a wide spectrum of wine products and other alcoholic
beverages in Hong Kong with a focus on premium collectible
red wine, i.e. red wine with selling prices at or above
HK$1,000 per bottle (the “Premium Collectible Red Wine").

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue of the Group decreased by approximately 16.6%
from approximately HK$335.1 million for the year ended 31
March 2019 to approximately HK$279.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020. The decrease was primarily caused by
the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.
Profit and the total comprehensive income for the year ended
31 March 2020 amounted to approximately HK$11.9 million
(2019: HK$32.8 million), representing a substantial decrease
of approximately 63.5%. The aforesaid substantial decrease in
profit was mainly due to (i) the decrease in revenue primarily
caused by the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19)
pandemic and (ii) the decrease in the foreign exchange gain
for the Year arising from the foreign currency fluctuations
in respect of the foreign currency denominated trust receipt
loans for the settlement of wine product purchased from the
overseas suppliers mainly as a result of depreciation of EURO
and GBP in 2018.

PROSPECTS

To accelerate the advantages of the Group and develop
sustainable future for our business, we are strengthening the
warehouse storage capability and the operation efficiency,
including leasing new warehouses in Hong Kong and acquiring
a professional warehouse management system, which
designed specifically for warehouses operation for the wine
industry. The Group has already established a retail store in
a prime location in Kowloon at the end of 2018. Since the
outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic (the
“COVID-19 Outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary
and control measures have been and continued to be
implemented across Hong Kong and other countries in the
world. The Board expects that the global economy and retail
environment remain uncertain and full of challenges. The
Group has been closely monitoring the development of the
COVID-19 Outbreak and will take prudent approach and adjust
its business strategies to face the challenges when appropriate.
The Group will also continue to evaluate the impact of the
COVID-19 Outbreak on its financial position and operating
results from time to time. In considering the establishment of
the third retail shop, the Group will further take into account
the retail environment, location, retail expenses and other
factors.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREE

Apart from the above challenges, we are enriching the Group'’s
product portfolio with wineries to offer more selection to
the market, especially from French regions such as Burgundy,
namely Domaine A.F. Gros, Domaine Arnaud Ente and
Domaine Trapet Pere et Fils. The Group aims to continue
strengthening the leading position in the wine industry
in Hong Kong, at the same time, looking for expansion
opportunity to penetrate the Group’s market share into
different countries worldwide.

NOTE OF APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all of the business partners, customers, suppliers
and the shareholders for their continuous support. | would
also like to express my sincere appreciation to the Group’s
management and staff for their commitment and dedication.

Yeung Chi Hung
Chairman
Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business of the Group primarily involves the wholesale and
retail of a wide spectrum of wine products and other alcoholic
beverages in Hong Kong with a focus on Premium Collectible
Red Wine. The Group has a comprehensive product portfolio
consisting of (i) wine products such as Premium Collectible
Red Wine, fine red wine and white wine; (ii) other alcoholic
beverages such as champagne, whisky and sake; and (iii) wine
accessory products such as wine decanters, wine glasses and
wine openers, for customers’ selection.

The wine industry in Hong Kong has seen an increasing trend,
driven by the expansion of off-trade distribution channels
such as grocery stores and convenience stores, allowing low
to medium priced wine products to increasingly penetrate
the market. The rising interest of general customers in wine,
resulting from the proven health benefits and high affordability
of wine products, is expected to benefit the wine industry and
the Group. The Board believes that the Group can capture
the opportunity arising from the increasing trend in the wine
industry.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the Group decreased by approximately 16.6% from
approximately HK$335.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 to approximately HK$279.4 million for the Year. The
decrease was primarily caused by the outbreak of the novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.

Cost of sales

The Group's cost of sales consists of the procurement of wine
products and other alcoholic beverages from the suppliers.
The Group recognise cost of sales upon the conclusion of a
sales transaction. The cost of sales decreased by approximately
15.5% from approximately HK$265.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$224.1 million for
the Year. The decrease in cost of sales was directly correlated
with the decrease in revenue for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEFWE S

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit represents revenue less cost of sales. For the
Year, the gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately
20.8% from approximately HK$69.8 million for the year ended
31 March 2019 to approximately HK$55.3 million.

The overall gross profit margin remained relatively stable at
approximately 20.8% and 19.8% for the years ended 31
March 2019 and 2020, respectively.

Other income

Other income of the Group consisted primarily of (i) bank
interest generated from the bank balances and (ii) sundry
income. Other income increased from approximately
HK$77,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
approximately HK$597,000 for the Year, which was mainly
contributed by the increase in bank interest generated from
the bank balances during the Year.

Other Gains and Losses, Net

The Group recorded net gains of approximately HK$2.9 million
and net gains of approximately HK$7.7 million for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Group recorded net exchange gains of approximately
HK$2.9 million and net exchange gains of approximately
HK$7.7 million for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019,
respectively. It was primarily arising from the foreign currency
fluctuations in respect of the foreign currency denominated
trust receipt loans for the settlement of wine product
purchased from the overseas suppliers.

Besides, the Group has recorded a net loss of approximately

HK$5,000 on disposals of property and equipment for the year
ended 31 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group increased from
approximately HK$14.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 to approximately HK$17.7 million for the Year. This
increase was primarily attributable to (i) an increase in rent
and rates in connection with new retail store in Kowloon;
(i) an increase in depreciation mainly in respect of leasehold
improvements in the new retail store in Kowloon; and (iii) an
increase in salaries and allowances of the sales team.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group increased from
approximately HK$16.2 million for the year ended 31
March 2019 to approximately HK$17.2 million for the Year.
This increase was primarily attributable to an increase in
salaries and allowances in connection with the Directors and
administrative staff.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately 39.4% from
approximately HK$6.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 to approximately HK$8.5 million for the Year. This
increase was primarily attributable to the increase in the trust
receipt loans raised during the Year.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense of the Group decreased by approximately
66.2% from approximately HK$8.4 million for the year ended
31 March 2019 to approximately HK$2.8 million for the
Year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease of
estimated assessable profit for the Year compared against the
year ended 31 March 2019.

Profit and Total Comprehensive Income for the Year
attributable to owners of the Company

For the reasons mentioned above, profit and the total
comprehensive income attributable to the owners of the
Company for the Year amounted to approximately HK$11.9
million (2019: approximately HK$32.8 million).

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to the shareholders of the Company for the Year
(2019: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEFWE S

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year, the Group’s operation and capital requirements
were financed principally through a combination of cash flow
generated from the operating activities and bank borrowings.
As at 31 March 2019 and 2020, the Group had net current
assets of approximately HK$178.1 million and approximately
HK$187.0 million, respectively, including bank balances and
cash of approximately HK$45.8 million and approximately
HK$2.4 million respectively. The Group's current ratio (current
assets divided by current liabilities) remained steadily at 2.1 and
1.8 as at 31 March 2019 and 2020, respectively.

Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings
(including amount due to a related company, bank borrowings
and lease liabilities (2019: including amount due to a related
company, bank borrowings and obligations under finance
leases)) by total equity as at the end of the year. The Group’s
gearing ratio were approximately 76.4% and approximately
109.7% as at 31 March 2019 and 2020, respectively.

Details of bank borrowings of the Group are set out in note 24
to the consolidated financial statements.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts prudent treasury policies. The Group’s
management performs an ongoing credit evaluation of the
financial conditions of the customers in order to reduce the
Group’s exposure of credit risk. In addition to these ongoing
credit evaluations, the Board closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its
funding requirements.

CHARGES OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s obligations under finance
leases with carrying amount of approximately HK$303,000
were secured by certain motor vehicles with net book value of
HK$327,000.

COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments are primarily related to
the purchase of computer equipment and amounted to
approximately HK$0.6 million and approximately HK$0.1
million as at 31 March 2019 and 2020, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no changes in the capital structure of the
Group during the Year. The share capital of the Company only
comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company had 400,000,000 Shares
in issue.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 March 2020, there was no significant investments
held by the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR JOINT
VENTURES

As at 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this report, the
Group did not have any acquisition or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as those disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 29 December 2017 (the “Prospectus”), the Group
currently has no other plan for material investments and
capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Company provided
corporate guarantee to a bank (the “Guarantee”) in respect
of entire banking facilities granted to Success Dragon
International Industrial Limited (“Success Dragon”) in addition
to the personal guarantees provided by Ms. Wong Chi Lou
Shirley (“Ms. Shirley Wong”), Ms. Yeung Chi Hung, Mr. Ting
Chi Wai Roy (“Mr. Roy Ting”) and the properties owned by
Success Dragon. The banking facilities are only available to
Success Dragon. As at 31 March 2020, the outstanding loan
balance of Success Dragon was amounted to HK$13,015,000
(2019: HK$13,794,000). The Guarantee has been released in
May 2020.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have material
contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEFWE S

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is subject to relatively larger exposure to foreign
currency risk as the Group had foreign currency denominated
trust receipt loans for the settlement of the wine product
purchases from suppliers outside of Hong Kong. The Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk may affect the results of
operations and financial position.

The Group recognises the importance of managing the foreign
currency exchange risk exposure. To this end, the Group has
ceased holding any pledged bank deposits in foreign currencies
since October 2016.

The finance and accounts team of the Group is in charge
of implementing the internal control measures on foreign
currency risk. This team monitors the exposure to foreign
currency risk with reference to, among other things, (i) the
monthly and annual cash flow forecasts; (ii) historical cash
flows; (iii) actual receivables; (iv) sales orders; (v) payables; (vi)
purchase orders; and (vii) the potential hedging plans.

In respect of the purchases denominated in foreign currencies,
the Group manages the associated foreign currency exchange
risk exposure by closely monitoring the movement of foreign
currency exchange rates and performing regular reviews of
the net foreign exchange exposure. The Group has established
a tracking and reporting system which records the latest
exchange rate fluctuation information to enable the Group to
effectively monitor the exposure to exchange rate risks and
adjust the procurement strategy accordingly. For example,
if there is an appreciation in EUR, the Group may choose to
procure French red wine products from suppliers in the United
Kingdom or Switzerland instead of France to minimise the
foreign currency risk exposure. The Group does not currently
have a foreign currency hedging policy. In the event of any
change in circumstances leading the Group to believe that the
exposure to foreign currency risk has heightened, the Group
will, upon approval by the Company’s investment management
committee, implement necessary measures and policies
to manage such risk, for example by entering into foreign
currency hedging transactions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The total number of employees were 47 and 45 as at 31
March 2019 and 2020, respectively. The Group’s standard
remuneration package includes base salary, discretionary
bonus, medical insurance and contributions to retirement
schemes. For the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, the
Group's total employee benefit expenses (including Directors’
emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$9.6 million and
approximately HK$13.1 million, respectively.

Remuneration package is determined in light of the
employees’ qualification, position and seniority. To ensure
the remuneration package remains competitive, the Group
conducts annual assessment on each employee’s remuneration
package.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognizes the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and that the risks of non-compliance
with such requirements. To the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief, and having made all
reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations in Hong Kong in all material respects
during the Year.

The Group also complies with the requirements under the GEM
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO") for the disclosure
of information and corporate governance.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognizes its responsibility to protect the
environment from its business activities. The Group continually
seeks to identify and manage environmental impacts
attributable to its operational activities in order to minimize
these impacts if possible.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets
of the Group and the Group strictly complies with the labour
laws and regulations in Hong Kong and regularly reviews the
existing staff benefits for improvement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEFWE S

The Group provides good quality services to the customers and
maintains a good relationship with them. The Group is able to
establish trusting and long-standing business relationship with
the major customers.

The Group also maintains effective communication and
develops long-term and stable relationship with the suppliers.

During the Year, there was no material dispute or
disagreement between the Group and its customers or its
suppliers.

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS
The following sets out a comparison of the business strategies

as stated in the Prospectus with the Group’s actual business
progress for the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

Business strategies as
stated in the Prospectus

Actual business progress up to
the date of this annual report

Strengthen the warehouse
storage capability

The Group had identified a
property to be acquired to serve
as its warehouse. However,
due to the rising price of such
targeted property, the Board
considered that the acquisition
price is overpriced and it would
not be cost effective nor in the
best interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a
whole should the Company
insisted to pursue the original
implementation plan within
the timeframe as set out in
the Prospectus in applying the
net proceeds in this respect.
Accordingly, the Group is still
in the course of identifying
a suitable property within a
reasonable price range and thus
will delay the utilisation of the
net proceeds in strengthening
the warehouse storage capability
t0 2020.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

AEESBERHEBERY LTRSS
FRROBER AEEREFBZETREIEE
REMBEERRE-

AEETRAHEREREREBRERE
HRBERE-

RARFEER NEEEATFEMS
WHEB A A ) o

ﬁ

[

b B R S TS AR B S R G

AT EINARFARBERNFHRBHTIER
BERERENEBRRENEEEREGE
RZHl®e

TERARERN AEEEREGER
EE
HRRERTFE AKECYWESTHR
BOMEEL/ER
AT AR B
EYERMER LK
EFEER/UEES
EREORNNZIS5 217
B ER PR &
NHITRET BB A
BHRRFERE B IE
EERARE - BT
SE=RAVNCII T Ed
Rl E) RS- N
RE R EBRMEE
ek Hit AEE
DEDEEREEN
EEYE  BURIEE
BT FURFREIA
MERERFENE

—EFF



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREHWRE S Hh

Business strategies as Actual business progress up to FIERBERERN AEEETRERKER
stated in the Prospectus the date of this annual report Epe s i

Expand the retail network The Group has identified a SRUHTEENE ~AEEBEWEFEED

in Hong Kong through suitable premises and has BEREENZTE X IR_Z—-N\F

the establishment of a entered into a tenancy Ehes — R HEE W

new retail store and a agreement in January 2018 to MEZMEEREN

new flagship store lease such premises to serve as BENMZEER -ZTE
its new retail store in Kowloon. EER-_Z—NFEK
Such retail store has been E X

opened at the end of 2018.

USE OF PROCEEDS FF 8 2008 Al g

The Shares have been successfully listed on the Stock BHherR—E—N\F—A+=-_B ([ LTH
Exchange on 12 January 2018 (the “Listing Date”). The actual By )R IhFEB SR P 70 o &8 Bk =T AR 8
net proceeds from the listing of the Shares on GEM (the X% BRMOVGEMLE™T ([ EW])
“Listing”), after deducting commission in connection with the ERRMERIEEEANA2BEEBET ([
Listing, were approximately HK$64.2 million (the “Actual Net PRATEHIEFERE]) c TRIFIEEAFEE
Proceeds”). The table below sets out an adjusted allocation REBRFEREBEIFEEHEZSIRLERHA
and the actual use of the Actual Net Proceeds up to the end of e

the Year.
Actual use of
Business strategies as set out in the The Actual the Actual Net
Prospectus Net Proceeds Proceeds
up to the end
of the Year
HK$ HK$
HE
TEFEER
BB
BB IR
HEREBRERHEBHRR REFHE BEMAR
BT BT
Strengthen the warehouse storage EmeERFEE
capability 38.9 million B & Nil %
Expand the retail network in Hong BT EE RIEEE
Kong through the establishment NERREBNTERHL
of a new retail store and a new
flagship store 23.3 million B& 21.2 million B8
General working capital —BIIEER 2.0 million B& 2.0 million &8

64.2 million A& 23.2 million B &
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEFWE S

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Shares were successfully listed on GEM on the Listing
Date. The Board considers that such public listing status on
the Stock Exchange is beneficial to the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole as the listing status on the Stock
Exchange is a complementary way of advertising the Group
which reinforces the corporate profile and market recognition.
In addition, the creditworthiness will be enhanced from the
suppliers’ perspective, which may in turn allow the Group to
have greater bargaining power over negotiations to bargain for
longer trade and credit terms. It also enables the Group to gain
direct access to the capital market to raise funds for future
expansion.

The Group has leased new warehouse in Kwai Chung, in order
to increase the Group's storage capacity, while continue to
identify a suitable property to be acquired as its self-owned
warehouse. The Group also has opened its retail store in Tsim
Sha Tsui in December 2018. Since the outbreak of the novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic (the “COVID-19 Outbreak”)
in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control measures
have been and continued to be implemented across Hong
Kong and other countries in the world. The Board expects
that the global economy and retail environment remain
uncertain and full of challenges. The Group has been closely
monitoring the development of the COVID-19 Outbreak and
will take prudent approach and adjust its business strategies
to face the challenges when appropriate. The Group will also
continue to evaluate the impact of the COVID-19 Outbreak on
its financial position and operating results from time to time.
In considering the establishment of the third retail shop, the
Group will further take into account the retail environment,
location, retail expenses and other factors.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFAEREEREEERS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley (£ Z# Z t), aged 38, was
appointed as executive Director and chief executive officer
of the Company on 22 September 2016. She is one of the
founding members of the Group since its establishment in
March 2008. Ms. Shirley Wong is also one of the controlling
shareholders of the Company. Ms. Shirley Wong is primarily
responsible for the overall management, strategic development
and major business decision-making of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shirley Wong worked for
ABN-AMRO Bank N.V., Hong Kong, as a consumer banking
management trainee in 2005 where she was primarily
responsible for daily operation in the consumer banking
department. Ms. Shirley Wong has been a director as well
as one of the shareholders of Dynasty International Group
Holdings Limited, a company engaging in trading of premium
gifts, since 2006 where she was primarily responsible for
operation, management and strategic planning of the
business.

Ms. Shirley Wong obtained her bachelor’s degree of science
in economics in June 2003 and her master’s degree of science
in economics and econometrics in January 2005 from the
University of Bristol in the United Kingdom.

Ms. Shirley Wong is the spouse of Mr. Ting Chi Wai Roy and
daughter of Ms. Yeung Chi Hung.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESERSREHEREREFT

Mr. Chan Sze Tung (FR&# % %), aged 32, joined the
Group in June 2012 as sales and marketing assistant where
he was primarily responsible for advising customers on
products selection and performing daily administrative tasks
of the sales and marketing department. He was transferred
to the operations department in April 2013 as an operation
officer and was primarily responsible for managing the
Group’s logistics and warehousing and providing support
to operational issues and compiling records and reports
for various departments. He was promoted as an assistant
operation manager in April 2014 and further promoted as
the operation manager in April 2015 where he was primarily
responsible for operations management and strategic planning
and development of the Group’s business. He was further
promoted as a vice president of operations and administration
of the Group in April 2016. He was appointed as executive
Director and compliance officer of the Company pursuant
to Rule 5.19 of the GEM Listing Rules on 3 January 2017.
Mr. Chan has been taken a role as a vice president of Project
Development of the Group since April 2018 and is primarily
responsible for overseeing various projects aimed for future
development of the Group.

Mr. Chan is currently completing his master of Business
Administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
He obtained his bachelor of arts degree in marketing and
public relations from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2011. Mr. Chan also obtained an executive diploma in
negotiation from the Institute of Crisis and Risk Management
in December 2016 where he was awarded as a certified
strategic negotiator. Furthermore, he has been an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and member
of the Chartered Management Institute since April 2018.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Yeung Chi Hung (&4 % t), S.B.S., B.B.S.,, J.P, aged
69, was appointed as non-executive Director of the Company
on 3 January 2017. She also acts as the chairman of the Board
and chairman of the Company’s nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”). She is primarily responsible for
advising on the strategy, performance and resources. She is
a member of the Company’s remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFAEREEREEERS

Ms. Yeung founded Dynasty International Group Holdings
Limited, a company engaging in trading of premium gifts, in
November 2006 where she has been the director and general
manager since then and has been primarily responsible for
overseeing the corporate governance and internal control
of such company. She has been the director of Manikind
International Limited, a company engaging in investment
holding and provision of motor vehicle licences, since May
2005 where she is responsible for making major business
decisions and overall business strategies. Ms. Yeung is also
the director and chairman of Kai Yeung Jewellery Limited, a
company engaging in jewellery trading, being responsible for
making major business decision-making and overall business
strategies development since April 1993.

Ms. Yeung obtained a diploma in telecommunications from the
South China University of Technology in the PRC in 1975.

Ms. Yeung is an active participant in public and social services
and the table below sets forth her major engagements:

RZZFERE+—A BRIEWEGE
BEEERAR (—HREEERMES
ZAAE) Bt —EBEHhTEEERELHE
TBRAEEEZARZARE R NARE
E-B_ZThFRAR H—EHEER
EEBRERAR (—RREREERRIR
HAERBZAR) ZEE AETBER
REMEBEREHRE -8 NLNL=F0A
B BELETA-—EBELEEFAREEHAR
RE(—ARFRELEH AR 2EEHR
TFE BETIEEHRENEBREE KR
R

BEER—NWERAFETBEERET RS
HRSEME-

BREIBEHEZEAAREERE TR
DI 2R FEEE:

Position Associations/Organisations Service period

B e, A8 BR 7% & 58

Member National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political March 2013 to present
Consultative Conference

g8 TEARBAMEEREEEZE S —ET-=F=HAF%

Member Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan Affairs Committee March 2013 to present
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference

g8 TFEARBAMEERERABEESEREZR —ET-=F=HAFE%
ZEg

Representative and
committee member

D=

Chairman

EE

Vice Chairman &
Secretary General
BXERMER

All-China Women'’s Federation Association

TEZERLBAS

Hong Kong Girl Guides, Wong Tai Sin Dist
FEREERAIS®

Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organisations

BEBERLERS

August 1998 to October 2008

—AANFNAZE
—EENFTA

rict June 2010 to May 2016

—E-EFAAZ
—T-RFHA

July 2005 to July 2014

—ETERFLAZE
—E—FE+A

Ms. Yeung is the mother of Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley and the
mother-in-law of Mr. Roy Ting.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESERSREHEREREFT

Ms. Ho Tsz Wan ({1t #8 % +), aged 38, was appointed as
non-executive Director of the Company on 3 January 2017.
She is primarily responsible for advising on the Group’s
strategy, performance and resources. She is also a member
of the Company’s investment management committee (the
“Investment Management Committee”).

Ms. Ho was the director of Lee & Man Construction Holdings
Limited, a company engaging in the business of hotel
operation, being responsible for overseeing building design
and construction, budgeting, financial and accounting
since June 2007. From October 2007 to September 2012,
she worked for Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2314) that primarily engages in the business of
manufacturing materials for industrial packaging, as manager
where she was primarily responsible for overseeing renovation
and decoration works.

Ms. Ho obtained her bachelor of arts degree in communication
from the University of Southern California in the United States
in December 2003. She has been a director of Po Leung
Kuk since April 2013. She has been an executive committee
member of Yan Chai Happy Home Living Limited since
November 2011. She was a director of Yan Oi Tong from April
2010 to March 2011.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie M.H., JP (BREB & t), aged
51, was appointed as independent non-executive Director of
the Company on 13 June 2019. She is a member of each of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Ms.
Chan obtained her Bachelor degree in Laws and Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws from the University of Hong Kong in 1991
and 1992 respectively. She is the founder and senior partner
of CMK lawyers, a law firm in Hong Kong, and has over 25
years of experience in providing legal advices and services as a
solicitor in Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREEREEFR

Ms. Chan is an accredited mediator, a civil celebrant and
a china-appointed attesting officer in Hong Kong. She is
also the founding president of The Small and Medium Law
Firms Association of Hong Kong. Ms. Chan is an arbitrator
of each of Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration,
Qingdao Arbitration Commission and Shenzhen of Arbitration
Commission. She is also a mediator of Shenzhen Qianhai
Cooperation Zone People’s Court and a Specially invited
mediator of Guangzhou Court of the internet online dispute
resolution platform.

Ms. Chan has also undertaken various community positions
in Hong Kong including being a member of the Advisory
Committee on Legal Advice for Unrepresented Litigants of
Hong Kong. Ms. Chan was awarded the Medal of Honor in
2012 and Justice of the Peace in 2015 by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. She was also
conferred with Honorary Fellow by City University of Hong
Kong in 2013. Ms. Chan was appointed as a Hong Kong
Deputy to the National People’s Congress of the PRC (the 13th
session) in 2017 and an executive committee member of the
All-China Women's Federation Executive Committee in 2018.

Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald (BRE{=% %), aged 40, was
appointed as independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 18 December 2017. He is the chairman of the
Investment Management Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Chan founded Chartwell Capital Limited, an investment
management company, in October 2007 and is currently the
chief investment officer. He has been its responsible officer for
Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the SFO since November 2008 and
February 2008 respectively. He has been appointed by the
Stock Exchange to serve as a member of the Listing Committee
of the Main Board and GEM since July 2016.

Mr. Chan obtained his bachelor of science degree in finance
and accounting from the Stern School of Business at New York
University in the United States in May 2002.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESERSREHEREREFT

Mr. Wong Hin Wing (ZEH % % 4£), aged 57, was appointed
as independent non-executive Director of the Company on 18
December 2017. He is the chairman of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Investment Management
Committee.

Mr. Wong has 36 years of experience in accounting, finance,
investment management and advisory. Mr. Wong is the
Managing Partner and responsible officer of Hermitage Capital
HK Limited, which is a licensed corporation under the SFO and
primarily engaged in Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type
9 (asset management) regulated activities. Prior to this, he
worked with an international audit firm for four years and then
a listed company as chief financial officer for seven years. Mr.
Wong was the independent non-executive Director of China
Agri-Products Exchange Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0149) from
December 2016 to November 2018 and the independent
non-executive Director of AEON Credit Service (Asia) Co. Ltd.,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0900) from October 2004 to June 2020, he also
held directorships in the following listed companies:

Stock exchange(s)
being listed on

tHZREXSN

Company
NG|

EREARE ST R T —EF+ A
+)\E§%§Tfﬁ§%i;'5$ﬂf'f§$ mea
EENMAEFSREBILAE - RITAAK
NRIEZZBERTHEREE 2ER MU
iRt ZE8aMREEEZBgZKE-

mAEARE MK KRETENMERTE
BAFER - BLER/RNMEEARET LR
RABNEEEBARBHRAEAN BE
#&HﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂlﬁTZhH@/ﬁl TERE
FAR (REFREER) LFE (ZHE
F”‘:fi)xiﬁa/éib FESEZ A B —
FE PR AT EBEDSE - R TR —
MEmARHENBREEELF -FRE

RZE-—RFTAE=ZT—)\F+—A
EFHBEEERRSZBERAT  —BRER
FrER ETEY A E (RRD 55 - 0149) 9 7E

iilﬁﬂﬁ%%&ﬁ"_ggﬂiﬂ—ﬂf\ z
“EFRNAFAONEER B (M) BIR
NAE — AR ER EWE AR (B
3% : 0900) KB IFITE S - WIE N
Pl EmRRETERRA:

Period

5

Position

Bz

Dongjiang Environmental Company
Limited (A share stock code: 2672,
H share stock code: 0895)

RIRRBROAERLR (ARRM R
5% 2672 HAR AR 5% - 0895)

Shenzhen Stock Exchange and
Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

RYNEFR 5 7 KB R T EAR

CRCC High-Tech Equipment Main Board of the Stock

Corporation Limited (stock code: Exchange
1786)

PEEESMEBROERAF B S P R
(B 5% - 1786)
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Stock exchange(s)
Company being listed on

AT tHZREXSN

Position Period

B £

Guangzhou Baiyunshan
Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd.
(A share stock code: 600332, H
share stock code: 0874)

EMNBELBREEERONERRA LEEFR
(AR &2 5% - 600332 HR
R in 5% - 0874)

Shanghai Stock Exchange and
Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

2 P R B P E IR

Inner Mongolia Yitai Coal Co., Ltd.
(B share stock code: 900948,
H share stock code: 3948)
NEHFRERBRHERAF
(BRR AR X 5% - 900948 * HAR
R RS - 3948)

Shanghai Stock Exchange and
Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

LBEFZ S RBRZAMER

Jiangxi Bank Co Ltd (stock code: 1916) Main Board of the Stock

Exchange
TIRBITRNBERAR (B  BIAETR

1916)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ting Chi Wai Roy (T & B £ 4£), aged 39, is the Group's
senior vice president of public relations since January 2017.
He is one of the founders of the Group since its establishment
in March 2008. Mr. Roy Ting is also one of the Company’s
controlling shareholders. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the investor and public relations of the Group.

Mr. Roy Ting obtained his bachelor’s degree of business
administration in China business from the City University of
Hong Kong in November 2004.

Mr. Roy Ting is an active participant in public and social
services. He has been a standing committee member of
Zhuhai Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference since November 2011 and a committee member
of The Chinese General chamber of Commerce since January
2013. He has been a co-opted member of the External Affairs
Committee of the Board of Management of the Chinese
Permanent Cemeteries since June 2018. Besides, he was the
elected councillor of the Wong Tai Sin District Council from
January 2012 to December 2019.

Independent non-
executive director

June 2017 to present
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Mr. Roy Ting had been a director of Wine’s Link Limited, a
major subsidiary of the Company, since March 2008 and due
to his desire to devote more time on public and social services,
he resigned in January 2017. Since then, Mr. Roy Ting has
only taken up the role as senior vice president, responsible
mainly for public relations, and did not assume the role of a
director so as to focus on his public and social services in Hong
Kong. Besides, Mr. Ting was the non-executive director of KNT
Holdings, a Company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1025) from April 2018 to October
2019.

Mr. Roy Ting is the spouse of Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley and
son-in-law of Ms. Yeung Chi Hung.

Ms. Pang Sze Man (3% 28 & *), aged 35, joined the Group
in January 2017 as the Company Secretary and vice president
of finance and accounting. She is primarily responsible for
overseeing the corporate finance and account, daily operations
and administration and overall compliance matters of the
Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Pang worked in Ernst & Young
(Hong Kong), a professional accounting firm, with the last
position as manager from October 2009 to December 2016,
where she was primarily responsible for assurance and advisory
engagements, specialising in serving listed companies on the
Stock Exchange.

Ms. Pang obtained her bachelor of business administration
in accounting and finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in October 2009. She has been a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
September 2012.

Ms. Pang also obtained her master’s degree in corporate
governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
September 2019. She has been an associate member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the
Chartered Governance Institute since November 2019.

Ms. Pin Lam (T~#Z L), aged 39, joined the Group in January
2008 as accounting officer and is now the vice president of
procurement department of the Group. Ms. Pin is primarily
responsible for overseeing the procurement activities of the
Group.
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Ms. Pin obtained her bachelor's degree of arts in accounting
from the Edinburgh Napier University in January 2013.

Mr. Loong Koon Shuen (B @ %% 4£), aged 55, joined the
Group in September 2013 as business development manager
and is now the vice president of trade business development
of the Group. Mr. Loong is primarily responsible for developing
business strategies and overseeing sales and marketing
activities in relation to the wholesale business of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Loong worked for Hung
Lok Trading Limited, a company engaging in wine trading
business, as wine sales manager from February 2012 to August
2013, where he was primarily responsible for planning and
organising marketing and promotional activities. From August
2010 to October 2011, he worked for Golden Lyca China Co.,
Limited, a company engaging in import and export, trading
and sourcing of products including wines, as a wine specialist
where he was primarily responsible for developing marketing
plans and organizing marketing events.

Mr. Loong obtained the Wine & Spirit Education Trust level 3
advanced certificate in wines and spirits in the United Kingdom
in November 2009, and was awarded the Certified Specialist
of Wine of Society of Wine Educators in the United States
in November 2009. In addition, he completed the United
Kingdom accredited Whisky Ambassador programme of British
Institute of Innkeeping Awarding Body in July 2015 and
became a certified Whisky Ambassador since then.
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The Company’s corporate governance code is based on
the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code"”) as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company is committed to maintain high
standards of corporate governance to safeguard interest of
Shareholders and ensure a quality board and transparency and
accountability to Shareholders.

The Company complied with all code provisions in the CG
Code during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Board has reserved for its decision and consideration issues
in relation to (i) formulating the strategic objectives of the
Group; (ii) considering and deciding the Group’s significant
operational and financial matters, including but not limited
to substantial mergers and acquisitions and disposals; (iii)
overseeing the Group’s corporate governance practices; (iv)
ensuring a risk management control system in place; (v)
directing and monitoring senior management in pursuit of
the Group’s strategic objectives; and (vi) determining the
remuneration packages of all Directors and the Group’s senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments for loss or termination of their office
or appointment. Implementation and execution of Board
policies and strategies and the daily administrative matters
are delegated to the respective Board committees and the
management team of the Company.

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a
year and additional meetings will be held or resolutions in
writing signed by all Directors in lieu of a meeting will be
arranged as and when required. If a substantial shareholder
of the Company or a Director has a conflict of interest in
a transaction which the Board determines to be material,
it will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. Comprehensive information on
matters to be discussed at the Board meeting will be supplied
to the Directors in a timely manner to facilitate discussion and
decision-making.
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD EEG AKX

At the date of this report, the Board comprises two executive ~ RAMHEHH EESHMELATES
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent MEIENITEEN =B IERITESA
non-executive Directors, the name and office of each of the K ARFEZTENEELZESTLKE
members of the Board and the Board committees of the — ZHZNBEHIIWT :

Company are as follows:

Board members Office

EEEgRE BE

Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley Executive Director and Chief executive officer
FERBLL MITE S RITHAEE

Mr. Chan Sze Tung Executive Director

BR 55 4 9% 4 WMITES

Ms. Yeung Chi Hung s.8.s., B.B.S., J.P. Chairman and non-executive Director

B R4 t585,685,P FREFEBNTES

Ms. Ho Tsz Wan Non-executive Director

&8 2+ EHMITES

Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie m.H., J.P. Independent non-executive Director
BREHLZLtMmH, P BUERITES

Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald Independent non-executive Director

PREC A BUERITES

Mr. Wong Hin Wing Independent non-executive Director
mAEREE BUEMITES

Audit Committee members EREES

Mr. Wong Hin Wing (chairman) HEEEE (FF)
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald PRECKE

Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie M.+, /P PREELZLTMH, 1P
Remuneration Committee members FMEES

Mr. Wong Hin Wing (chairman) mAREE (FE)
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie M.H., /.p PREWELZ T MmH, 1P
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung s&:s, BB, /P B EA L L 5BSBBS,IP
Nomination Committee members REZES

Ms. Yeung Chi Hung s..s, 8.8.5, J.p (chairman) BEA L Eses88s,p (EE)
Mr. Wong Hin Wing EE ks

Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald PRE(C A
Investment Management Committee members REEREZESY
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald (chairman) MECEE (EE)
Mr. Wong Hin Wing ek

Ms. Ho Tsz Wan fAIiEE L+
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Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years,
commencing from the Listing Date (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service
contract).

Each of the non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years, commencing from the Listing Date (subject to
termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in the
relevant letter of appointment).

Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald and Mr. Wong Hin Wing, the
independent non-executive Directors, have signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years, commencing from the Listing Date (subject to
termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in the
relevant letter of appointment). Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie has
signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years from 13 June 2019 to 12 June 2022.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”).

The Board composition is regularly reviewed to ensure that
it has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirement of the business of the Group. A balanced
composition of executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors is maintained
to ensure independence and effective management. The
Company has satisfied the relevant provision of the GEM
Listing Rules in having at least one of the independent non-
executive Directors with appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. Save
as disclosed under the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management”, there is no relationship
among the members of the Board.

The appointment of Directors is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and
approved by the Board based on a formal written procedure
and policy for the appointment of new Directors. When
selecting potential candidates for the Directors, their skills,
experience, expertise, devotion of time and non-conflicts of
interests are the key factors.

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board
directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant operational
matters of the Company.

The daily operation and management of the business of
the Group, among other matters, the implementation of
strategies, are delegated to the executive Directors and senior
management. They report periodically to the Board on their
work and business decisions.

All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters
proposed for inclusion in the agenda for regular meetings.
The chairman of the Board has delegated the responsibility
for drawing up the agenda for each Board meeting to
the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”).

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the chairman of
the Board seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues arising at the Board meetings and have received
adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

Notices of at least 14 days are given to the Directors for
regular meetings, while the Board papers are sent to the
Directors not less than three days before the intended date
of a Board or Board committee meeting. With respect to
other meetings, the Directors are given as much notice as is
reasonable and practicable in the circumstances. The Directors
can attend meetings in person or through other means of
electronic communication in accordance with the Articles.
The Company Secretary ensures that the procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are complied with. Minutes of
the Board meetings and meetings of the Board committees are
kept by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection
at any time on reasonable notice by any Director.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group
and are able to obtain independent professional advice
whenever they deem necessary. The Directors will be updated
with legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance
to the Directors in the discharge of their duties from time
to time. The Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee are provided with sufficient
resources to perform their duties.
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Minutes of Board meetings and of Board committee meetings
should record in sufficient detail the matters considered and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors
or dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors or members of the relevant Board
committees for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting.

Any material transaction, which involves a conflict of interests
between a substantial shareholder or a Director and the
Company, will be considered and dealt with by the Board
at a duly convened Board meeting with the presence of the
independent non-executive Directors. Directors are abstained
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Responsibilities

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors
act in good faith, with due diligence and care, and in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders. Their
responsibilities include (i) regular board meetings focusing
on business strategy, operational issues and financial
performance; (i) monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance
and reliability of internal and external reporting; (iii)
monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of
management, board members and shareholders, including
misuse of corporate assets and abuse in connected transaction;
and (iv) ensuing processes are in place to maintain the overall
integrity of the Company, including financial statements,
relationships with suppliers, customers and other stakeholders,
and compliance with all laws and ethics.

Director’s Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group and ensure that the consolidated financial statements
of the Group are accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the
timely publication of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. In preparing the accounts for the Year, the
Directors have, among other things:
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o selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently;

o approved adoption of all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards which are in conformity with the International
Financial Reporting Standards;

e the disclosure requirements under the Companies
Ordinance (chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong); and

o made judgments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and have prepared the accounts on the going
concern basis.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable
enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established set out in writing. Ms. Yeung
Chi Hung is the chairman of the Board and Ms. Wong Chi
Lou Shirley is the Chief Executive Officer. The Board chairman
provides leadership to the Board in terms of formulating
policies and strategies, and discharges those duties set out in
code provision A.2 of the CG Code.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also to enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
seven Directors. Three of the Directors are independent
non-executive Directors and independent of management,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised
by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of
professional background and skills.

Board Meetings and General Meetings

During the year ended 31 March 2020, four Board meeting
and one general meeting were held. Details of the Directors’
attendance records are set out as follows:

Name of Directors

BEAFHR B EE2hmtRESA
Ko =REEZRBIUFNTEERBILE
BE  AltREAIEZ RIS EEREF -

ThHEEXEESERRE I M E52Y

NBEZTIEREE-
ExggERkRRAE
BEZT-_TF-_A=t+—HLFE &
TTHREFEEAR - ABRRAE &

EFHEREHBEIET

No. of
general meeting
attended/held

No. of eligible
Board Meetings
Attended/held

HEBTEER HEBITRR
EEng EEZEeEc¥™A AREgZ#AH
Executive Directors HITEFE
Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley FEBZ LT 4/4 11
Mr. Chan Sze Tung BR &5 4R 52 A& 4/4 11
Non-Executive Directors FHITEF
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung SR AL T 3/4 11
Ms. Ho Tsz Wan A IEBA L 2/4 171
Independent non-executive Directors BIIHBITEF
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald PRE 4/4 171
Mr. Wong Hin Wing Bk 4/4 11
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie PREWL+ 3/4 11
The Board also held a Board meeting on 24 June 2020 to i%ﬁjj‘b‘/\ T-FEFRACZ —i—EEI?ﬁ%

approve the annual results of the Company to review and
consider, inter alias, the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2020, internal control
and risk management system and review certain corporate
governance matters for the Year in accordance with paragraph
D3 of the CG Code.

Delegation by the Board

The Board has established four committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Investment Management Committee.
Specific responsibilities of each committee are described
below. All committees have defined terms of reference which
are no less exacting than those set out in the CG Code.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 18 December 2017
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.29
of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C3 of the CG Code.
The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr.
Wong Hin Wing, Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald and Ms. Chan
Man Ki Maggie. The chairman of the Audit Committee is
Mr. Wong Hin Wing, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 5.08(1) and 5.28 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are
not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and removal of the external
auditor; (ii) reviewing the financial statements of the Group
and monitoring the integrity of such financial statements;
and (iii) overseeing the financial reporting system and internal
control procedures.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, four Audit Committee
meetings were held to review the quarterly, interim and annual
results of the Group, the financial reporting, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and
considering the re-election of auditor of the Company. The
Audit Committee also held a meeting on 24 June 2020
to review and consider, inter alias, the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020,
the internal control and risk management system of the Group
and the re-appointment of independent auditor of the Group.
There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of external
auditor.

Attendance records of each Audit Committee member are set
out below:

Name of Audit Committee member
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No. of eligible meetings
attended/held

EREEERERR HE BITEERERZEAE
Mr. Wong Hin Wing EEE e 4/4
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald PREC 4 4/4
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie PREEZ+ 3/4

The Company’'s financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee considered that the relevant financial
statements have been prepared in compliance with the
applicable accounting principles and requirements of the Stock
Exchange and disclosures have been fully made.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B1 of the CG
Code on 18 December 2017. The Remuneration Committee
comprises three members, namely, Mr. Wong Hin Wing, Ms.
Chan Man Ki Maggie and Mr. Yeung Chi Hung. The chairman
of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Wong Hin Wing.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
but are not limited to, the following: (i) evaluating the
performance of all Directors and senior management and
making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management; (i) making recommendations to the Board on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy; (iii) determining the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management and making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors; and
(iv) reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
from time to time.

A Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year
ended 31 March 2020 to review and approve the remuneration
of executive Directors. At a Remuneration Committee meeting
held on 24 June 2020, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management.

Attendance records of each Remuneration Committee member
are set out below:

Name of Remuneration Committee member

YHWEES
FrMEZEEeER - E—tF+-A+/\H
PR EBESEC BT EE A TRIBY
B-FMEEem=-—2KEEN BEER
KL REHLEIRGEALL -HME
BEeXRREBRRLE-

FHEZE T ERERKRETRRUATSE
RH:()HEzEEF ke REEEZRA
AR EBEZTNSNEREHHBER R
REAEFTSFEHER (DFRLIER R
BRRFARRFHBRRANESSHELE
& (NEEERTEERGREREZ
A ARRIEATESTHFHRNESS
tFHEZ RV2REXBEEREMN E
HEMHMEE RN BEE -

HE2 T2 ZF-A=+—HItFE &
T—RFHEZEESERE UESRITES
2EHEM - R T _TF,A -+ B FHH
ZEgg3t FNLZESENEZLS
MEBEZHN-

BEFMEESKE 2 HELHEHIIMT
No. of eligible meeting

attended/held
HE BTEAERSEZHE

FHWEEEREHE

Mr. Wong Hin Wing EEE e
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung BREAL T
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie PREWL+

Details of the directors’ remuneration and five highest paid
individuals for the Year as regarded to be disclosed pursuant
to the CG Code are provided in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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#REL

During the Year, the remuneration of the senior management RAFEHRE SREEB2HNRER
is listed below by band: o
Number of
individuals
AT ZEB
HK$ nil to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7t 4
Nomination Committee BEZEEE
The Nomination Committee was established with written terms Bzt Ege 2N _E—+F+-_A+ 1\ H

of reference in compliance with paragraph A5 of the CG Code
on 18 December 2017. The Nomination Committee comprises
three members, namely Ms. Yeung Chi Hung, Mr. Wong Hin
Wing and Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald. The chairman of the
Nomination Committee is Ms. Yeung Chi Hung.

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include,
but are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
and (iii) making recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors.

A Nomination Committee meeting was held during the Year
(i) to review and consider that the structure, size, diversity and
composition of the Board; (ii) assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; and (iii) recommended
the re-appointments of Directors. The Nomination Committee
has also reviewed the board diversity policy to ensure its
effectiveness and considered that the Group has achieved the
objectives of the board diversity during the Year.

Attendance records of each Nomination Committee member

are set out below:

Name of Nomination Committee member

REZEBEMEHSR
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No. of eligible meeting
attended/held
HE " BITEEREEZHE

Ms. Yeung Chi Hung S EAL T
Mr. Wong Hin Wing mAEREE
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald PRE(C A

1Al
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171
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The Nomination Committee will review the Board composition
by considering the benefits of all aspects of diversity, including
but not limited to those described under the heading of Board
Diversity Policy in this annual report. The Board Diversity
Policy shall be reviewed by the Nomination Committee, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee shall consider factors below when
it makes recommendation for appointment and reappointment,
inter alia:

a) mix of Board members that promotes diversity of
background and experience on the Board;

b) competency;
¢)  age of potential/existing Director;
d) independence of potential/existing Board member;

e)  business, technical, or specialised skills and experience of
member/potential member;

f)  ability, time, commitment and willingness of a new
member to serve and an existing member to continue
service;

g) specific value a member/potential member can add to the
Board;

Investment Management Committee

The Investment Management Committee was established with
written terms of reference in compliance on 18 December
2017. The Investment Management Committee comprises
three members, namely Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald, Mr.
Wong Hin Wing and Ms. Ho Tsz Wan. The chairman of the
Investment Management Committee is Mr. Chan Wai Yan
Ronald.

The primary functions of the Investment Management
Committee include, but are not limited to, the following: (i)
to oversee the Group’s investment activities; (ii) to conduct
periodical review of the Group's investments and report
to the Board; (iii) to set out the long-term and short-term
investment goals and (iv) to review and update the investment
management policy.

One Investment Management Committee meeting was held
during the Year to review the long-term and short-term
investment goals and the related foreign exchange policies and
risks.
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Attendance records of each Investment Management

#REL

BEREEEZBERBE ZHELEHT 10

Committee member are set out below: N

Name of Investment Management No. of eligible meeting
Committee member attended/held
REEBRZEGRER SR HE/BITRAEREEZHEE
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald PRE{C 4 1/1
Mr. Wong Hin Wing WAt 11
Ms. Ho Tsz Wan CINS =k dan 0/1
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS 1 EEIRTHEE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in paragraph D3 of the CG Code.
As mentioned under the paragraph headed “Board Meetings
and General Meetings” above, the Board has (i) reviewed
the Company’s practices on corporate governance for the
Year, (ii) reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management for the Year, (iii) reviewed and monitored the
Company’s practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements for the Year, (iv) reviewed and monitored the
code of conduct applicable to Directors for the Year; and (v)
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “required standard of
dealings”). In response to the specific enquiry made by the
Company of the Directors, all Directors have confirmed that
they had compiled with the required standard of dealings
throughout the Year.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
The Directors are continually updated with business and
market changes, and legal and regulatory developments to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities through various
Board meetings, resolutions, memoranda, Board papers, and
updates on corporate governance practices and director’s
responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules, applicable laws
and other relevant statutory requirements.
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Up to date of this annual report, the current Board members HEAFHMBE BENEESKED
participated in the following training programs: L AT EIFREE

Types of training

Reading
materials
updating on
Attending new rules and
Name of Directors training regulations
EINERE
BREFHRER
BEENA S BREIHEEM R
Executive Directors HITEF
Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley FEBZL v v
Mr. Chan Sze Tung PR 55 A 9% 4 v v/
Non-Executive Directors FHITESE
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung BEALZ L v v
Ms. Ho Tsz Wan fAIIEB 2+ v v/
Independent non-executive Directors B IF#7T&E F
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie PREMHL+ v v/
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald PRE{C LA 4 4
Mr. Wong Hin Wing mAREE 4 4
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE ESkEERRE

Appropriate insurance policies that cover on directors’ and ARFIEAEERSHAERBEESRX
officers’ liabilities have been in force to protect the directors B MREASEEERSRABEREE
and officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising EBMELEMNER  SEARFERAHBEE K
from the business of the Group and, as at the date of this NAEENREEESREERBRE -
annual report, the Directors and officers of the Company are REGSEERBERABEMESANERS
indemnified under a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance ~ {Fo A AREERIES E T T FFER -
against any liability incurred by them in discharge of their KERERETMBEERKEE-

duties while holding office as the Directors and officers of the

Company. The Directors and officers of the Company shall not

be indemnified where there is any fraud, breach of duty or

breach of trust proven against them.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Company Secretary of the Company is Ms. Pang Sze Man. She
is responsible for, among others, ensuring a good information
flow within the Board and between the Board and senior
management of the Company, providing advice to the Board
in relation to the Directors’ obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations and assisting the
Board in implementing the corporate governance practices.
Ms. Pang has attended not less than 15 hours of training as
required under Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules during the
Year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group on an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. There is currently no internal audit
function within the Group.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, will conduct
an annual review of both design and implementation
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, which covered all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls.
Such annual review will be done with a view to ensuring
that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions are adequate. In this
respect, the Audit Committee communicated any material
issues to the Board.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management
measures to enhance the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and to mitigate risks of the
Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings
and recommendations, as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems are effective and adequate.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Company has appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
the Auditor of the Group. For the Year, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu received HK1.1 million for audit services and HK$0.3
million for non-audit services in connection with the Group’s
Listing on the Stock Exchange. The reporting responsibilities
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu are set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Reports on pages 101 to 103 of this annual report.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditors during the Year.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with its
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and
time manner by the Board is to facilitate the shareholders as
well as the investors to have a better understanding of the
business performance, operations and strategies of the Group.
The Company’'s website at www.wines-link.com allows the
potential and existing investors as well as the public to get
access to and acquire the Company’s up-to-date corporate and
financial information.

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the
Company, such as telephone hotline, email address and postal
address, in order to enable them to make any query that they
may have with respect to the Company.

They can also send their enquiries to the Board through these
means. The contact details of the Company are provided in
this annual report, the “Corporate Information” section of this
annual report and the Company’s website.

The Board welcomes views of shareholders and encourages
them to attend general meetings to raise any concerns that
they may have with the Board or the management directly.
Board members and appropriate senior staff of the Group are
available at the meetings to answer any questions raised by
shareholders.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors,
for shareholders’ consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant
to article 12.3 of the Articles, the Directors may, whenever
they think fit, convene a general meeting, and general
meetings shall also be convened on such requisition, or in
default, may be convened by such requisitionists. If any time
there are not within Hong Kong sufficient Directors capable
of acting to form a quorum, any Director or any two or more
members of the Company representing at least 10% of the
total voting rights of all members having a right to vote at
general meetings, may convene a general meeting in the same
manner as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Directors.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company
or put forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. The
contact details are as follows:

Board of Directors

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited

Address 26th Floor, AIA Financial Centre,
712 Prince Edward Road East,

San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
2317 1100

2317 1032
general@wines-link.com

Telephone no.
Fax no.
Email address

To put forward proposals at an annual general meeting or a
general meeting, the shareholders shall submit a written notice
of those proposals with detailed contact information to the
Board/Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong and upon its confirmation that the
request is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask
the Board to include the proposed resolution in the agenda for
the general meeting.
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ERER

Moreover, the notice period concerning the notice to be given
to all the shareholders for consideration of the proposals
submitted by the shareholders concerned varies as follows
pursuant to article 12.4 of the Articles:

(@) for an annual general meeting, it shall be called by notice
in writing of at least twenty-one days; and

(b) for a general meeting other than an annual general
meeting, it shall be called by notice in writing of least
fourteen days,

shall be given in the manner mentioned in the articles of
association to all members, to the Directors and to the
Auditors.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong and provide their
full names, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the Year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is primarily
involved in the wholesale and retail businesses of a wide
spectrum of wine products and other alcoholic beverages in
Hong Kong with a focus on premium collectible red wine.

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the "ESG
Report”) summarises the environmental, social and governance
("ESG") initiatives, plans and performances of the Group and
demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

The ESG Governance Structure

The board of directors (the “Board”) oversees and sets out
ESG strategies for the Group. The Board is also responsible for
ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls through an annual assessment.

The Group has assigned personnel to systematically identify
and cater to ESG issues. The said personnel are responsible for
collecting and analysing relevant ESG data and identifying the
Group's ESG issues. In addition, the said personnel periodically
report to the Board for the evaluation and subsequent
implementation or revision of the Group's ESG strategies.

REPORTING SCOPE

The ESG Report covers the Group’s business activities in
Hong Kong where its business operation is located. The key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) gathered are shown in the
ESG Report and are supplemented by explanatory notes to
establish benchmarks.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
"ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Information relating to the Group's corporate governance
practices can be found in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 26 to 42 of the Annual Report 2020.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and
measures taken by the Group during the financial year ended
31 March 2020 (the “Year").

B ERELIEE

]
BHBERBERZEERBERAR (AR
ERIEM B AR S fﬂK%@J)I%?ﬁE%
REBHELTERBERZ 2ARBER
REMERERMER L EPRIBRAZE
AL

ARE - HekERHFE(BRE - LR
E/mﬁﬁiﬂﬁ%k$$@ﬁ'ﬁ&iﬁ HerE

A(RB g REREBZR FTERRX
iﬁ WERHEE A FEERA -

BE HERERARELEE
Exe([EEe | ) EEUHTEAEE IR
B HeREARK - EESNAEEAF
E.:Trfﬁﬁ@f%$%@ﬂ R B IR N A ERIE & 2
R o

AEBECDZIKAB R BRI M ARRRE
HekeaEE - LHMABREREESD
RS e MEABE YHREAE
BZRE HERERERE I LA
EeTHRESTeRE UFHAUBEERE
IEMER] R B 2 IRIR A M EIARES -

WEEE

RE HEMNEAMERELIEEEHLE
BFIEZEBZEB LY T E 25
AR ([BRARIER ) NIRRT 1
G NERRE W AR A s T IARE L
HE*E-

w®EER

R - HERERRETNBEBEEBHART
SHERAE ([BRFT]) GEMESR ET
A ﬁﬁ'ZOFﬁ%ZiRiR HehERREE
Sl (IRE - HERE/RMEES]HEE-

BRAAKECEERRRZENEN _F
—EFFRE20ZENEILEECRE -

HEHIR

REBE - H@REAREFILAEERER
ZECEF =A==+ —HLEMRFE ([
FENARE HEehEREBEEZ2EH -
PRB R FTERER 2 Fa B

RBBXERZERERAT —B-ZFFRH

43



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORT
BR dEREIHE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

To further the Group's sustainable development efforts, the
Group engages its key stakeholders to identify sustainability
topics and potential risks by way of engagement sessions
including routine meetings and annual general meeting. Key
stakeholders include but are not limited to, shareholders and
investors, senior management and employees, customers,
suppliers, media and the public and government and other

regulatory authorities.

Stakeholders’ expectations have been taken into consideration
by utilising diversified engagement methods and
communication channels as shown below:

Stakeholders
BE0E

Communication Channel

BERE

*‘J"fﬁ% //\

RMAAEB Z IRHBERERA AEH
HEZHNHEBR NWEBL2ESR (B
1J EifﬁthXEEPk§§)ﬁEXE_TF%é\§§E§HE

BHERAR -ZFEERNERRETRR
k%&&é% SREREEKRER P
HER REMARANBFREMEE
s -

AEBEFEBEMBATMZ TL2E AR
BBEEEREFMNERE:

Expectations

e

Shareholders and investors

BREREE

Senior Management and

Employees briefing
o Email and suggestion boxes
o Regular general meetings

SRERERES o  BINEH - Y RE®R
e THEHKERM
e TEHREXE

Customers e Visits to retail shops
o Customer service hotline and

email
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e General meeting and other
shareholder meetings

e Annual, quarterly and interim

reports

. Announcements and circulars

o Company website

e REASKEMERE:
s HFE -FERTHES
o  REREK

o DAL

. Training activities, seminars, and

Sustainable profitability
o Shareholder return
Corporate governance
o Business compliance

o TAIFERMNEEN

o ERME
e BXFEA
o EBEM

o Remuneration and benefits
o Safe working environment
o Career development

o FHEHKAEF
o  LTEMI{FIRIE
o  EEUR

o Knowledgeable wine suggestions
from sommelier

o Customer satisfaction

o High-quality services

e HBMREHNBIEEEES

s EPWmEE

e BERB
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Stakeholders Communication Channel

B ERELIEE

Expectations

BHE BERE e
Suppliers o Site visits ° Fair and open procurement
o Business meetings and discussion e On-time payment
o Sustainable relationship
e e EiMhZ2E e RTRAFKE
o EBAHK o RENXK
o ARERAR
Media and the public o ESG Report o Transparent ESG issues and
o Company website financial disclosure
o Reports and announcements o Legal compliance
o Corporate governance
HEMAR s RE HENEARME s RE HENERFENMBHE
J N E A8k %A
s WEKRE o ARER
e DBXEEAR
Government and other e Written or electronic o Compliance with local laws and

regulatory authorities correspondences

o Visits and inspections
EERXEFBE

o Z2EIRE

BT Re E A 85 AR

The Group endeavours to actively listen to and collaborate
with its stakeholders to ensure that their opinions can be
voiced out through an effective communication channel.
In the long run, the stakeholders’ contribution will aid the
Group in identifying and improving potentially overlooked
ESG performances and maintaining the success of the Group’s
business in the challenging market.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Board and management responsible for key functions
of the Group have participated in the preparation of the
ESG Report. They have assisted the Group in reviewing
its operations, identified key ESG issues and assessed its
importance to its businesses and stakeholders. In alignment
with the Group’s vision on sustainability, business will continue
to be operated with high ethical standards and provide
sustainable returns to stakeholders.

regulations
o Stability in business operations
o ESTTEMIEERER
e XBLERT
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Summary of the Group’s material ESG issues according to its
relative importance:

Least material Material
BRXE BE

REBEEEHEERE D 2 AKEE KRR
B HEREAREFEME:

Most material

RER

Water Consumption Waste Management

Indoor Air Quality
Energy Consumption
Occupational Health and Safety
Management

KRR

TREREE

BEEMER
BEREHRD
RETRIE
BEEFERZEEE

During the Year, the Group confirmed that it has established
appropriate and effective management policies and internal
control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the
disclosed contents were in compliance with the requirements
of the ESG Reporting Guide.

CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions
and suggestions. You can provide valuable advice in respect
of the ESG Report or the Group's performances in sustainable
development by emailing to: general@wines-link.com.

THE GROUP’S COMMITMENT ON ESG ISSUES

The Group places great emphasis on incorporating sustainable
business practices into its daily operations. In achieving a
sustainable long-term growth, the Group recognises the
importance of taking into account stakeholders’ opinions as
they are an integral part of the Group. Moreover, they aid
the Group in identifying overlooked ESG issues from different
perspectives.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emissions

Recruitment, Diversity and Equal
Opportunities

Provision of Training Opportunities
Quality Control

Customer Satisfaction

Data Privacy Protection
Community Investment
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The Group upholds the people-oriented principle; it
appreciates and recognises the contribution of its employees.
In return, the Group protects its employees by being adamant
about providing a non-discriminatory workplace culture and
competitive remuneration packages. The Group organises
regular wine tasting workshops and gathering events to its
employees and their family members.

The Group also aims to contribute to harmonious society,
works hand in hand with employees and non-governmental
organisation (“NGQO") to participate in various community
services and donation. With these contributions, the Group
was again awarded the Caring Company Award in 2019/2020
and the Partner Employer Award 2019 during the Year.

As one of the largest wine companies in Hong Kong, the
Group's leadership position obliges it to shoulder great
responsibility to assist in constructing a more sustainable future
for its stakeholders and society. The Group pledges to make
consistent effort in strengthening its ESG missions in order to
create an everlasting value to the environment and society.

Rapid Response to COVID-19 Outbreak

Due to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group remains highly
vigilant to the potential impact of health and safety on both its
employees and customers. The Group has issued memorandum
to its employees at the warehouse and its retail shops to
remind them of the importance of maintaining personal
hygiene and conducting additional sanitation procedures to
the warehouse, retail shops and its alcoholic products and
accessories. For its employees, the Group required that their
temperature be taken before entering the Group's premises,
they were also required to wear a facial mask at all times. For
customers visiting the retail shops, the Group has imposed
measures to avoid the spreading of COVID-19, patrons were
required to wear a facial mask before entering the store and
hand sanitiser was provided by the entrance of the retail
shops. Wine-tasting activities were also postponed until further
notice to avoid public gatherings.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1.

Emissions
General Disclosure and KPIs

Environmental protection and sustainable
development rely on concerted and continuous
efforts from all industries and society. In addition to
ensuring the compliance of laws and regulations of
Hong Kong, the Group is committed to minimising
adverse environmental impacts by improving
existing policies and incorporating green practices in
its daily operations.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste that would have a significant
impact on the Group including but not limited to,
Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Water Pollution
Control Ordinance and Waste Disposal Ordinance of
Hong Kong.

Air Emissions

Due to the Group’s business nature, air emissions
were not considered as a material ESG aspect.
Air emissions were mostly generated by the use
of company vehicles. Measures on controlling air
emissions will be provided in the following section —
“GHG Emissions”.

GHG Emissions

The principal GHG emissions of the Group were
generated from petrol and diesel consumption by
vehicles (Scope 1), purchased electricity (Scope 2)
and electricity used for processing fresh water and
sewage by government departments, paper waste
disposal at landfills and business air travel (Scope 3).
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Scope 1 — Direct GHG Emissions

The Group has adopted the following measures
to mitigate direct GHG emissions from petrol and
diesel consumption by vehicles in its operations:

o Plan routes ahead of time to avoid route
repetition and optimise fuel consumption;

o Regularly service vehicles to ensure optimal
engine performance and fuel use;

° Switch off the vehicle engine when not in use;
and

o Utilise public transportation instead of the
Group’s vehicles for business commute.

Scope 2 — Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity consumption accounted for the largest
percentage of GHG emissions within the Group. The
Group has implemented measures to reduce energy
consumption; said measures will be mentioned in
“Aspect A2 — Use of Resources”.

Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity used for processing fresh water and
sewage by government departments, office paper
waste disposal and business air travel attributed
to the category of other indirect GHG emissions.
Noting that air travels generate a large amount
of GHG emissions, the Group only utilises air
travels when deemed necessary. Tele-conferences
and web conferences are the Group’s preferred
communication channel. Measures implemented
to reduce paper waste disposal can be found in
“Aspect A2 — Use of Resources”.

Total GHG emissions decreased by approximately
0.69% from approximately 266.71 tCO,e for
the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately
264.87 tCO,e for the Year. The decrease signifies
that the implementation of the various measures
implemented by the Group was effective in
increasing the performance and employees’
awareness.
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Summary of GHG emissions performances:

BERBHFNRRME

For the year

For the year

ended ended
Indicators’ Unit 31 March 2020 31 March 2019
BE-ZT-2F HE_ZTNF
=B=+-—H =A=+—H
EE1 B LEFE IFFE
Scope 1 — Direct GHG Emissions
HE 1 -—BEEAERBYMN
o Petrol and diesel consumption tCO,e? 27.92 23.29
o JUMNMERIBER WE — SR E 22
° Town gas consumption tCO,e - 21.99
e  RREHFM WE—SfriRE &
Scope 2 — Indirect GHG Emissions
52— R = RN
° Purchased electricity tCO,e 230.60 211.31
o BESE WE—SrixE &
o Purchased town gas tCO,e - 4.86
e BEHESR W —SfLiRE &
Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions
3 - HtMERERBYMW
o Paper waste disposal tCO,e 2.13 2.40°
o EEMEIE WE—fLiRE &
o Business air travel tCO,e 4.10 2.86
o EBRITIKE WE— iR E &
o Electricity used for processing fresh ~ tCO,e 0.12 N/A 38 A
water and sewage by government
departments
o  BUNEMPIEREBAKKSKEANEN M _AtLHES
Total GHG Emissions tCO.e 264.87 266.71
BEREBHEHRAE WMo_gtBEE
Total GHG Emissions Intensity* tCO,e/HK$ 0.95 0.80
million
revenue
BERBHHEAERE W —E®RE
B BBk
(#&7T)
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Note:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited
to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued
by the World Resources Institute and the World
Business Council for Sustainable Development,
“How to prepare an ESG report — Appendix II:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued
by the Stock Exchange, the “Global Warming
Potential Values” from the IPCC Fifth Assessment
Report, 2015 (AR5), the Sustainability Report 2019
published by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited,
the HK Electric Investments Sustainability Report
2019 published by the HK Electric, Annual Report
2018/2019 published by the Water Supplies
Department of Hong Kong and the Sustainability
Report 2018/2019 published by the Drainage
Services Department of Hong Kong.

2. tC0O,e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent.

3. Figure in tCO,e was not available in the year ended
31 March 2019, this figure was calculated using the
same calculation method as that of the year ended
31 March 2020.

4. During the Year, the Group recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$279.4 million. For the year
ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s revenue was
approximately HK$335.1 million. This data is used
for calculating other intensity data.

Sewage Discharges into Water and Land

Due to the Group’s business nature, the discharges
into land were insignificant. Similarly, discharges
into water were insignificant; sewage discharge was
covered by the water bill.

Waste Management
Hazardous Waste Management

Due to the Group's business nature, no material
hazardous waste was generated by the Group
during the Year.
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Non-hazardous Waste Management

Non-hazardous waste disposed of by the Group
was mainly office paper. The Group contracted
Secure Information Disposal Services Limited, a
licenced recycling company, to recycle non-reusable
waste paper and confidential documents on a
regular basis. Commercial wastes from the office,
warehouse and retail shops were mainly collected
by the respective building management, the data
of such disposal was therefore not available. For
other unavoidable disposals, wastes were classified
and arrangements were made with government-
qualified recyclers for proper disposal. Overall, the
Group did not note a disproportional amount of
waste generated.

The Group places great effort in raising the
awareness of its employees on the importance
of reducing waste production. The Group has
developed the Policy on Environment Performance
to better govern the use of resources and
has included the following environmentally
friendly initiatives to enhance its environmental
performance.

Green measures include but are not limited to the
following:

o Reduce the use of single-use disposable items;

o Reuse income packaging materials from
suppliers;

o Recycle office and electronic equipment after
their life cycle;

o Reuse single-sided waste paper where
possible;

o Print electronic correspondences only when
necessary; and

o Procure office paper with Forest Stewardship
Council Recycled Label.

Total non-hazardous waste disposed decreased
by approximately 10.0% from approximately
0.50 tonnes for the year ended 31 March 2019
to approximately 0.45 tonnes for the Year. The
decrease signifies that the implementation of the
aforementioned waste management measures
was effective in increasing the performance and
employees’ awareness.
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A2.

Summary of major non-hazardous waste disposal TEREERYEERAME:
performance:
For the year ended For the year ended
Indicators Unit 31 March 2020 31 March 2019
BE-T-hE
BE-Z-FF =A=+—H
BE B ZAR=+—HLEE IFFE
Generated Recycled Net Disposal
BEXE =] Y F IR
Office paper® Tonnes 0.49 0.04 0.50
/NS E U
Total non-hazardous Tonnes 0.45 0.50
waste disposed
FEEEERZYNHEE M
Intensity Tonnes/HK$ 0.0016 0.0015
million revenue
RnE =R A
(#7T)
Note: K&t -

5. Approximately 93,500 sheets of A4 paper and
2,000 sheets of A3 paper were consumed, of which
approximately 42.0 kg was recycled by a contracted
third party during the Year.

Use of Resources
General Disclosure and KPIs

The Group takes the initiative to introduce green
measures to reduce the environmental impact
arising from its business operations. Measures on
reducing general waste and office paper waste
production have been mentioned in the preceding
“Waste Management” section.

Energy Consumption

The Group realises the scarcity of finite natural
resources and has therefore implemented policies
to better govern the use of resources. Recognising
that the majority of the electricity consumed was
due to the 24-hour climate-control showroom bar
and wine storage, the Group places great effort in
procuring energy efficient wine cellars and cabinets,
and would regularly inspect the seal to ensure that
it remains airtight to avoid jeopardising the quality
of wine and energy wastage.

A2,

5. RAFEEFEHRH#93,5005k
A44R F22,0005R A34E - H A 4
ROTFTHREBEFNE=H[M
qyo

BERER
—REERAREARER
AR B L B HE K IRORIE 5E - DARR
DEXBHEBHRTNTE R
D—REEEY) MR EE R
e SR AT [EEYEE] —
g o

BEIR 5 €
AEEEHBNERBEAERE
Z AU ERBRARFE
BEIRER - RRERBATEFENE
KEDE R AR24NERIR
2 R 7 =B 0E N B B A R P
Hig AEBEXRBHEEE
N EHE - 3055 TE B R IA R
REZHE M REEE 5
B mE SOERREROR R ©
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In addition, the Group strives to further reduce
energy consumption by adopting the following
energy-saving measures:

o Switch on external lighting of the retail shop
only during operation hours;

o Pre-set air-conditioning temperature at the
offices;

o Post eye-catching reminders near lights
switches and electrical appliances as a
reminder to employees;

o Switch off all idle electrical appliances and
unnecessary lightings upon leaving the
premises; and

o Purchase equipment with higher energy
efficiency on the replacement of old
equipment.

Anomaly in electricity consumption will be
investigated and preventive measures will be
taken. Total energy consumption decreased
by approximately 7.7% from approximately
606,109.00kWh, for the year ended 31 March
2019 to approximately 559,633.40kWh for the
Year. The decrease signifies that the implementation
of the aforementioned energy-saving measures
was effective in increasing the performance and
employee’s awareness of energy conservation.

Summary of energy consumption performances:

SESh - ARER BB E B A AR RE
FaEE — ZR D RERRFE :

e EREENBAMBTE
J& BN R AR EA

o  ERMA

HH}

o

O]
G

7o
i

B

o NIRAHENERREN
dToRBLIREE - DAIRERE B

o REERGMAE BWHMA
BEERNE ML RENR:

&

$¢Iﬂﬂ.ﬂ€ﬁﬁﬁﬁ% jﬁ%EX

EUREY

ch/ \/ﬁ%%EE@Z

%—ﬂi_H_Jr BIHEEL
606,109.00F FL B8 D 497.7%
EARFEH559,633.40T FLAF o
HRADRERERE s %ﬁ@ﬁ
IR BN FN R B ENBE Bk

BERBRRIAME

For the year
ended 31 March

For the year
ended 31 March

Indicators Unit 2020 2019
BE-ZT-2F HE_ZTNF
=BA=+—H —A=+—H
B B LFE IEFE
Petrol® kWh 69,574.36 36,185.00
ks F R
Diesel® kWh 34,865.04 46,811.00
56550 TRE
Electricity kWh 455,194.00 408,260.00
E7 FRE
Town Gas kWh - 114,853.00
HR TR
Total energy consumption kWh 559,633.40 606,109.00
BERAEE F R
Total energy consumption intensity kWh/HK$ million 2,002.98 1,808.74
revenue
RRREXERE TR B8KRE
(#7T)
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Note:

5. Actual petrol consumption was approximately
3,257.43 litres.

6.  Actual diesel consumption was approximately
7,179.01 litres.

Water Consumption

The Group recognises the importance of
water conservation. Apart from posting water
conservation reminders around the Group’s
premises, the Group also regularly inspects water
taps to prevent leakage and installs dual flush water
cistern in toilets and water-saving thimble in sinks
where possible. Through the implementation of said
water-saving measures, employees’ awareness of
water conservation has increased.

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group did
not encounter any problem in sourcing water that

was fit for purpose.

Summary of water consumption performance:

R -HEREARE

Bifat -

5 BERAMEELN HE3,257.43
Fo

6. BEREHMEEHNAET79.01
Fo

KR E FE

REBRUDNEGAKNEE M-
B 7R 2N 2 B35 FT ok Bk B K IR BE
AN REE IR E B E /K EESE LA
By L8 R+ 0 54 B P &2 3 & ok
IKAG - WP SRS T HE ROKTE &
(tnelgE) - BAE MJ:LE'IWKTﬁ
M BEMEKEREIES

RRAAREZXZHEE  AEE
RERGER/KR T L &S 2T
{a] f] 28

FKREBE

For the year
ended 31 March

For the year
ended 31 March

Indicator Unit 2020 2019
BE-Z-2F HZE_Z-NF
=B=+—H =Z=RA=+—H
BE B LFE IEFE
Total water consumption m3 197.00 N/A 3
BmAKE AV
Intensity m3/HK$ million 0.71 N/A i
revenue
BE MK B8RS

(B7T)

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the Group’s business nature, the use of
packaging material was not considered to be a
material ESG aspect to the Group.

& &&= #
RARBZEBEE ERBEK
Mﬂ%ﬁzﬁﬁlﬁﬁ*i’[ﬂi%&?ﬁ{’ﬁé
2RE g MERER-
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure and KPIs

The Group does not engage in industrial production,
therefore the overall environmental impact from
the Group’s business operations is relatively low.
Nevertheless, the Group remains conscious of its
existing and potential impacts, therefore regularly
assesses the environmental risks of its business
model, adopts preventive measures and ensures
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Indoor Air Quality

Indoor air quality was regularly monitored and
measured. During the Year, the indoor air quality of
the Group’s premises was satisfactory. To improve
indoor air quality, air purifying equipment were
placed in the premises and the air conditioning
system was cleaned periodically. These measures
filtered out pollutants, contaminants and dust
particles and resulted in maintaining indoor air
quality at a satisfactory level.

B. SOCIAL

B1.

Employment
General Disclosure

Human resources are the cornerstone of the
Group. The Group recognises that its continued
success is dependent on employees’ talents and
their dedication. Employment policies are formally
documented in the Employee Handbook, covering
recruitment, compensations, remuneration, diversity
and equal opportunities, etc. The Group periodically
reviews existing policies and employment
practices to ensure continuous improvement of
its employment standards and competitiveness
against service providers of the similar industry. As
at 31 March 2020, the Group had a total of 45
employees; of which 89% were full-time employees
and 11% were part-time employees.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

A3.

B. #

B1.

BRERRARER
—REBERBARERER

AREEWARRETEEE 8K
SEXBEEHRBEKNNEE
FEBEB )R AKE
ERIERANEERE EAM
EHFFEEERBEANRER
- PREUTER) 48 e X fE AR 38 <74
BRORE MR -

EFEAEREE

AEETFEHRENNEERNZER
£§WF$¢F R ER B35 P Y
ERNERE ME e BWE

- vt

imlﬂgg $EIF%%W
WEE%@M&% I 7E HRE IR
TR - ZSHEEBE T 54
% MERREEA TR E

AEREERFES AMEHRIK

N7 oo

Hit

I'

_H

&

=

&%

—REE
ANERZEASEENHEA K
SEEAREFTEXINBURR A
AREFR-BREBRKEER
BACGEIFM HERE-
BE -FH 2Ttk FEHRe
L AEETHESHEARER
MEED - ARBERSERAER
¥ EER AR TR E
EHRFN - R _E_FTF=HF
=+t—H AEEHEFIHE
B EF% AEZHBEERI1%
BFEBES-



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the Year, the breakdown of employees
by gender, age group and employment type and
geographical regions were as follows:

Employees by Gender
mMEREIDHEE

= Male = Female

EELE . g

Employees by Employment Type
LA R IJ%J“EIWEE\

13%

®

85%

= Senior Management
SREEE

= Middle Management
PRERE

" Other Employees

As seen above, employees’ male-to-female ratio was
approximately 1:1, indicating gender equality within
the Group. Employees’ age distribution was also
fairly balanced, showing that employees of all ages
were equally cherished by the Group.

B HERELSERE

RAEE R Fica R &
ISR Nt & 0 2 8 B AR
;o

Employees by Age Group
LFEE AR5

P

DR B

m 18-25 m26-35 m=36-45 = 46-55 =56 orabove
18-255% 26-355% 36-4585% 46-555% 565%IA_E

Employees by Geographical Region

?TzﬂﬂlnE%U%EWEE\

u Hong Kong = USA = China
BE EB  HPE

WEMR BENBLLMNOS

1 RAXREEREIERF
Z-REMNFEROIMBIEAF
& RPALKEREZZREFHK
BHEE -
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During the Year, the overall employee turnover rate
was 30.44%. The breakdown of turnover rate was

RAFE EEEERLKXA
30.44% it K = B 48 & 5| 40

as follows: T
Number of

employees left Percentage (%)

CEHBEEAY B2 (%)
By gender 214 5l
Male S 5 10.87
Female peglis 9 19.57
By age group REwR4A R
18-25 years old 18-255% 7 15.22
26-35 years old 26-35%% 2 4.35
36-45 years old 36-455% 2 4.35
46-55 years old 46-555% 3 6.52
56 years old or above 565% A - -
By geographical region Riv &
Hong Kong A 14 30.44

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related
laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group, including but not limited
to Employment Ordinance, Sex Discrimination
Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance,
Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, Race
Discrimination Ordinance and Minimum Wage

Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Recruitment, Diversity and Equal

Opportunities

Sustainable growth of the Group relies on a non-
discriminatory recruitment process and the diversity
of talents. The Group’s employees are recruited via
a robust, transparent and fair recruitment process
based solely on their experience and expertise and
without regard to their age, ethnicity, origin, gender
identity, marital status, sexual orientation and
religion. The recruitment process is supported by the
Group's separate Recruitment Policy that details the
recruitment process and sets out the responsibilities

of the Remuneration Committee, Vice President of

RAREE - AN B A MAAE B
EERGEUAEHEELEARY
EMRFEEBZEEIEZRNGE
o BBRETRRER (EBEGK
)~ KRR ARG -~ CRA&R
IR AR AR BT) ~ (5K BE i (i 15 4R 16
) ~ KRR GO R (&

ETEMRG) °

AE ZTERFEHRE

AEBEO A FEERKRBEIFR
BHRERERAT ZTTL N&E
EREERLER BBERESE-
BRARANENHEREEER
B -MAZREFHK Bk H
H MR IS EARR - 1 ER K
R REEREEANEEEBR
BRI R R BRFAMERE B
B-UHAHFMEZES KT
BB R ANERIBHBE - A
FERBUEBIEAIEHARE -

respective departments and the Human Resources
Department in ensuring that the selection process is
just and standardised.
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The Group believes that all employees should
have the right to work in an environment free of
discrimination, harassment and vilification and is
committed to creating and maintaining an inclusive
and harmonious workplace culture. The Group
emphatically states its zero-tolerance stance on any
aforementioned behaviours in the workplace of any
form.

Benefits and Welfare

The Group understands that good benefits and
welfare encourages retention and fosters a
sense of belonging. The Group offers attractive
remuneration packages, including performance
bonus, discretionary bonuses and sales commission.
In addition to the entitlement of leaves stipulated
in the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Group provides other leaves to its employees, such
as, compassionate leave, compensation leave, etc.
Save for the aforementioned entitlement to leaves,
the employees are also entitled to benefits such
as birthday red packet, discount on the Group’s
products purchase, group medical insurance scheme
and business trip travel insurance scheme.

Family-friendly Employer

The Group was commended by the Home
Affairs Bureau and the Family Council for the
Family-Friendly Employers Award Scheme which
demonstrated that the Group was successful in
implementing family-friendly practices to promote a
better work-life balance for its employees.

Promotion and Performance Review

Employees’ salary is reviewed annually according
to the result of their performance review in the
first quarter of the financial year. Employees are
promoted on the basis of their performance and
the extent to which they demonstrate the attributes
required for the higher grade. The Group also
gives preference to internal promotion to reward
employee’s loyalty and continuous effort.
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Working Hours and Rest Periods

Official working hours and rest periods are clearly
stated in the Employee Handbook and are in
accordance with the local employment laws.
Unless otherwise specified, employees of non-
executive grades may be compensated by way of
compensation leave should they be required to
work out of stipulated working hours in the case of
urgent business needs.

Compensation and Dismissal

The Group compensates employees through the
provision of Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
of Hong Kong, which covers employees who sustain
personal injury by accident or disease arising out
of and in the course of employment. Unreasonable
dismissal under any circumstances is strictly
prohibited; dismissal will be based on reasonable
and lawful grounds supported by internal policies of
the Group.

Health and Safety
General Disclosure

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with health and safety-
related laws and regulations that would have a
significant impact on the Group, including but
not limited to Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance of Hong Kong.

During the Year, there was no work-related
fatalities. The Group recorded 105 days lost due
to work injury and 1 reported case of work-related
injuries.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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Occupational Health and Safety
Management

The Group places a high priority on providing
employees with a safe and healthy working
environment and is committed to safeguarding the
wellbeing of all employees. Working arrangement
during typhoon and rainstorm has been clearly
specified by the Group in the Employee Handbook
to avoid any confusion which might lead to safety
issue. Policy on fire precautions is also stated in the
Employee Handbook to alert its employees of the
importance of fire prevention. Fire extinguishers
are strategically placed and fire exits are free from
obstruction; first aid boxes are placed around the
premise.

Development and Training
General Disclosure
Provision of Training Opportunities

Training and continuous development are
indispensable to the Group’s employees to keep
abreast of the ever-changing trend of the industry.
The Group encourages a continuous learning
atmosphere for career development and thus
provides on-the-job training and both internal (wine
tasting) and external (Wine & Spirit Education Trust,
whisky training course) courses and workshops to
its employees. This ensures that employees not only
hold relevant wine and spirit qualifications but are
also equipped with a wealth of knowledge and
experience in advising customers on picking their
preferred wine or other alcoholic beverages. In the
long run, the breadth of employees’ knowledge will
attract new customers and forge close bonds with
existing customers. Moreover, employees are eligible
for reimbursement on job-related training, courses
and seminars and are also entitled to apply for paid
study or examination leave. The Group holds firm
belief that providing its employees with adequate
training opportunities and room for continuous
development lays a solid foundation for the Group’s
continuing success.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s number of

employees received training and their training hours
were as follows:

RE|ERA REEZEZEIZ
BB AB R HEEIIREHT 0
T~

Number of Average
employees  Percentage Training training
trained (%) hours hours
ZIEEAH B2 (%) BAGY FEINEY
By gender b ged:]
Male B 13 56.52 25 1.92
Female it 9 40.91 22.5 2.50
By employment type RERER
Senior management RRERE - - - -
Middle management RRERE 50.00 375 12.5
Other employees HitigE 19 50.00 10 0.53
B4. Labour Standards B4. # T %8|
General Disclosure —RIBE
Prevention of Child and Forced Labour BFLLET KRB % T

The Group guarantees that no employee will be
made to work against his/her will or be coerced
to work. The recruitment of child labour is strictly
prohibited. All employees recruited by the Group are
above 18 years old. Personal data is collected and
original supporting documents are required to be
presented during the process to assist the selection
of suitable candidates and to verify candidates’
personal data. The Human Resources Department
ensures that their identity documents are carefully
checked.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced
labour-related laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but not
limited to Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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Supply Chain Management
General Disclosure

Regarding the wine procurement process, the
Group focuses primarily on the selection of high-
quality wines from different wine regions, varieties
and styles in order to meet the diverse preference
of the customers. Therefore, procuring fine wines
under a rigid procurement process policy will not
be desirable. During the Year, wine suppliers were
predominately from famous wine regions, such as
France and Australia.

Procurement Process

For procurement of goods and services other than
the aforementioned, the Group strives to consider
suppliers’ reputation, prevailing market price and
delivery time. At the same time, the purchase of
supplies is determined and adjusted by the current
inventories, expected customer demands and
projected sales trends. Where possible, the Group
strives not to over-rely on a particular supplier by
maintaining more than one supplier for each type
of goods or services provided in order to ensure the
stability of the supply chain. The Group periodically
evaluates and monitors the performance of its
suppliers to ensure their compliance with quality
and service standards. Should services provided by
the supplier fall below the agreed standard, the
cooperation may be terminated.

Product and Service Responsibility
General Disclosure

The Group has an extensive quality assurance
process to ensure that the products and services
provided are not only in compliance with relevant
local laws and regulations but are also of
exceptional quality.
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with laws and regulations
concerning health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and
services and methods of redress that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but
not limited to Dutiable Commodities (Amendment)
Ordinance 2018 and Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance of Hong Kong. During the Year, the
Group did not receive any cases of products and
service-related complaints nor was subjected to
product recalls.

Quality Control

Quality management is emphasised by the Group as
the quality of alcoholic beverages is easily affected
by external factors such as the storage environment.
Implementing a sound quality control is therefore
fundamental to ensuring the quality and safety of
the goods and services provided to the customers.

The Group has standardised guidelines and
procedures on the storage, delivery and
packaging of products. With regard to the storage
requirements, different sets of air conditioning are
strategically switched on using the timer function
to ensure the desired temperature and humidity is
maintained for optimal wine storage performance.
In addition, a back-up power system at the
warehouse will automatically be switched on in the
event of a power failure.

To maintain the quality of services provided, strict
requirements have been imposed on the storage
environment of our warehouse and retail store. To
protect consumer rights, product return is available
in case of any quality issues verified by the Group
upon presenting the proof of purchase.
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Customer Satisfaction

Feedbacks and complaints from the Group’s
customers are highly valued as it is of vital
importance to the continuous development of
the Group. Procedures for handling feedbacks
have been set up. Should the Group receive any
complaints, the Group will strive to act in a timely
manner to resolve the issue with effective corrective
actions. In addition, complaints of significant weight
received will be discussed and reviewed by the
management during regular meetings to prevent re-
occurrence.

Data Privacy Protection

The Group is committed to safeguarding all
sensitive information pertaining to its customers.
Unauthorised access to the Group’s information
system and disclosure of terms of business with
customers and suppliers, marketing plans and sales
forecasts or any proposals relating to the Group
are strictly prohibited. Moreover, employees of
the Group are required to sign the Employee Non-
disclosure Agreement and are held accountable
to the consequences of disseminating confidential
information of the customers without prior consent.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group recognises the gravity of improper
dissemination of information on alcoholic products
and the consequences of providing alcohol to
minors. Therefore, the Group is watchful of the
accuracy of its promotional material. During the
Year, the Group has held and participated in various
activities, such as the wine exposition and wine-
tasting events to promote the Group’s image, forge
stronger bonds and increase customer loyalty.
Promotional banners and leaflets produced for such
activities were subjected to strict compliance with
Trade Description Ordinance. Any false, misleading
or incomplete information and misstatements
regarding such materials are strictly prohibited.
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B7.

Furthermore, following the enforcement of the
Dutiable Commodities (Amendment) Ordinance
2018 in 30 November 2018, the Group’s retail
stores are required to display a sign containing
both Chinese and English versions of the prescribed
notice in a prominent location easily seen by the
public. Therefore, the Group remains vigilant to
preventing the sale and supply of intoxicating
liquor to minors and the veracity of its marketing
materials.

On the other hand, the Group considers that
labelling matters is not material to the Group.

IP Rights

The Group has obtained registration of the Group's
trademarks in Hong Kong; the domain name was
also registered. The Group regularly monitors to
ensure that IP rights are not being infringed upon.

Anti-corruption
General Disclosure

Solid corporate governance is vital to the Group’s
sustainable growth. The Group emphatically asserts
its zero-tolerance stance regarding any behaviours
that not only violate laws and regulations of
Hong Kong but also severely damage the business
integrity and reputation of the Group.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering that would have a significant impact on
the Group, including but not limited to Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong. During the
Year, there were no concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees.
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Anti-bribery and Anti-Corruption Practices

The Group has established the Anti-bribery and
Corruption Policy in relation to accepting business
courtesies and gratuities. The Group has clearly
stated the circumstances in which the employee
may accept said courtesies and gratuities and is
required to declare such courtesies and gratuities
to the Head of Department. Bribery, fraud and
corruption in any form or in relation to any parties
are all strictly prohibited in the Group.

Community Investment
General Disclosure

The Group's people-oriented culture is not confined
within the Group’s operation. The Group has long
been caring for local communities and has policies
on addressing social and community needs via
community investment. During the Year, the Group
volunteered at a family day event which aimed at
fostering parent-child relationship of low-income
families and made cash donation to support the
financially disadvantaged, children with special
needs and the elderly.

The Group was again awarded the Caring Company
Award in 2019/2020 and the Partner Employer
Award 2019. These recognitions exemplified the
Group’s effort and dedication in adopting socially
responsible business practices.

Recognitions
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B8.
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Caring Company Award 2019/2020
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Partner Employer Award 2019
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and Medium Business
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BERDECEERS

Hong Kong Council of Social Service

BB GRS

The Hong Kong General Chamber of Small
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX ERBERSZFAERAR (RE -

OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG HERER/RKREES) REERS
LIMITED
Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures, and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TEHR -EH —KRERER
BRENER it 3:0)8 1
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAT : BEBY
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
Exhaust Gas and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
— AR ER BRABERIOEERBEER - MKk MY
FBENMNBEERYNELTH:
(a) BE: R
(b) BETHETABEATZENHEBZE
BIERBER -
KPI'A1.1 (“comply or explain”)  The types of emissions and respective Emissions — Air Emissions
emissions data. Not applicable — Explained
BB DR IRAT HERR ) 18 58 B B HE B - BE — = RBER
(I E-FREfRE]) TER-C e
KPI A1.2 (“comply or explain”) GHG emissions in total (in tonnes) Emissions — GHG Emissions
and intensity.
RABEAE DUEIRA .2 BERBESNRE (UBAR) REE- R IRERBEK
([P EFRLARE])
KPI' A1.3 (“comply or explain”) Total hazardous waste produced (in Emissions — Waste Management
tonnes) and intensity. Not applicable — Explained
RS AE IR IR A3 FEXASEEMEE (UEE) T BERY-BEEDER
(ITETRiARE]) JZ - TER-—C e

KPI'A1.4 (“comply or explain”)  Total non-hazardous waste produced (in  Emissions — Waste Management
tonnes) and intensity.

B AEIEIRATA PMELEEREMHAE (AAE) ME R -—BEEDER
(IE<FRLAREE]) JZ -
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RIE

Description

g

itEREREE

Section/Declaration

N0 17

KPI' A1.5 (“comply or explain”)

B BEAE IR IRA1S
(I EFREAEE])
KPI A1.6 (“comply or explain”)

B A5 IR IRAT6
([TMETRLERE])

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 - EREAR

General Disclosure

—RIKE
KPI A2.1 (“comply or explain”)

BB A R IRA2
([P EFREARE])
KPI' A2.2 (“comply or explain”)

B 4B R IR A2.2
(I ETRiArE])
KPI'A2.3 (“comply or explain™)

BB E IR IRA2.3
(I E-FREARE])
KPI A2.4 (“comply or explain”)

BB E IR IRA2.4
(I E-FREARE])
KPI A2.5 (“comply or explain”)

B 4B IR IRA2.5
([rETiaE])

Description of reduction initiatives
and results achieved.

R E B E M e M PTSRR -

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved.
HOREEEREZTEEVN AL RBIE
EEENEERTEKR-

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials.

BREAER (BEER KR E MR
B R BR -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption
by type in total and intensity.

REAE SN EE R SEEERERE

Water consumption in total and intensity.
BREKERETE -

Description of energy use efficiency
initiatives and results achieved.

Tt BE TR A ks AT &I PTG AR

Description of whether there is any

issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency initiatives

and results achieved.

3 SR EGE B KR ERT AR RE - A K
R ARG T8I R FTISER -

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and with reference to
per unit produced.
HXBATAEREMHOEE (LEE)
NEEEBMGEE-

BB X EFERARAR

Emissions -GHG Emissions,
Waste Management

R —RERBHR BEEYD
[

Emissions — Waste Management

B -ERMER

Use of Resources

BIR{EH

Use of Resources —
Energy Consumption

BIRER — gL RA R

Use of Resources —
Water Consumption

BIRER — KRB

Use of Resources —
Energy Consumption

BIR(ER —gERB R

Use of Resources —
Water Consumption

Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material

Not applicable — Explained
BIRER—BEMEER
TER-BmE

—E-BEEH
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures, and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FTEHR -BH —BREER
BREYER a4t 3-8 1

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBEA3 RERKARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s The Environment
significant impact on the environment and Natural Resources
and natural resources.
—RIKE WAREITAHRBERRARERERERY REMRRER
EHBER -
KPI'A3.1 (“comply or explain”) Description of the significant impacts The Environment and Natural
of activities on the environment and Resources — Indoor Air Quality

natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

RS AE I IR A3 HIEBETBHHRERRAERNEAY RERRRER-ZENEREE
([MEBETRLfEE]) ERERDNERERAZENTH-
Aspect B1: Employment
BB : EfE
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating
to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare.
— R ER ERAFMNREmE BREREA IR R ERE
HFPERS 2l REBBUAREMREF
FEPSEERAII Ok
(@ BER: R
(b) BEFHBTABEATZENMEEE
BLOERBE R
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment  Employment

(Recommended Disclosures)  type, age group and geographical region.
FRARIEERI (BB WE) RIER IBHEM FdANRBEE D ERE
o e 8 4& %5(
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age Employment
(Recommended Disclosures)  group and geographical region.

FARANIEREI.2 (BERE) mES FREMNMEEISNEERK BE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures, and KPIs Description
FTEHR -BH —BREER

BREMER g

itEREREE

Section/Declaration

N0 17

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EHEB2 - gEHEZE

General Disclosure Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting

employees from occupational

hazards.
— MR E BRERELZ2TIERRRRERES B2
EMREE:
(@) BE: Rk
(b) BETFEHEITABEATENMEREE
BRIERBER -
KPI B2.1 (Recommended Number and rate of work-related
Disclosures) fatalities.

RARE RIS EB21(EEHE)
KPI B2.2 (Recommended
Disclosures)

BARAE UIEIEB2.2( BRI E)

B T /R B R M 50 T M) A B K -

Lost days due to work injury.
AIGEAXIEAS-

Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EEB3 : & RIFJ
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’
knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training
activities.

BRI EE BT LIERE M M E M e
BVIBUER - HE SR IR B o

The percentage of employees trained

by gender and employee category

(e.g. senior management, middle
management).

BREREEEEMN (NEREERE PR
EREZ)EAS»NRIEEBDL -

The average training hours

completed per employee by gender

and employee category.
RERMEEEEMNE D BREETKR
BlEORS2):3 -

— MR

KPI B3.1 (Recommended
Disclosures)

BE SR AR B IZB3 1 (=)

KPI B3.2 (Recommended
Disclosures)

B A IEIER3.2( B E)

BB X EFERARAR

Health and Safety

fEERTE

Health and Safety

REEZR
Health and Safety

EEERE

Development and Training

TR RIE

Development and Training

TR RIE

Development and Training

TR RIE

—E-BEEH
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures, and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FTEHR -BH —BREER
BREYER a4t 3-8 1

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
FEEB4 : 8 T %8|
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.

—MEE BRABLETRBEIATH: BT AR
(a) BE: K
(b) BFEHBEITABEATEMEBE
BREBRNER -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEBS : it EHEE R

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and  Supply Chain Management
social risks of the supply chain.
— R E EIR R ARG Mg R R EUR o e gt g I

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmELE
General Disclosure Information on: Product and Service
(a) the policies; and Responsibility
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
— AR E ERAMRHERERENREERELZE B EmARBEL
H BRELLEBEEARER AR
(@ B &k
(b) BFHETABEATZEMHEEZE
BROERER
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or Product
(Recommended Disclosures)  shipped subject to recalls for safety and Service Responsibility
and health reasons.
FRAENIEIER6 (ZRAWE) CEICEXEMBETRALZ2EERE EnkREEE

BimARKEN B DL -
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related Product
(Recommended Disclosures)  complaints received and how they are and Service Responsibility
dealt with.
FARAENIEIER6.2 (ZRWE) REEMARGHEBIRFBMENUANEY S ERREEE
A e
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures, and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FTEHR -BH —BREER
BRENIER a4t = 3:i)g- 1]

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7 : RES
General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
— R ER BEABY IEBRER - B - BRGF RO EREY R&ES
(a) BE: K
(b) BTFTHBETABEARZENHEBRZE
BROERER
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases Anti-corruption

(Recommended Disclosures)  regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of
the cases.
BRAENIEIER7. (BEWE) REREFPAEETASIHERRLLEE RES
BB ARMOEE LFRER-

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEBS : it EBIRE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to Community Investment
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

— R BRANUMELETHRETACEMNELE HEKRE
FENEREEXRBEDHEEBHLEN D
BUR ©

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.qg. Community Investment

(Recommended Disclosures)  education, environmental concerns,
labour needs, health, culture, sport).
FRERIEERSN(EEER) FTIEREE (HE REFE 4T HERE
B CRE -XE-8BE) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or Community Investment
(Recommended Disclosures)  time) to the focus area.

FRAENIEEE2(ZERE) AFIBBRMPAER (NEAEH) - HERERE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The major
operating subsidiary of the Company primarily engaged in the
wholesale and retail of a wide spectrum of wine products and
other alcoholic beverages in Hong Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Details of the audited consolidated results of the Group for the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on page 104 of this annual
report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the Year (2019: nil) to the Shareholders.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM") to be held
on Wednesday, 12 August 2020, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Friday, 7 August 2020
to Wednesday, 12 August 2020, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 6
August 2020.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

ESEMARERSF2HRE ERAEE
AEENEEREEMB®RE-

FEES

RRRRKREERAA -HFELENE
QTEA%‘%EK%ET&?&&T%E*@?
Z%ﬁ/@?:ﬂ:&ﬁfﬂl/@* ﬁ)\l:u:l"

REREE
AEEAEEOEBXIRS EEFEHT
RAFEREVMANGERRBERA
EYE

ExgY TE:
T-NEFE) -

EERERTROEE
REEHEARARRAR-_Z_FTFN\A+=
B(EH=)BTHRREFRS(IRREA
EKAJ)EEEAJ:T EWER  RNAFH

N_EZEFN\ALB(EHPR)EZE-_ZZ
ZENATZB(EH=) BREEMX
ER EERERNHDBFPELTE- 7%13&1%
NEEROERRBFAELNEG LR
ZREM FAEARR TH&T%&E)EXFF@H*H
FARRAR _7_%?¢)\ﬂ/*\EI (2Hm)
THEE=1+28 ARARE 2 EBK
Tﬁi@ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ%)ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ%%%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂ
Mot BB 2B A R1835A M 054
BB ERFE-

FIRAFE 2EMFMBRE (=



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during
the Year, the key factors affecting its results and financial
position, and the information on the compliance with laws
and regulations, environmental policy and relationships with
stakeholders are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Furthermore, a
fair review of, and an indication of likely future development
in the Group’s business are set out in the section headed
“Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, since the end of the Year, no
important event affecting the Group has occurred.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operation, business
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group relating to its businesses:

—  The Group experiences cash flow mismatches in the
business operation. Delay in the settlement of payments
by the customers may result in untimely and significant
cash flow shortcomings in the future and may adversely
impact the Group’s cash position and results of
operations.

—  The Group has substantial indebtedness and high gearing
ratios.

—  The Group recorded a net operating cash outflow for
the year ended 31 March 2020 and may have difficulty
meeting the payment obligations if the Group continues
to record net operating cash outflow in the future.

—  The Group recorded a relatively high inventory turnover
days and is exposed to the risk of slow-moving
inventories, which may adversely affect the cash flow and
liquidity.

— Any increase in the purchase prices of wine products that
the Group cannot pass on to customers may reduce its
profitability.
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Changes in market trends and customer tastes and
preferences could cause the sales to decline.

Opening of new flagship store and retail store in Hong
Kong may not contribute to the growth of the Group’s
business as planned.

The business, results of operations and financial condition
may be affected by seasonality.

The acquisition and set up of the own warehousing
facility may result in an increase in the depreciation
expenses of the Group.

Any quality issues relating to the Group’s wine products
could adversely affect the reputation and business.

The Group does not have product liability insurance
and may not be adequately protected from any product
liability claim and/or potential loss.

The Group has a relatively short track record in retail
business and the historical financial results in respect of
the retail business may not be indicative of the future
performance.

The Group may be subject to tax penalties and additional
tax liabilities.

Any deterioration or termination of the relationships with
the major suppliers may result in severe disruptions to the
operations and loss of revenue.

Any deterioration or termination of the relationships
with the major customers may materially and adversely
affect the business, results of operations and financial
condition.

The Group's operations are subject to certain risks
associated with the transportation processes and storage
conditions of the wine products.

The Group has limited insurance coverage which could
expose the Group to significant costs and business
disruptions.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

—  The continuing success of the Group depends on the
senior management and the abilities to retain, motivate
and recruit appropriately skilled talents.

—  The series of anti-corruption campaigns and reforms
launched by the PRC government may adversely affect
the sales of the wine products.

- If the PRC government tightens its customs controls over
wine products, demand from customers who purchase
the Group’s wine products for consumption in or resale to
the PRC may decrease.

—  The Group’s lease renewals are affected by conditions of
the rental market.

—  The Group’s results of operations may be affected by
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

- The Group may be unable to maintain rapid growth and
implement the future plans.

For other risks and uncertainties that the Group faces, please
refer to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.
For the Group’s approach on risk management and internal
controls, please refer to page 39 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 212 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details (including the principal activities) of the Company’s
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
Year amounted to HK$22,000 (2019: HK$19,000).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s distributable reserves
available for distribution is approximately HK$52.1 million
(2019: HK$54.7 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders
unless otherwise required by the Stock Exchange.

SHARE CAPITAL AND EQUITY-LINKED
AGREEMENT

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements. Please also refer to “Capital Structure”
in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

On the Listing Date, upon listing on the Stock Exchange, the
Company has issued 120,000,000 shares at HK$0.75 each
with net proceeds of approximately HK$64.2 million.

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed
in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” below,
no equity-linked agreement that (i) will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or (ii) requires the Company enter into
any agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, was entered into by the Company during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the reporting year.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
policy”) pursuant to which the Company will maintain a
stable dividend payout ratio in future and strive to attain a
stable-to-rising dividend ratio. The Company gives priority to
distributing dividend in cash and shares its profits with the
Shareholders. The dividend payout ratio shall be determined
or recommended as appropriate, by the Board at its
absolute discretion after taking into account the Company’s
financial position, its ability to generate cash flow, its future
development needs and prospects, and subject to:
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- the Articles;

—  the applicable restrictions and requirements under the
laws of the Cayman Islands;

— any banking or after funding covenants by which the
Company is bound from time to time;

—  the investment and operation requirement of the
Company; and

- any other factors that have material impact on the
Company.

DIRECTORS

During the Year and thereafter up to the date of this annual
report, the Directors are named as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley
Mr. Chan Sze Tung

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung s, 8BS, /P
Ms. Ho Tsz Wan

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie m.H,, 1.p (appointed on 13 June 2019)
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald

Mr. Wong Hin Wing

Mr. Cheng Yiu Tong G.8.m., G.8.5., J.p (resigned on 13 June 2019)

Mr. Cheng Yiu Tong (“Mr. Cheng"”) resigned as an independent
non-executive Director on 13 June 2019 due to his decision
to devote more time to his personal endeavours. For further
details regarding Mr. Cheng’s resignation, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 13 June 2019.

Pursuant to article 16.18 of the Articles, at every annual
general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than,
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific team)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Accordingly, Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley, Ms. Ho Tsz Wan and
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald will retire pursuant to article 16.18
of the Articles, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election as Directors at the forthcoming AGM.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual written confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
as at the date of this annual report and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the Senior
Management of the Group are set out on pages 17 to 25 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract
with the Company on 18 December 2017 for an initial term
of three years, commencing from the Listing Date (subject
to termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in the
relevant service agreement).

Each of the non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company on 18 December 2017 for an
initial term of three years, commencing from the Listing Date
(subject to termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in
the relevant letter of appointment).

Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald and Mr. Wong Hin Wing, the
independent non-executive Directors, have signed a letter of
appointment with the Company on 18 December 2017 for an
initial term of three years, commencing from the Listing Date
(subject to termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in
the relevant letter of appointment). Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie
has signed a letter of appointment with the Company on 13
June 2019 for a term of three years from 13 June 2019 to 12
June 2022.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have entered into
any service contract or letter of appointment with any member
of the Group (including agreements expiring or determinable
by any member of the Group within one year without payment
of compensation other than statutory compensation).
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TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company,
or its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director or a connected entity of a director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year, nor was
there any transaction, arrangements or contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries for the Year. There
was also no contract of significance between the Company or
one of the subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any
of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during
the Year.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The Directors are entitled to director fees, salaries,
discretionary bonus with reference to the market comparables,
time commitment and the performance of the Group as
well as the contributions to retirement schemes. Details of
the remuneration of the Directors on a named basis during
the Year are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company’s Directors and senior management receive
compensation in the form of director fees, salaries, benefits
in kind and/or discretionary bonuses with reference to those
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the
performance of the Group. The Group also reimburses the
Directors and senior management for expenses which are
necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision of services
to the Group or executing their functions in relation to the
operations of the Group. The Group regularly review and
determine the remuneration and compensation packages of
the Directors and senior management, by reference to, among
other things, market level of remuneration and compensation
paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities
of the Directors and the performance of the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
incurred or sustained by him as a Director in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

Appropriate insurance policies that cover directors’ and
officers’ liabilities have been in force to protect the directors
and officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising from
the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings
contained in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were
as follows:
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EFEHRE

Interests in the Company RERT 2R
Percentage of
shareholding in the
Number of  Company’s issued
Name of Director Nature of interests Shares held share capital
E=ns EEME FERGEE EREBNED
Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley Interest of a controlled 280,000,000 (L) 70%
("Ms. Shirley Wong")® corporation / Interest of
spouse
FERBLLTO R N I e TR e
Notes: Fffat -

(1) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  Ms. Shirley Wong is the sole shareholder of Shirz Limited and
she is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Shirz Limited. Ms. Shirley Wong is the spouse of Mr. Roy Ting
and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares Mr.
Roy Ting is interested in pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the
Directors nor chief executive of the Company has registered
an interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(i) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to required standard of dealings.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or any
specified undertaking of the Company or any other associated
corporations” above, at no time during the Year were any
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
the chief executive of the Company or any of their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
THE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY AND OTHER PERSONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 March 2020, the
following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) will have or be deemed or taken to have an interest
or short position in the Shares or the underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which would be recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO:

EEREROHOER

FRAL [ARBEEREBITRABRAR
A S AN AME A #5 B 1 56 sl A A L b AR Bk
EBE R By BB D R EREE RS R
KR —EHWBEEIN RAFREMER -
ARRRALERAARRAREMNEFTRHERITH
ABREMKEFEBNEBIARM T/
B FRIROEN UEREEARR RN
SEHFMZ R MRENETEEFZF
RN AARRE - B A A S E A A
REIRFZRM B ARG ET LM B
BEEBFANTAEMEIABERESZS
TR

TERFNAATREA - BEBRH
T RN
SR AE T E AL A Bk B S
AR
REEMMN HE_T-_ZEF=-A=+—

H- TWAi(i#%$I$ AIEEITH
AB) B8R D kAR R D R iGHESR
HWRABREEREEREZS REE KA
FEXVEBE2 X35 B2 E X B M AN E '
ZREDIORE  HBRBEEHFRPEKGIE
336{'7KH 2,\naﬁﬁ/\§fnafﬂ}2$‘g W/)\F'

Percentage of
shareholding in the

Number of  Company’s issued
Name of shareholders Nature of interests Shares held share capital
RAEQXFRSBHITRAE
IR & B EEME FrERGEE ZERBIHE
Shirz Limited® Beneficial owner 168,000,000 (L) 42%
EmlEA A
Sunshine Consultancy Beneficial owner 112,000,000 (L)™ 28%
Company Limited
ExnEAA
Mr. Roy Ting® Interest of a controlled 280,000,000 (L) 70%
corporation / Interest of
spouse
TEREE® RELEER TR
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(1) The letter "L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  Ms. Shirley Wong is the sole shareholder of Shirz Limited and
she is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Shirz Limited. Ms. Shirley Wong is also the spouse of Mr. Roy
Ting and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares
Mr. Roy Ting is interested in pursuant to the SFO.

(3) Mr. Roy Ting is the sole shareholder of Sunshine Consultancy
Company Limited and he is therefore deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by Sunshine Consultancy Company Limited.
Mr. Roy Ting is the spouse of Ms. Shirley Wong and is therefore
deemed to be interested in all the Shares Ms. Shirley Wong is
interested in pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons who had any interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which would be recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO, and/or who are directly or
indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of any other member of the Group.

SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the interests disclosed above in respect of the
substantial shareholders, as at 31 March 2020, no other
person is individually or collectively entitled to exercise or
control the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at
the general meetings of the Company and are able, as a
practicable manner, to direct or influence the management of
the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales for the Year generated from the
Group’s major customers is as follows:

—  the largest customer 5.6%
- five largest customers 12.1%

The total sales of the Group for the Year from the five largest
customers did not exceed 30%.
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The percentage of cost of sales for the Year attributable to the
Group's major suppliers is as follows:

11.0%
33.3%

—  the largest supplier
—  five largest suppliers

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interest in any of
the Group’s five largest customers or its five largest suppliers
for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having been made a specific
enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings and code of
conduct regarding securities transactions throughout the Year
and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors or the controlling shareholders or substantial
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the
Company or their respective close associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) were considered to have any interests in
a business which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and/or
caused, or was likely to cause any other conflicts of interest
with the Group.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company confirms that the deed of non-competition
(the “Deed”) of each of Ms. Shirley Wong, Mr. Roy Ting,
Shirz Limited and Sunshine Consultancy Company Limited
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”), details of which
were set out in the Prospectus, has been fully complied and
enforced during the Year. The Company has obtained an
annual written confirmation from each of the Controlling
Shareholders in relation to their compliance with the terms of
the Deed and the independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the undertakings under the Deed and evaluated the
effective implementation of the Deed during the Year. The
Board also confirms that there are no other matters in relation
to the aforesaid undertaking which should be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders and the potential investors of the
Group.

LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANT
RELATING TO SPECIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 23 January 2020, Wine's Link Limited (“Wine's Link”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as borrower; Chong
Hing Bank Limited (“Lender A"), as lender; and the Company
as guarantor, entered into a banking facility letter (the “Facility
Letter A"). This Facility Letter A is comprising of a letter
of credit facility and an overdraft facility, with a maximum
facility of HK$110,000,000 and HK$3,000,000, respectively,
which has been made available and will continue to be made
available by the Lender A to Wine's Link on the terms and
conditions therein contained and subject to an annual review
by the Lender A.

Pursuant to the Facility Letter A, a specific performance
covenant is imposed on the Controlling Shareholders (as
defined hereunder) to be the single largest shareholder and
jointly hold not less than 50% beneficial interest of the
Company.

As at the date of this report, the aggregate beneficial interest
of the Controlling Shareholders in the Company is 70%.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 4
February 2020 for more details.

EFEHRE

FHFRE

ARG BER RAFE TLRBRLL-
T E B % 4~ Shirz Limited & Sunshine
Consultancy (#tHE [1ZERKRER])E T2 E
FRATEBZTHRFRIE ([R2E]) (5
BEHINNBRER) - AAAEIESIER
RRERESEETRERXNFTESEHE
RE ABIYIERTESEEHNEETZ
EHENMTEAFERZE 2 ERERITER
EEgNERTEEME@ AR S
HARBASERRERBERFEE -

FHREZERRREEETRAZE

R

RZEZZEF—A-+=ZH ARQRFZE
EWBARIEEG BE)ERAA (BB
OR%)]) (BERER) BIEIEITHERA
AI([EFA] (ERER) ) RARFA (1
BERANGTETHRE G ([RE &
HAD - ZBMERUEARES —HEAER
ER—BEITHE ZafmEBSHAE
110,000,000 7t X3,000,0007% JT * 7] A
B 5 ARIE B E 53 AT SR R A 1 )
LOBE)REBEITBEER THRERE I
XEHAFEERER-

REBEBE KA ZEERR(EER TX)

REERITRB AR BARE—RAIRR
BAABARRRNLR0%E R -

RAREBAE ZERBERARNARZEE
HRIEZRBT0% °

BE%HE F2HAQRRAHA-_ZT -
FZ_AMBZ RS-

RBBXERZERERAT —B-ZFFRH

87



38

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

On 7 May 2020, Wine's Link, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as borrower; Hang Seng Bank Limited (”Lender
B”), as lender; and the Company as guarantor, entered into
a banking facility letter (the “Facility Letter B”). This Facility
Letter B is comprising of a credit facility and a corporate
credit card, with a maximum facility of HK$30,000,000 and
HK$100,000, respectively, which are agreed to be made
available by the Lender B to Wine’s Link on the terms and
conditions contained therein and subject to, among others,
an annual review by the Lender B at any time and the Lender
B's overriding right of repayment on demand, including the
right to call for cash cover on demand for prospective and
contingent liabilities.

Pursuant to the Facility Letter B, the Company shall procure
the Controlling Shareholders continue to be the single largest
shareholder and jointly hold not less than 50% beneficial
interest of the Company.

As at the date of this report, the aggregate beneficial interest
of the Controlling Shareholders in the Company is 70%.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8
May 2020 for more details.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) conditionally
approved and adopted in compliance with Chapter 23 of the
GEM Listing Rules by written resolutions of all the Shareholder
passed on 18 December 2017. The following summary does
not form, nor is intended to be, part of the Share Option
Scheme nor should it be taken as affecting the interpretation
of the rules of the Share Option Scheme.

(@) Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant Share Options to the eligible persons as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member
of the Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested
Entity”).

(b) Who may join
The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible
persons (being any director or employee (whether full
time or part time), consultant or adviser of the Group
who in the sole discretion of the Board has contributed
to and/or will contribute to the Group) (the “Eligible
Persons”) to subscribe for such number of Shares in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.
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(c) Total number of Shares may be issued upon
exercise of all options

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
Share Options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company, must not,
in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes involving the issue or grant of options or
similar rights over Shares or other securities by the
Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Listing Date (without taking into account the Shares
which may be issued and allotted pursuant to the
exercise of the options which may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme) (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”) unless Shareholders’ approval has been
obtained pursuant to sub-paragraph (iv) below.

The Scheme Mandate Limit may be renewed by the
Shareholders of the Company in general meeting
from time to time provided always that the Scheme
Mandate Limit so renewed must not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of the approval of such renewal by the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting.
Upon such renewal, all Share Options granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share options schemes of the Company (including
those exercised, outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme or any
other share options of the Company) prior to the
approval of such renewal shall not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate
Limit. A circular must be sent to the Shareholders of
the Company containing such relevant information
from time to time as required by the GEM Listing
Rules.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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(d)

(e)

(f)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(iv) The Board may seek separate Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting to grant options beyond the
Scheme Mandate Limit provided that the Share
Options in excess of the Scheme Mandate Limit
are granted only to the Eligible Persons specifically
identified by the Company before such approval is
sought and the Company must issue a circular to
the Shareholders of the Company containing such
relevant information from time to time as required
by the GEM Listing Rules in relation to any such
proposed grant to such Eligible Persons.

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme was 40,000,000, representing 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of this annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No Share Option may be granted to any Eligible Person
which, if exercised in full, would result in the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options already granted or to be granted to such
Eligible Person under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in
the twelve-month period up to and including the date of
such new grant exceeding 1% in aggregate of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of such
grant. Any grant of further share options above this limit
shall be subject to certain requirements provided under
the GEM Listing Rules.

The minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

As determined by the Board upon the grant of an option.

Acceptance of option

An offer shall be accepted when the Company receive
the duly signed offer letter together with a non-
refundable payment of HK$1.00 (or such other sum in
any currency as the Board may determine).
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(g) Period of exercising the option () BRETERE

(i) Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share (i) SPRAERETZINENE TR
Option Scheme, a Share Option may be exercised o AR E A B AR HR R (BT
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option AR EHBERES BB +F)
Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at any i B AR 5 B M 5 T 21 A iR SR R 3%
time during the applicable option period, which is M IR T R B A -
not more than ten years from the date of grant of
option.

(i) There is no general requirement on the minimum (i) RIBERETEINGR  LEE
period for which a Share Option must be held or FREIRER] FITERM AR AR
the performance targets which must be achieved RENZEHRAMENEENERR
before a Share Option can be exercised under the BEiZ2—MET-AM EFE
terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at A AR AR ERIRERIB R
the time of granting any Share Option, the Board HEBEHEINEE  BHIsE
may, on a case by case basis, make such grant R BEETRRESEAES
subject to such conditions, restrictions or limitations ERNSET A ERREREH
including (without limitation) those in relation to the Mk SBEZEBRHNRFEBEZE-

minimum period of the Share Options to be held
and/or the performance targets to be achieved as
the Board may determine in its absolute discretion.

(h) Exercise Price (h) 1TfEE

The exercise price for any Share under the Share Option AT 2B N E RN EITEES
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board and HESEETRBASERA HZ
notified to each grantee and shall be not less than the BRTBENRUTEENESE ()
highest of (i) the closing price of a Share as stated in the REEEBEERERSR (ZBKAEL
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of SEQA)EBMTAEBARERAMD
grant of the relevant option, which must be a business PRAP W& - (NEEREERR LA
day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average closing EBREASIAEEEBERIME
price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily AMmEXRMAHNKRO FHKRMEZE
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately RGO R BB EE -

preceding the date of grant of the relevant option and
(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

(i) Life of the Share Option Scheme (i) BRESTEIHR
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a BRI e EEME Bt T8
period of ten years commencing on the date on which EAAE R e

the Share Option Scheme is adopted.

No share options were granted since the adoption of the ERERETIIEEME  WERDE
Share Option Scheme and there are no outstanding share et mMBEAFEFR - WMEHE
options at the end of the Year. 1Tl 2 P AR R -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an Audit Committee on 18 December
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C3 of
the CG Code. The audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation
of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and
adequate disclosures have been made.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report. None of these related party
transactions constituted a connected transaction as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules for the Year.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has no
non-exempt connected transactions which are subject to the
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, Innovax
Capital Limited (the “Compliance Adviser”), save for the
compliance adviser agreement dated 7 August 2018 entered
into between the Company and the Compliance Aduviser,
neither the Compliance Adviser nor its directors, employees or
close associates had any interest in relation to the Company,
which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant to
Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules as at 31 March 2020.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital are held by the public at
all times throughout the period from the Listing Date to the
date of this annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to implementing good corporate
governance practices. Information on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 26 to 42 of this
annual report.

THE FORTHCOMING ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held at Portion
2, 12th Floor, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Central,
Hong Kong on Wednesday, 12 August 2020 at 2:30 p.m.
and the notice convening such meeting will be published and
despatched to the Shareholders in the manner as required by
the GEM Listing Rules in due course.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant events affecting the Group after the
Year and up to the date of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. The Board
has taken the Audit Committee’s recommendation that a
resolution for their re-appointment as independent auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

There is no change of independent auditors since the Listing
Date and up to the date of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board

Yeung Chi Hung
Chairman and non-executive Director
Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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Independent Auditor's Report

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WINE'S LINK INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wine's Link International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 104 to 211, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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AR L

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

BARETEE
FARETFESRBERMANZERHE R
REAMEEMBHREANBEAR/EEN
FH - GUFHEERMNETERRAY
BHRERLREABRRETRIEN - RMT
SUHELEREHEBNER

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter

BHREHEE

Valuation of inventories

EfFlEE

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
combined with the significant degree of judgments
by management associated with identifying slow-
moving inventories based on the ageing analysis and
determining the net realisable values which are based
on the current market condition, historical sales
record and subsequent selling price of inventories.
BB EFHERBREN TR HESHRER
FHRAMBRRBEZ WHESEREBFELZE
RH e HEERREBFHEFEURREER™T
NoBEHECHELAETNREEEE T HEFE
B

Net realisable value is the estimated selling prices in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling
expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of
selling products of similar nature. Management of
the Group will reassess the estimations on a product-
by-product basis at the end of the reporting period
and write down for obsolete inventories will be
made when necessary. As disclosed in notes 4 and
15 to the consolidated financial statements, the
carrying amounts of inventories as at 31 March 2020
amounted to HK$218,047,000.
AERFER—REBBRET A EERMGATLER
X o EMFADERBERETRANBUMELEER
ZBERER EEEEEESRRERNRREEE
mEBEMAEZERT TRUERFBEREFEED
OB - BINER A M MR M 4 RSB - BE T
TE=ZA=1+—H EFNHKREEZED218,047,000
BT

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNES N AHBERETSRETREE

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of
inventories included:

BREFNEE RANEZEFDOT

o Understanding and evaluating the
management’s process in identifying slow-
moving inventories, which is by making
reference to the inventory ageing analysis, and
determining the net realisable values of the
inventories;

TEREHEERERNIGHETE (2REFERE
D) REEFEN SR FENEF

e  Checking the accuracy of the ageing analysis
of inventories, on a sample basis, to purchase
invoices or other relevant supporting
documents;

BRBEERSIEMBENT  MEFERKRY
A B B FE S

o Evaluating the current market conditions in
wine industry to identify any potential adverse
impact on the selling prices and sales of the
Group's inventories; and
AEBRREETR UHZYE ESEEFNE
BREEMENEMEEEETE &

o Assessing the reasonableness of the net
realisable value of inventories with reference to
the recent selling prices or public quoted prices
of the wine products, on a sample basis.
2EFHBERNROEERRFRE U
ARAEEERAEHFENSIE M-
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Key audit matter

BREETER

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

B 5 MR 2 fh 5 R E

We identified estimated impairment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of trade receivables to the Group’s
consolidated financial position and the involvement
of subjective judgement and management estimates
in evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL")
of the Group’s trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period.

HRESRKHIEY BREGEMBERAZHEEE
UREHE EXEEESRKFIER RS HROELRE
EEE([EHEEBR])RIELTB G MNERE
st MRS B 5 UGB TR ER EEEEZ
ESEK

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s net trade
receivables amounting to approximately
HK$65,733,000 and out of these trade receivables of
approximately HK$30,512,000 were past due.
RZZE_TF=A=+—H  EBEXEEKEFHHE
7 HH 40 7365,733,0007% 7T - HH 4930,512,000/& 7T 2
pap=i

B ZBENIR T

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNES N AHERETSRETREE

Our procedures in relation to estimated impairment
of trade receivables included:

BPEEEZRUFRGIRENIEF B :

o Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables;
THEBEREEMGLAESRERENERE G
B ERES

o Testing the accuracy of trade receivables ageing
analysis as at 31 March 2020, on a sample
basis, by comparing individual items in the
analysis with the relevant sales invoices; and
FRE ST EERITEE SRS ERLER
MEARR _ZE_EF=A=+T—"RHEBSEK
IAMR I D AT 2 ZERENE %
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B BEN RS

Key audit matter

BREETER

Estimated impairment of trade receivables (continued)

B S WA 2 1G5 R E (&

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management of the
Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL on
(i) debtors with aggregated outstanding balances
exceeding HK$1,000,000 are assessed individually;
and (ii) remaining debtors are based on provision
matrix through past due status of respective trade
receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on
historical observed default rates over the past due
status of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information.

MR E M RAN T4 ERE BEEEEEM
FH) T LA BB AT (4 N oK (B& 45 #R 48 R 68 81,000,000
BT FE MR R R (i) B R B 5 U R IA #Y 8 B iR
AERBEHEEEAENRTEKERN 2 HRHESR
BESRE M EEEDREEEANB IR RIRE
THREBENEZET WRERELEERETHE-

As disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognised an impairment on
trade receivables of HK$538,000 (2019: a net reverse
of allowance for credit losses on trade receivables
of HK$188,000) during the year and the Group's
lifetime ECL on trade receivables as at 31 March
2020 amounted to approximately HK$676,000
(2019: HK$138,000).

WA B MR F6AHERE - BESERAFE
WRE 5 EWKIERES38,0008 L (ZF— NF:
B S5 RWHIAE E B R H R EF%5E188,000/8 7T )
M EEER_ZT-_TF=-A=Z1+—HHNEZFRKR
Br 2 HTEREEEEL A676,0008 T (ZE—N
4 138,000/ 7T) °
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNES N AHERETSRETREE

Challenging management’s basis and
judgement in determining credit loss allowance
on trade receivables as at 31 March 2020,
including their identification of trade receivables
which are assessed for ECL individually, the
reasonableness of management’s grouping
of the remaining trade debtors into different
categories in the provision matrix, and the
basis of estimated loss rates applied in each
category in the provision matrix (with reference
to historical default rates and forward-looking
information).
EHEBEBEEETN T -_TF=A=+—H
WEZSRKFIECEEEERERMEANELE
A& BEETENTERREERENES
FEWF IR BRI - B E R T E ZRKFIAD
EEBBEBEIRBRN BN A RERRE
WREESERNNFEHBEEXELE (K2 ZRTE
HELBIEMEER)



Independent Auditor's Report

Key audit matter
HRETEE

Valuation of deposits paid to suppliers

TR ER A S A1 (E

We identified the valuation of deposits paid to
suppliers as a key audit matter due to the involvment
of management's judgement in assessing its
recoverability.
BAEHNHRERN RSN GEERBRETFE
PR /5 8 32 T2 10 AT L A Wk 13 M B 1 ) B o

As disclosed in notes 4 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, deposits were paid to suppliers
to purchase wine's products with reference to
business plan and relevant market condition.

B BMEME RAR BTG RE £2%
EBEtaI KA M - [ R X TR & LASRIB AL
JEEE A

The Group carried out the review on deposits paid
to suppliers at the end of the reporting period and
determining the recoverability of the deposits paid
to suppliers which are based on historical purchase
record and subsequent usage of the deposits.
AEBRAREHREB NG HBEANIZSEITAT
iy WIRIR A AR B L8 7 SR BE 12 89 R R FERE (A1 it
JE P A0 B R 2 0 A [0 1 o

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of
deposits paid to suppliers was HK$129,944,000.
RZZB_ZF=ZA=+—8 HNEHEFNZRLNER
T 6 /129,944,0007% 7T °

AR L

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNES N AHERETSRETREE

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of
deposits paid to suppliers included:

BFFHE N HEEN RSN EENEN T8

o Understanding the Group’s key controls over
the assessment of the valuation of the deposits
paid to suppliers;

B EEEEFHANHERNZSOAT K
(] 14 AF ) B 5 2 1 4

° confirming the carrying amounts of deposits
paid to suppliers by confirmations, on a sample
basis;

FIRER KA MK EERI N THEFNIR
T ZREE:

o evaluating the current market conditions in
wine industry to identify any potential adverse
impact on the selling prices of the wine
products ordered by the Group;
AHEREEBITENRITHN - BRI R EE P
REERERNEMEETNTE:

o Checking the subsequent utilisation of the
deposits paid to suppliers, on a sample basis,
to the good received notes after the reporting
period; and
BAHMERENEREDERHMEEMHER
TRREMNEERABERL &

o assessing the reasonableness of the
recoverability of the deposits paid to suppliers
with reference to the supporting documents on
expected delivery time of the wine products and
recent selling prices or public quoted prices of
the wine products, on a sample basis.
SERRRE & EE W18 A I A SR
N & HEme T B E BN ARME - AR
HTABE N THEREENGEE-
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Independent Auditor's Report

B BEN RS

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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Independent Auditor's Report

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

B ZBENIR T

EERAEEMGSMBRRAREN
BfE
BERRERRABAERBEEEGIAGH
) (BEMBHREEL) REE (RF
GH) MEBEERREEEMRENGES
MBRER YHEBRRESAVBREK
BETFEANRFRERMEBNEXN
BRI FONEIESIEE -

EREFAMBmRK EFa8E 8
SESEKLENR YEBRBERTH
BRSELL2EENER UREREE
REREFER KRIFEFEAEHR BER
EERKIFULEE P EEMERNE
RITE-

REEABEEE EEENMBHRSH
{m}
==

BREMB BT FEMBHRERREAENEL

BMMBR SRV BHREEERESD
T B AREF SR RR T 8 B B KB RR
BRALEG A IBRE  WIRRETTHE 2.
BEGRER BTZRKELABER
PIE R B BED RS  BRULDASH - TRAFIAV R
SN REREMASR RNTE TR ARE
Z NE SRR E A A T AR R B EkE
REMEB - aBRERSKENRE
BAEERZRR (BEEEL) ETH
B EX -—EABERBRAFER AR
3 o SHERPR A AT LA R BRFF SR SR AR S - IR
& I TR I $8 AR R il B8 JE X P AREE SR M BE RS
ERAMBRRERERBMIERRME
h B AR EOR TE - BRI A B A0 85 RR BR A A] 4R AR
EE K-
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Independent Auditor's Report
WA ZNENERE

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise — TERIE (BFEFFTEA]) ETRTHNBR
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 1 HRFUEMR 7 HEHIE - RiF T HEER
throughout the audit. We also: REZ o BN -

102

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

78 Bl A S A B P ERFE SRR AR T B BUAR
EMBHRRFEERERR AN
B REt RATTEEFARYEL
Rl DA R BN TE B M B R B AR
FERBEMERMER - BN KF
AR RER BE ERER ER
Rt SOR B R A ERIE Sl 2 £ Bt
AL IR A M BB ERHBRR
AR EBR BN REEERRBRMER
MY B A B SR R Y LR

TR AR A AR ES] - PARRE
BENESAEF BENLEY &
SEAMEHNERERRER

AEEEMEASTERRNRE MR
EHEsH AR AR REN S E M -

HEZRARELLSTERNRE
HEE L R LR BEAERE R
EOMEELFERARERYE &
SENKERERNELERAREN
FIENBE N AR E RN HEE S - a0
REMBREFEERTHEEML A
VEEZHERETIRFEAE IR
REMBHRERTOERRE-BRESR
BARmESE  MRMEEERIEE
REBR - BFIN R 2 EN XA
HEH MBS ETRE AW
AKRFESLBERATEESR ERET

ey A
RERELE -

AHERR A M SRR EBRIIHT A
EENMAR BREKE UREAH
BHREASET A RREBEIZME
15 e



Independent Auditor's Report

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Chau Chi Ka.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FERREEMZEERE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

Year ended 31 March

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BE=ZA=+—HLHFE
—ECEF —E-NF
[t &% FET FET
Revenue W25 5 279,403 335,127
Cost of sales 5 & R (224,122) (265,298)
Gross profit EF 55,281 69,829
Other income H Ao g A 6 597 77
Other gains and losses, net H e & B85 58 6 2,851 7,704
Net (impairment of) reversal of the & 5 fEUWKIBTE Bi{E & 518 B
allowance for expected 2 ORfE) BB 55
credit loss on trade receivables (538) 188
Selling and distribution expenses HERSHAX (17,676) (14,334)
Administrative expenses THRAX (17,222) (16,196)
Finance costs & AR 7 (8,530) (6,118)
Profit before taxation & 2 Bl v ) 9 14,763 41,150
Income tax expense TSR 2 10 (2,833) (8,384)
Total comprehensive income FREMEZEKRERE
for the year 11,930 32,766
Profit and total comprehensive income LA A TFE(RF RiaF| R Hin 2
for the year attributable to Wz 48 58
— Owners of the Company . WNGIE Z SN 11,944 32,766
— Non-controlling interests — IR S (14) -
11,930 32,766
Earnings per share B2
Basic (HK cents) AR GBI 11 2.99 8.19

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2020



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
MBI AE

At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-FF=H=+—H

At 31 March
2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HK$000
EA = )51 =+-—H
Bt 2% ?zgx FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment EYSE L 13 4,973 7,419
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 14 9,848 -
Deferred tax assets IRLFIIE L & 27 662 333
Deposits e 17 2,676 1,593
18,159 9,345
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 15 218,047 204,462
Trade receivables B 5 R KRIE 16 65,733 37,978
Other receivables, deposits and Hi W HRIE - mE R
prepayments TE BUE 17 133,008 49,420
Amount due from a shareholder FEW AR R FR IR 18 - 9
Amounts due from related e NG O]
companies 19 330 254
Bank balances and cash RITEEH LIRS 20 2,360 45,760
419,478 337,883
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade payables B S ENFIE 21 7,997 2,968
Other payables and accrued charges ﬁ{ﬂzﬁ%ﬁ RIE N JEETE A 22 4,597 4,004
Contract liabilities sEHas 23 1,535 6,170
Amount due to a related company F%Eﬁ Ea) INCIE Q] 19 25,640 29,755
Tax payable FERT 1R 5,217 3,264
Bank borrowings RITER 24 182,890 112,900
Lease liabilities HEBE 25 4,637 -
Obligations under finance leases MEHEERMT 26 - 248
Provisions Bt 28 - 500
232,513 159,809
Net current assets REBEEFE 186,965 178,074
Total assets less current liabilities #2EERAEBEE 205,124 187,419
RSTLEREREARAT —E-BFEFH 105



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RSB AE

At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_ETF=H=+—H

At 31 March
2020 2019
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
R=B=+—8
t et —TNF
it &t FET FET
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Obligations under finance leases mMEMEST 26 - 55
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 5,330 -
Provisions B 28 640 140
5,970 195
Net assets EEFE 199,154 187,224
Capital and reserves BEXRHE
Share capital &% A 29 4,000 4,000
Reserves e 195,168 183,224
Equity attributable to owners RRRERAEGEEDS
of the Company 199,168 187,224
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR (14) -
Total equity R 199,154 187,224

The consolidated financial statements on pages 104 to 211 FI4AE2NEMB AV BHREREES
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of FER _FE_EFRNA-_THBEHERRK

Directors on 24 June 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: BT THUTALTRERES:
Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley Mr. Chan Sze Tung
FRBLL PR AT B £
Director Director
EF EF
1 06 Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SeERBDx

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LA YN
Non-
Share Share Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve profits Total interests equity

Bx  KBEE  REREE  REEN Bt FEREE #Ri
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKS000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET

(Note)
(Wit)
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\E@A-A 4,000 76,298 27,458 46,702 154,458 - 154,458
Profit and total ERENREBZ NS
comprehensive income fag
for the year - - - 32,766 32,766 - 32,766
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=F=1-8 4,000 76,298 27458 79,468 187,224 - 187,224
Profit and total EMENREBZANE
comprehensive income fag
for the year - - - 11,944 11,944 (14) 11,930
At 31 March 2020 R-2-FE-F=1-H 4,000 76,298 27458 91,412 199,168 (14) 199,154

Note: Other reserve represents the balance of HK$7,458,000 in Biet: K@ EEE S —A~"F=A=1+—

relation to the shareholder’s contribution in relation to derivative HitFEASEET EEEE (RAFE
financial instruments entered between Mr. Ting Chi Wai P EREAA)FI L2 ITERMTIAE
Roy (“Mr. Roy Ting”), one of the beneficiary owners of the H 2 R A B R A £87,458,00078 T
Company, and the Group during the year ended 31 March 2016 UWEkBEZZE—R"F=ZA=+—HLF
and the effect of reorganisation of HK$20,000,000 during the B2 EHF 220,000,000 T °

year ended 31 March 2016.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZE-—Z-_TF=A=+—HIFE

Year ended 31 March

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$°000
Eﬁ =A=t+—-HLEE
—E-EF —ZE-NEF
FET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K ETEE
Profit before taxation [ﬁﬁ%%ﬂﬁ e A 14,763 41,150
Adjustments for: TP ZIBELTFE
Depreciation of property and equipment — #%¥ &R 1T & 2,863 3,323
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREENE 4,314 -
Net impairment of (reversal of) the BIRBEREEBERE L
allowance for credit losses on trade A (B E ) FEE
receivables 538 (188)
Finance costs R E AN 8,530 6,118
Bank interest income |ITHFEUA (350) (39)
Net loss on disposals of property and HEYE N EREFER
equipment - 5
Operating cash flows before movements “EE4LEFH 2 KEHLRE
in working capital 30,658 50,369
Increase in inventories FEEM (13,585) (66,797)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables =) A& Iﬁ(i*jju),)akd\ (28,293) 12,397
Increase in other receivables, deposits and EhEUFRIE - 24 RIE ZIE
prepayments & hn (84,888) (18,226)
Decrease in amount due from a JE U B B N B ERIE R
related company - 2,300
Decrease (increase) in amount due from a  JEUR — & AR5 Z 8R4 (32 hn0)
shareholder 9 9
Increase (decrease) in trade payables B o EMZEEMCED) 5,029 (1,743)
Increase in other payables and accrued o th i (< 5008 [ fE 51 & FR A0
charges 657 650
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities & #A&EGHKD )& (4,635) 3,316
Increase in provisions B - 140
Cash generated used in operations SEMARS (95,048) (17,603)
Income tax paid B FEH (1,209) (8,035)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 454 & 85 FR 35 & 5 48 (96,257) (25,638)

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ﬁéiﬁﬁlllbgi

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE-ZT-_TF=A=+—HIFE

Year ended 31 March

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$°000
E‘Z = ﬁ =+—-HALFEE
?zgx FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEY
Bank interest received EYERITHIE 350 39
Purchase of property and equipment HEWENKRE (885) (4,590)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits R E ERIRITIE R - 2,000
Repayments from related companies A N EEN - 24
Advances to related companies Bl NS E=E (76) (230)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES & & /5 & AR & 558 (611) (2,757)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Interest paid on bank borrowings ERRITEERNE (8,083) (6,118)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENEEEENE (447) -
Repayments of finance leases BEHEER - (693)
New bank borrowings raised EERBITERITER 456,243 458,962
Repayment of bank borrowings BRRITER (391,130) (473,648)
Repayment for lease liabilities BEHEERE (3.877) -
(Repayment to) advance from () — T A BEE 12 RAE 3K
a related company —RIRE A E 2 B (4,115) 29,755
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BE/EEEIE & /F5E 48,591 8,258
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH Re MR EEYRLFRE
EQUIVALENTS (48,277) (20,137)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FURENRIREEEBY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 45,760 65,897
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND FARBENIESZED
OF THE YEAR (2,517) 45,760
represented by: BHIATRE :
bank balances and cash IRITEBR MRS 2,360 45,760
bank overdrafts RITHEX (4,877) -
(2,517) 45,760
RSEEERERERAT —B-BFER 109



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

110

GENERAL

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
on 22 September 2016 and the shares of the Company
have been listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
Company’s registered office is at PO Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands,
and the principal place of business is in 26th Floor, AIA
Financial Centre, 712 Prince Edward Road East, San Po
Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The shareholders of the Company are Shirz Limited
("Shirz”), a limited company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI") which holds 42%
equity interests in the Company and wholly owned by
Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley (“Ms. Shirley Wong”), and
Sunshine Consultancy Company Limited (“Sunshine
Consultancy”), a limited company incorporated in the
BVI which holds 28% equity interests in the Company
and wholly owned by Mr. Roy Ting, spouse of Ms. Shirley
Wong (Mr. Roy Ting together with Ms. Shirley Wong
collectively known as the “Controlling Shareholders”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
40. The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
principally engaged in trading of premium wine and wine
cellar.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for
the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Leases

Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments

Amendments to
HKFRS 9

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

Amendments to
HKAS 19

Amendments to
HKAS 28

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time
in the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17
Leases ("HKAS 17"), and the related interpretations.
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BRI REBITEREME
HEAA(ERYBREE
A1) #)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) 2.1 BEKREEREI165HE

REEBRFERZHITREBITE
BRMBHREER (&F)

112

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient
to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were
previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this
standard to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the
Group has not reassessed contracts which already
existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
1 April 2019, the Group applies the definition of a
lease in accordance with the requirements set out in
HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract contains a
lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively
with the cumulative effect recognised at the date of
initial application, 1 April 2019.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at the
amounts equal to the related lease liabilities
by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any
difference at the date of initial application is
recognised in the opening accumulated profits and
comparative information has not been restated.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach
under HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the
following practical expedients to leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on
lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the
respective lease contracts:

i relied on the assessment of whether leases
are onerous by applying HKAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”
as an alternative of impairment review;

ii elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for leases with lease term
ends within 12 months of the date of initial
application;

i excluded initial direct costs from measuring
the right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application; and

iv. used hindsight based on facts and
circumstances as at date of initial application
in determining the lease term for the Group’s
leases with extension options.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases
previously classified as operating leases, the
Group has applied incremental borrowing rates
of the relevant group entities at the date of initial
application. The weighted average incremental
borrowing rate applied is 4.7%.

2.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZZT-_TF-A=-+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERFIIRKETEEAMK
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG WREER ([BEBUBREE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Aall) (&)

("HKFRSs") (continued)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are REEBRBERZHTRRIETTE
mandatorily effective for the current year BEMBEREER (&)
(continued)
2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) 2.1 BEUBHREZENEIHEHEAE
(%&)
As a lessee (continued) EREMEA (&)
At 1 April
2019
Note HK$’000
R-ZZE—-NEF
A—H
Mt it FET

Operating lease commitments disclosed R = Z—AF=A=+—HKE
as at 31 March 2019 2B HE AR 7,114

Lease liabilities discounted at relevant IZiERIIZEE E N XM 2B E

incremental borrowing rates aE 6,827
Less: Recognition exemption — B R R—REEE
short-term leases (2,718)
Add: Obligations under finance leases MR -_ZTE—AF=A=+—H
recognised at 31 March 2019 MR 2 mb & THE AR (a) 303
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 RZE—NFHA—BZHEE
BfE 4,412
Analysed as aiv=
Current mE 2,211
Non-current IERED 2,201
4,412
1 14 Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERFIIRKETEEAMK
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG WREER ([EBUBHREE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Aall) (&)

("HKFRSs") (continued)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are AEEBRBERZHITRRIETE
mandatorily effective for the current year BEMBEREER (£)
(continued)
2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) 2.1 BEUBHREENEIHEHEAE
(&)
As a lessee (continued) EREMEA (&)
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own R-T—-NFOA—R fA#AE
use as at 1 April 2019 comprises the following: RAzERAEEEZREEREIN
T&IE:
Right-of-use
assets
Note HK$'000
ERHEEE
Bt 2% FEIT

Right-of-use assets relating to operating 7 & Fi & /8 B 75 3R &5 £ B 51657
leases recognised upon application of FEERELLHEES@ 2 FH

HKFRS 16 BEE 4,109
Amounts included in property and BIEEBGENE TR A
equipment under HKAS 17 MERZRHBZ R
— Assets previously under finance —ERRMEHREE N2 EE
leases (a) 926
Adjustments on rental deposits at RZE-NFHEA—-BZ
1 April 2019 HeEke AR (b) 49

Right-of-use assets as at 1 April 2019 WR_-ZT—AFMA— B ZFR#E

BE 5,084
By class: RO
Properties LIES 4,158
Motor vehicles RE 926

RSELERERERAT —B-BEFH 115
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZE-—Z-_TF=A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

(@ In relation to assets previously under finance leases,
the Group recategorised the carrying amounts of
the relevant assets which were still under lease as
at 1 April 2019 amounting to HK$926,000 as right-
of-use assets. In addition, the Group reclassified the
obligations under finance leases of HK$248,000 and
HK$55,000 to lease liabilities as current and non-
current liabilities respectively at 1 April 2019.

(b) Before the application of HKFRS 16, the Group
considered refundable rental deposits paid as
rights and obligations under leases to which HKAS
17 applied under other receivables. Based on the
definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right to
use of the underlying assets and were adjusted
to reflect the discounting effect at transition.
Accordingly, HK$49,000 was adjusted to refundable
rental deposits paid and right-of-use assets.

1 1 6 Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE-ZT-_TF=A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERFHITIRLEITEEBMK
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG REER (BB BHREE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Al &)

REEBFERZHITREBITE
BMBEREER (F)

2.1 BEMBHREZEAEI6HHE
(%)
1EREMBA (&)
AEEEHR _Z-NFNA—
B HYER & B 5 R 2R AR, E’Jigﬁ
EHIA T EHRBE - X

As a lessee (continued)

The following adjustments were made to the
amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 1 April 2019. Line items that

were not affected by the changes have not been Z2MIEE X TRELA -
included.
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16
31 March 2019 Adjustments at 1 April 2019
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REEENE
SRR BERAE16H
“E-hE R-B-t%
=ZA=t+-8 A-Bz
EHRZRER HE REE
fifzt T T TET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property and equipment EYE @ 7,419 (926) 6,493
Deposits ke (b) 1,593 (49) 1,544
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 5,084 5,084
Current liabilities RBEE
Obligations under finance leases HEMERR (@) 248 (248) -
Lease liabilities HEak - 2,211 2,211
Non-current liabilities FrBas
Obligations under finance leases BERERML ) 55 (55) -
Lease liabilities MEARE - 2,201 2,201

For the purpose of reporting cash flows from
operating activities under indirect method for the
year ended 31 March 2020, movements in working
capital have been computed based on opening

MBREEHE_ZTE_ZTF=A
—t+—HIEFEREBEELS

%ﬁ&zfﬁﬁmiﬁﬁ A

CEBEE®

BEREXABEER_F—N

consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 FUA— B2 FVEE B
April 2019 as disclosed above. Rit&Eo

RBBEERERERAT —B-ZFFRH
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to Definition of a Business?

2.

BRI REBITEREME
BEZA([BEBMBREE
all) #)

CEMEERERNFT REEBET
EBMHBREER
NEBW EZ R ERIATCEME M
REMOF ] RIESEFTB B RS
R
EBYBREE RBRAEL

B 1758
EBMBRELE EBHTR?

HKFRS 3 AIZE35% (18351
)

Amendments Sale or Contribution of Assets EXETHRE H/EEREBZEA
to HKFRS 10 between an Investor and its ZERIZE105 K A AEEED
and HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture? BEBGFERN SIFABEE

285 (1857
)

Amendments to Definition of Material* BEAGEANE ERNTER

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 1R EEE
FHAERIFE 8
(1BFT )

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?*
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39

and HKFRS 7

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions®

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning
of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January

BAEMBREE FREEHP
AIF5  BE
SRrERIE39
S b &= 8 B R
WELERET
5 (BT A)

BAEMBERE
EHE165%
(ERTA)

Covid-191H BT &
RS

! R-ZF_—F—A— ARz’
B 6 JE HAR A R o

2 HWEHHRA -2 -2 —A—H
KRB EBEFEME K
BOEBEHREEWRBES-

2020.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date 3 AR E B HIR A S 2 B /) B
to be determined. ER e

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 4 RZZBEZTEF-—H—BRAKBI2E
January 2020. SO S

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 5 RZZEZEFA—BRKEZE
2020. WERREER -

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to
HKFRSs, a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting was issued in 2018. Its consequential
amendments, the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

2.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of
Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition
of material by including additional guidance and
explanations in making materiality judgments. In
particular, the amendments:

2.

BRI REBITEREME
BEZA([BEBMBREE
all) #)

EEEMERNFIRREBGHE
RISE8 (BT R)EANESR
AZEER B BIACELER LA
BB M) BRSNS B MR BB E
BETTE - LER %ZFEBF

e include the concept of “obscuring” material e BEIBEIFEZEEMZ#MS
information in which the effect is similar to omitting HBEBRIBRBERBEUK
or misstating the information; e

J replace threshold for materiality influencing users
from “could influence” to “could reasonably be
expected to influence”; and

o include the use of the phrase “primary users”
rather than simply referring to “users” which
was considered too broad when deciding what
information to disclose in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all
HKFRSs and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 April 2020. The application
of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 (the “New Framework”) and the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:
J reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

° introduces a new asset definition that focuses on
rights and a new liability definition that is likely to
be broader than the definition it replaces, but does
not change the distinction between a liability and
an equity instrument;

. discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

e states that the primary measure of financial
performance is profit or loss, and that only in
exceptional circumstances other comprehensive
income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current
value of an asset or liability; and

. discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of
account, the reporting entity and combined
financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the
New Framework, whilst some HKFRSs are still referred
to the previous versions of the framework. These
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2020, with earlier application
permitted. Other than specific standards which still refer
to the previous versions of the framework, the Group
will rely on the New Framework on its effective date
in determining the accounting policies especially for
transactions, events or conditions that are not otherwise
dealt with under the accounting standards.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis and in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements are determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”,
leasing transactions in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since
1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS
16), and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of assets”.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

J Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

J Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out
below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

3.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE-ZT-_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

J the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

The Group recognises revenue mainly from the sales
of wine products at point in time when the customer
obtains control of the wine products.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leasing

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of properties that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasing (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

J any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;

J any lease payment made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentive
received; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon
exercising purchase options, the cost of the relevant
right-of-use assets and the related accumulated
depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to
property and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZE-—Z-_TF=A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leasing (continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease include:

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable; and

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use assets) whenever the lease term has changed in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leasing (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

J the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e  the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee (prior to 1 April 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the consolidated statement of financial
position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In the event
that lease incentives are received to enter into operating
leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property and equipment over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on assets other than financial
assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its assets other than financial
assets to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of assets other than financial
assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment loss on assets other than financial
assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

EXEBE#)

EMEEUNEEZRERE
(%)

A] U (O] & 88 s A PR T B AR AN
EREEZEE NHEEREE
R & AR B AT 5 8 & B
BZRERRARBAERRRREM
AR BEREZRR 2 BRI KA,
REHBE-

MEE (KBRS ELEM) 2 YK E
EREFOIREREE MEE (3
ReEASEM) 2REENTRER
AT Bl & RE - BERBEIR A IR — A K
DEERTELBENNEREEL—
MoCXEEMS AREEK—A
ReELEUNERE (BROIKE
ZAREELEMNNEEREER
DEEEEMEREE) BZARESE
A BB B AT YR B R IB AR EL B o TR 0 B
BB EER  BEEBE I E KD IRMA
HORE A E 2 BREE (HEA) -
REARRZEMSZARCELE
I & EEREER L OIHREME
E-AERRETENREEARER
FEBOERA (HBA THE) -
HEREBE (WA TEE) RTEZ&
BE - BRTOREEENRERRE
SRDREPIDEEZEMLNEME
R ERR T AR N8 E AR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment loss on assets other than financial
assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BEASITHEHE (&)
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) ST E (&)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE-ZT-_TF=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except
that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.

EXEHE#)

SRMIA(£)
TREE (&)
CREENSBREETE (&)

AR MEERRRAFENA
1Bz ([RAFEFAEm ] FTE
EERERE LY ®REELEISR
SERBREMEEL R - MERARER
BUHFIERE  MFRBESHERE
MRS EREIN [XBEA 6] E
AEBA T EABHIARE K
SEA A RE & ER At 2 E R
@mEJBARENEE N FER

b A - 25 52 B ] A AT S i 8 T R IR
BRI A ER AR M2 ER
ST EMEREERE R FERAR
@ AR R B ADER AR D&
sTEREC -

B GH AR R B A
%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁ%&ﬁﬁ&zﬁﬁéﬂ’ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁ
5 MBI ATIE R BRI B
R %'JEH&)\EﬁTévﬂﬁEZﬁEE
BEBBERNXRGE EERHRE
ERENEBEERIN(BTX) -4
RERBREERENEBEE 7
BRATIBE T —EAREHEHESHME
BEZ BN E MBI R R - i
FERESRTANEERRITE
EEMEETHEERE" %lJ/%\HSZ)\
AlEEEREETBHRAGEERER
MRS HRFARECREERTA
BMEAERNRER -

RBBXERZERERAT —B-ZFFRH

135



136

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ—

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables and
deposits, amount due from a shareholder, amounts due
from related companies, bank balances) and financial
guarantee contracts which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month (“12m") ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. Except for those debtors with aggregated
outstanding balances exceeds HK$1,000,000 who are
assessed individually, the lifetime ECL on remaining
debtors are assessed on a collective basis based on the
past due status of the trade receivables. The ECL on those
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix i.e.
analysis of trade-related receivables by past due ageing
analysis and apply a probability-weighted estimate of the
credit loss within the relevant time band. The probability-
weighted estimate of the credit loss is determined
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current as well as forecast direction of conditions at
the end of the reporting period, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’'s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment.
For financial guarantee contracts, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

° when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(ii)  Definition of default (continued)

The Group considers that default has occurred
when the instrument is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) -~ Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer of
the borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

o it is becoming probably that the borrower

will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice when
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZE-—Z-_TF=A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected loss is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks
are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis to
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
debtors with aggregated outstanding balances
not exceeding HK$1,000,000 are assessed
as a separate group. The debtors with
aggregated outstanding balances exceeding
HK$1,000,000, other receivables and deposits,
amounts due from a shareholder and related
companies, bank balances and financial
guarantee contracts are assessed for ECL on an
individual basis);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the
management of the Group to ensure the constituents
of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances
are recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZE-—Z-_TF=A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Classification as financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including trade payables, other
payables, bank borrowings and amount due to a related
company are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("MPF Scheme"”) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost,
interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or
permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profits. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed
on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use
assets over the lease payments for the principal portion
of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligations, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZE-—Z-_TF=A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management of the
Group is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimates is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets within the next twelve months.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
selling expenses. These estimates are based on the
current market condition and the historical experience
of selling products of similar nature. Management of
the Group will reassess the estimations on a product-
by-product basis at the end of the reporting period and
write down for obsolete inventories will be made when
necessary.

There is no written-off of inventories during the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. As at 31 March 2020,
the carrying amount of inventories is HK$218,047,000
(2019: HK$204,462,000).

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group measured lifetime ECL
on (i) debtors with aggregated outstanding balances
exceeding HK$1,000,000 are assessed individually; and
(ii) remaining debtors are based on provision matrix
through past due status of respective trade receivables.
Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed
default rates over the past due status of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information. The
assessment of credit risk of trade receivables involves high
degree of estimation uncertainty. When the actual future
cash flows are less than expected or more than expected,
a material impairment loss or a material reversal of
impairment loss may arise accordingly in future periods.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ—

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
(continued)

The ECL assessment is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group's
trade receivables are disclosed in notes 36 and 16,
respectively. The carrying amount of trade receivables
is HK$65,733,000 (2019: HK$37,978,000) net of
impairment of HK$676,000 (2019: HK$138,000) as at 31
March 2020.

Impairment of deposits paid to the suppliers

As disclosed in note 17, the Group had deposits paid to
the suppliers for the purchase of wines. The Group does
not require collateral or other security against its deposits
paid to the suppliers. The Group performs ongoing
evaluation of impairment of deposits paid to the suppliers
due to a change of market conditions and the financial
conditions of its suppliers. The evaluation also takes into
account the quality and timeframe of the products to be
delivered to the Group. When the deposits would not be
settled as expected and the credit quality of the suppliers
changed, the Group would impair the deposits paid to
the suppliers.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no
impairment was made on the deposits paid to suppliers.
The carrying amount of deposits paid to the suppliers
as at 31 March 2020 is HK$129,944,000 (2019:
HK$47,235,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE-ZT-_TF=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL
INFORMATION

Revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
was disclosed as follows:

Wi & 2 &F &

iy 2
BEPANWm s o BEIMT

Year ended 31 March
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE=A=1+—-HLEE
—2=-8F C—TNF

FET FHET
Sales of wines products BAELEMEE
— Wine products —HEHBER 262,551 296,443
— Other alcoholic beverages —H MR m 16,152 36,459
— Wine accessory products —BEBE4ER 700 2,225
Total revenue BN 279,403 335,127
Geographical markets: WEMS :
Hong Kong 575 279,403 335,127
Timing of revenue recognition: W AR A
A point in time R 2 279,403 335,127

For sales of wines products, revenue is recognised when
the control of goods is transferred, being when the
goods are delivered to the customer’s specific location.
Transportation and other related activities that incurred
before customers obtain control of the related products
are considered as fulfilment activities. A receivable is
recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered
to the customers as this represents the Group’'s right
to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due. The
contracts signed with the customers are fixed price
contracts. The normal credit term is 30 to 120 days upon
delivery.

All the Group's contracts with customers with unsatisfied
performance obligations have original expected duration
of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31
March 2020 and 2019 is not disclosed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

154

REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL
INFORMATION (continued)

Segmental information

The Group’s operations are solely derived from sale and
distribution of wine products, other alcoholic beverages
and wine accessory products in Hong Kong during
the year. For the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment, the chief operating decision
maker (i.e. the chief executive of the Group) reviews the
overall results and financial position of the Group as a
whole prepared based on same accounting policies set
out in note 3. Accordingly, the Group has only one single
operating segment and no further analysis of this single
segment is presented.

Geographical information

No geographical segment information is presented as
the Group’s revenue are all derived from Hong Kong
based on the location of goods delivered and the Group’s
property and equipment are all located in Hong Kong by
physical location of assets.

Information about major customers

No individual customer was accounted for over 10% of
the Group’s total revenue during both years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND 6. Hhl A "Hittwzm &k EE
LOSSES, NET HEE
Other income Hg A
Year ended 31 March
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE=A=1+—HLEE
—B-FF T NHF
FET FET
Bank interest income RITH BUA 350 39
Others Eb 247 38
597 77
Other gains and losses, net Hithm REEFHE
Year ended 31 March
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$000
BE=A=1+—HLHFE
—E-EF —ZE-NF
FETT FET
Net loss on disposals of property and  HE W LR EFEE
equipment - (5)
Net exchange gain ME W U o F 5R 2,851 7,709
2,851 7,704
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZZT-_TF-A=-+—HILFE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BMERAK
Year ended 31 March
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

BE=A=1t—HLEE
—EEHF —E-NF

FET FHETT
The finance costs represent interest on: g &K ATEHE 5K 1HE 2 F
8 :
— bank borrowings —RITER 8,083 6,094
— lease liabilities —HEAE 447 -
— obligations under finance leases -BMEHEERE - 24
8,530 6,118
8. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 8. EE FETHAERESH
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS =
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) ESERFETHAEZHE
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors RARFE B EMN TFARAF
and chief executive of the Company during the year EENTETHRABZEHW
were as follows: ™
1 56 Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 8. EE FETHAERESH
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) & (&)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments () EERFETHABZHE
(continued) (&)
Salaries, Retirement
allowance benefits
Directors’ and other scheme
fee benefits  contributions Total
¥é 28 BIRER
20k REMEF I @zt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL FET TET

For the year ended BE-2-%%=8

31 March 2020 St-HLEE
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Shirley Wong (note /) TEBLL (HHi) - 480 18 498
Mr. Chan Sze Tung R £ & - 39 18 414
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung BEALLE - - - -
Ms. Ho Tsz Wan MERLL - - - -

Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTES

Mr. Wong Hin Wing BEERLE 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Wai Yan, Ronald BRELEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Cheng Yiu Tong (note i BREEE (M) % - - yl!
Ms. Chan Man Ki, Maggie (note ii RER L L (fiii) 96 - - 96

360 876 36 1,272
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZZT-_TF-A=-+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 8. BEE -FETHAEREEM

independent non-executive director on 13 June

2019.
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EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) & (&)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERFETHAEZEHE
(continued) (#&)
Salaries, Retirement
allowance henefits
Directors’ and other scheme
fee benefits  contributions Total
e 28 RIKEF
2k REMBER BELiS S @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FEL FiEn FEL FEr
For the year ended BE-T-N%E=A
31 March 2019 ZT-ALEE
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Shirley Wong (note i) TERat (M) - 480 18 498
Mr. Chan Sze Tung BFRLE - 360 18 378
Non-executive directors FUTES
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung BEATL - - - -
Ms. Ho Tsz Wan gLt - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUFATES
Mr. Wong Hin Wing BEELE 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Wai Yan, Ronald RELCEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Cheng Yiu Tong (note i) BRELE (Watii) 120 - - 120
360 840 36 1,236
Notes: Bt at -
(i) Ms. Shirley Wong acts as the chief executive of the (i) TEBRZLTHAAREBRZITH
Group. BE -
(i) Mr. Cheng Yiu Tong was resigned on 13 June 2019. (i) BREEER-ZT—NFA
T8I
(i) Ms. Chan Man Ki, Maggie was appointed as (i) FMREHLZLTR_ZT—HLFRA

T=REZERBIUIFNTE
g
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

The emoluments of executive directors shown above
were for the directors’ services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group. The non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services
as the directors of the Company. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company.

During both years, no performance related bonus
was paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company.

During both years, no remuneration was paid by
the Group to the directors of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors of the Company has waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals included one
(2019: two) directors of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2020, whose emoluments
are included in the disclosures in (a) above. The
emoluments of the remaining four (2019: three)
individuals for the year ended 31 March 2020, are
as follows:

8. EEX FETHAERESMH

& (&)
() BEEREETHARBZHME
()

(b)

EXFARZATEERE I RE
ERARRIRAEEZEEER
BRAZESRY - EXFIRZIE
HITEERR IAREFERLE
B2EF 2RI EXFIRZHE
VIRHITESFHREIRNEER
AEBEZEFE 2R -

REEFE  AEEBERAR
A EE X HMERAESARREA -

R E SRR AR BB &R A
RAEEXEMFM - AES
AR IMARE B 1R 2 BEEhak
ERBREE - MEARRES
P R RER 3 R B hRE A 1A B
4o

EEME
RBE-_E-_TEF=ZA=+—
HIEFA AAZEHHIALY
BEARE—RERE(ZZE—N
F ML) HME&BEH A LX
QZHE-BHE-_ZT_TF=A4
Z+t—HIEFE HHEZEAL
(ZZE—NF =ZR)2HME&5 7
UNNE

Year ended 31 March

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$000
BE=A=1+—HLEE
—B-FF  —TNF
FET FEIT
Salaries, allowance and other Fa EEENEMER
benefits 2,328 2,435
Retirement benefits scheme RAKIE A 52 #
contributions 74 90
2,402 2,525
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZZT-_TF-A=-+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 8. EE FETHBAEBRESH
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) & (#)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (continued) (b) EERME (&)
The number of the highest paid non-director X THFEEREZEMEA
employees whose emoluments fell within the AMABWT :

following band is as follows:

Year ended 31 March

2020 2019
Number of Number of
employees employees

BE=ZA=1+—HLEE
—E-EF —EAF
EEANE ESEAE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 4 3
During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, REBZE_T_TFR_FT—NF
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the ZA=+—BHIEFR NEEH
non-director and non-chief executive highest paid mErEeTMALT (FESEKIFE
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining FETHAB)XNEMME
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. RERBMASRINAREEE 2
RESERBERMIE-
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fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. KRELAIEF
Year ended 31 March
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

BE=ZA=1t—HLEE
—E-EHF —E-NF

FET FET
Profit before taxation has been arrived [ %4 B13% F| 512305 T %1 & 1B 1%
at after charging: ER
Auditor’s remuneration % E AN BN & 1,100 1,000
Cost of inventories recognised as an R AR 2 FEHK A
expense 224,122 265,298
Depreciation of property and equipment #) % % 3% 5 #7 & 2,863 3,323
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 4,314 -
Directors’ remuneration (note 8) EE5HM (KaES) 1,272 1,236
Other staff costs HEfE T4
Salaries and other benefits e hHimEF 11,308 7,976
Retirement benefits scheme RRAE FFT S 5k
contributions 513 360
Total staff costs 488 T R A 13,093 9,572
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FrEMHB X
Year ended 31 March
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
HE=A=+—HLFE
—EZEHF —E-NF
FET FET
Hong Kong Profits Tax: EENEH
— Current tax —BNERRL T8 3,203 7,399
— (Over)underprovision in prior years ~ —f{E F##E T (%) (41) 1,260
Deferred tax credit (note 27) EEFIEE R (MaF27) (329) (275)
2,833 8,384
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fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. PRGBS ()

The Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the HEEBREEERMS At ERN
first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and A2 B2E BB LIRS 25% T E R
at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 BFEH MBE2E 8B HETE
million for the qualifying group entity. The profits of the A E16.5% E - A A F1F
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax RGBS 2 R EE RS2 AR
regime will be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. H—HE16.5%EF

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to F N2 P55t 5 2 AT R R 5 B A6
the profit before taxation as follows: RN :

Year ended 31 March
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$°000
BE=A=+—-HLEE
—®-®FE —TNF

FET FET

Profit before taxation R T3 BT A 14,763 41,150
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate 12 & B F 158 £16.5%:F 2 H 18

of 16.5% 2,436 6,790
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A[HIFIB S 2 FIE 2 &

for tax purpose 662 507
Tax effect of income not taxable for  HERBRURA ZTHRIETE

tax purpose (36) (33)
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERZAHBE FERE 2

differences not recognised 2 - 52
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates ~ FBEMBMERRGIE 2 F £

regime in Hong Kong (165) (165)
(Over)underprovision in respect of BEFE (BRE)BETR

prior years (41) 1,260
Others HAh (23) (27)
Income tax expense for the year FEMEHRHEX 2,833 8,384
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fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE-ZT-_TF=A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Since August 2016, Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department (“IRD"”) issued certain enquiry letters to
Wine’s Link Limited (“Wine's Link”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, requesting for details of
certain expenses and depreciation allowances claimed
by Wine's Link for the years of assessment 2010/11 to
2015/16.

In March 2017, the IRD has issued additional assessment
for the year of assessment 2010/11 (”Additional
Assessment 2010/11") demanding additional tax of
HK$396,000 solely because of the time-bar concern. In
April 2017, an objection has been filed by Wine's Link
to the IRD and tax reserve certificate of HK$396,000 for
conditional stand-over order of objection against the
Additional Assessment 2010/11 were purchased by the
Group.

In March 2018, the IRD has issued additional assessment
for the year of assessment 2011/12 (”Additional
Assessment 2011/12") demanding additional tax of
HK$495,000 solely because of time-bar concern. In April
2018, an objection has been filed by Wine's Link to the
IRD. In May 2018, tax reserve certificate of HK$495,000
for conditional stand-over order of objection against the
Additional Assessment 2011/12 were purchased by the
Group.

In March 2019, the IRD has issued additional assessment
for the year of assessment 2012/13 (”Additional
Assessment 2012/13") demanding additional tax of
HK$495,000 solely because of time-bar concern. In April
2019, an objection has been filed by Wine's Link to the
IRD. In May 2019, tax reserve certificate of HK$495,000
for conditional stand-over order of objection against the
Additional Assessment 2012/13 were purchased by the
Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that an additional
tax payable of HK$1,260,000 was recognised for the
disallowance on depreciation allowance for the years
of assessment 2010/11 to 2015/16 by IRD after taking
advices from Wine’s Link’s tax representative.

10. Fr 1§ *REﬁS'Z(f“

E-ZE—AFNAR FEMRBED
Uﬁ?%”ﬁ$ AZEZEMBA
ARG (BEE)AERAA ([EE OB
F)HELETERRHG BREHE
BE(EE)R_T—ZT —F=%
TR/ "FABRFEMRERN
TR REEFIS-

R_E—+F = BREBER=
—E/——¢¥M¢F%ﬁﬁ%%m
([ZF2—F/——FBINER]) &
FR PA A 4 B PR B8 ) T 2 5 3#396,000
BITHNBEINRE-R_T—tFN0
A B (BE)ABERRERY
mMAEEeEE T ——%F
FINTIHREDBEH BRI RSB
A3E396,00078 7T 2 fEFi 5 o

RZE—NF=ZR BHBEBREH=
T——/—ZFFBHFERELREIN
I ([Z2——/—Z—F5E\IF
MIEHERNREERETMNERE
495,000/ TTHRAIMNRIE - R =ZF— 1\
FpA - W%(E%)mﬁ%%fm
H-R-_E—N\FRA AEEEH
= T——/—_Eﬁ%%m&ﬁ
B 5 &1 4 B 3 < B8 A #£495,000
B2 EBF -

R-ZBE-AE=A BHBROH#=
T/ ZFFBFERELREIN
B ([ZE—=— / —=F8EIT
RIEARNSERRETmERkE
495,000/ 8 TTHREINEIE - R =T — 1L
FMA B (BX)ABEERREER
H-R-_E—NFRA AEEEH
BT —— /—=ZFHEINTHRY
B 5 &1 42 B B 5 < B8 A #£495,000
B2 EBFH -

BE-T-NAF=A=t—BL%
B AAREERA ERIEE OB
$)BBREZERE CHEHRK
BR=F—F,/ ——FE-F—H/
— R 2 T B R
®EHMIIEN,260,00078 7T ©
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fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. 8RER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share RRARHEB AEBGEEREARRRN TR
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the T EHGTE:

following data:

Year ended 31 March
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE=A=1+—HILEE
—E=FF T OF

FHET FHET
Earnings: A F
Profit for the year attributable to FTESREXRZNFAERZ
owners of the Company for the RARHE NEIEARTFE R A
purpose of basic earnings per share 11,944 32,766
Year ended 31 March
2020 2019
‘000 ‘000
BE=-ZA=1+T—-HLFE
—BEF —E-NF
TR Fhag
Number of shares: RMHEE
Number of ordinary shares for the ATEERERRFM
purpose of basic earnings per share {8 2 @R A 400,000 400,000
No diluted earnings per share for both years were RREFERNTRE2REGREER
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in M-ARRMEFEANDEEETE
issue during both years. g e
12. DIVIDEND 12. BRE
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary P MR AE 5 5 A - 3 AR A 388 BRI
shareholders of the Company or other group entities ERIRE TARRE 2 & B R SR
comprising the Group during both years, nor has any AEBZHMEBEER gHERH
dividend been proposed since the end of each reporting ERETEEZRRNEMMRE -
period.
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fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 13. MERRE
Leasehold Office  Furniture and Computer
improvements  equipment fixtures  equipment Motor vehicles Total
AEXEIR WAERE  HERKE ElRE RE @t
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
T FEr FEr T T T
cosT wR
At 1 April 2018 R-E-\E=f-H 6,669 432 988 1321 4,783 14,193
Additions RE 3,829 255 52 610 - 4746
Disposals e - - - (100) (9 (109)
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NFZA=1-H 10,498 687 1,040 1,831 4,774 18,830
Adjustment upon application of RERRRIBREENS 165
HKFRS 16 EES - - - - (2,987) (2,987)
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZE-NEWA-A(EF) 10,498 687 1,040 1831 1,787 15,843
Additions hE 334 13 58 316 - 821
Transfer from right-of-use assets HERBBRELE - - - - 2,467 2,467
At 31 March 2020 RZE-ZE-f=1-H 10,832 800 1,098 2,147 4,254 19,131
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\EWA—H 3,556 130 718 m 3,077 8,192
Provided for the year TEEANER 2,091 195 78 184 715 3323
Eliminated on disposals HERSH - - - (100) 4 (104)
At 31 March 2019 \E-NE=R=1-H 5,647 325 79 795 3,848 11,411
Adjustment upon application of RERBRYRRESEEF165
HKFRS 16 [ - - - - (2,061) (2,061)
At 1 April 2019 (restated) R-E-NEWA-A(E]) 5,647 325 79 79 1,787 9,350
Provided for the year REERARE 1894 65 9 428 384 2,863
Transfer from right-of-use assets BERBBREEE - - - - 1,945 1,945
At 31 March 2020 R-E-FFZA=1-H 7541 390 888 1223 4116 14,158
CARRYING VALUES FEE
At 31 March 2020 RZEZFF=A=T-H 3291 410 210 924 138 4973
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NE=A=1-H 4,851 362 244 1,036 926 7419
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. MERRME (#)
The above items of property and equipment are A EW % LB EIE B TR T 5|
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates NEREENE:
per annum:
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the HEXZETE HEHRNHSF
lease terms or 5 years ZREE
Office equipment 20% WAERE 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20% FEEEE 20%
Computer equipment 20% to 50% BB 20% to 50%
Motor vehicles 20% e 20%
As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amounts of motor R-ZZTE—-—NF=A=+—H0 ' "8BZ
vehicles included amounts of approximately HK$926,000 FEHEREEERERMEAEREZ
in respect of assets held under finance leases. BE 22 8#1926,000% 7T ©
14. RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS 14. EREEE
Leased Motor
properties vehicles Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
HEME AE @it
FHET FHET FET
As at 1 April 2019 R-ZE-hEMA-H
Carrying amount RmE 4,158 926 5,084
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZZB-2F
ZA=t-8H
Carrying amount BEAEE 9,657 191 9,848

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-%F
ZA=t-HLEE
Depreciation charge nEBH 4,101 213 4,314

Expense relating to short-term leases terms S i EETE BN A & K&
end within 12 months of the date of initial A& &M HRE EEIF 165 B L

application of HKFRS 16 ATREARE 3,590
Total cash outflow for lease HEZReMLBE 7,914
Addition to right-of-use assets FEREEENE 9,600
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fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS (continued)

For both years, the Group leases office and retail stores
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of 1 year to 4.5 years, but may have extension
options as described below. Certain leases of equipment
were accounted for as finance leases during the year
ended 31 March 2019 and carried interest ranged from
4.3%. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term lease for a
warehouse. As at 31 March 2020, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term lease
to which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

The Group has extension option in a lease for 3 year
on the lease of a retail store. This is used to maximise
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets
used in the Group’s operations. The extension options
held is exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessors.

The Group assesses at lease commencement date
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension
option. The potential exposures to these future lease
payments for extension option in which the Group is
not reasonably certain to exercise. The lease liabilities
recognised for a retail store as at 31 March 2020 is
HK$1,221,000 and the potential future lease payments
for extension option in which the Group is not reasonably
certain to exercise, which is not included in lease
liabilities (undiscounted) is HK$5,304,000.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option upon the
occurrence of either a significant event or a significant
change in circumstances that is within the control of the
lessee. During the year ended 31 March 2020, there is no
such triggering event.

14. FRAEEE (&)

PREFE AEBEYHERAENRTER
DR -HESLYZETHRA1E4.5
F o HERJRE R A LA T il 2 JE R 124 - A
EZE-AEFE=A=+—HItFE BT
LEEEARIEREMEE B1R43% 2
FRAB - HERFTIR AR EERERE - B
BEZBBTRAKEREEHF RETHEBAR
FETAATRHEEREREER AEERAS
HZTEETETAERA BT 2R -

AEEERILABERMEN - R_F=
TZFE-_A=1+—H EHHEREHESR
EXFBEZEREER CEHPEER
BHAEEMN-

HREETEEME  AEEEFEMEIFZ
EER - ZEERNEELAKBEERBAA
LEEMSAEARREAEEEE -
BHEERETHASE MIESHAA
1TfE -

AEENHEERKBHFHESAERT
SITEEHREER AEEREEESERE
EETFEEHREEZ ARBEEN K@
BERR R-_TE-_THE=ZF=+—HH
TERERZHEBEAR1,221,00058 7T -
BASEREEZIAERTSTFEEMAE
BRMAFTAHEGEZBERRHEEN
X (ARBLIR) A5,304,000/8 7T

BN AEEEEMFERBELEERNEH
SEABAEFBERNZBERNELEERE
B AREEENFHREOAEITESE
REER-BE-_T-_TF=RA=1+—H
HFE BEELAREBESE,-
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZZT-_TF-A=-+—HILFE

15. INVENTORIES 15. 78

As at 31 March
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000

R=A=+—8
—EB-EF —E-NEF
FET FHETT
Wine products BEBE®D 195,961 183,015
Other alcoholic beverages H B &K @ 20,943 20,371
Wine accessory products BEBRHEM 1,143 1,076
218,047 204,462

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES 16. E 5 EWFIE

As at 31 March
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$°000

R=B=+—H
—B-FF —TNF
FET FET
Gross carrying amount BRI AR RE 66,409 38,116
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (676) (138)
65,733 37,978
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE-ZT-_TF=A=+—HIFE

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s credit terms of 30 to 120 days is granted to
its trade customers. The following is an ageing analysis of
the trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses,
presented based on the invoice date which approximated
the respective dates on which revenue was recognised at
the end of the reporting period:

16. ES EWF

IE(ﬁm
AEERTHESRF 2EEHHR30
F120H - HBEQH (EERERE
R FE SR IR 2 Z*ﬁﬁaaﬁmﬁa)iﬁu
2 B ZRWFIE (MR EEEERE)
ZERERD MWT-

As at 31 March

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$°000

R=A=+-8
—®F -z AF
F#7T FHT
0-30 days 0%30H 14,792 23,447
31-60 days 31£260H 11,335 5,152
61-90 days 61£290H 15,215 5,878
91-180 days 91£180H 23,294 3,198
181-365 days 1812365H 1,097 303
65,733 37,978

As at 31 March 2020, included in the Group’s trade
receivables are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of HK$30,512,000 (2019: HK$4,775,000) which are past
due. Out of the past due balances, HK$5,892,000 (2019:
HK$863,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is
not considered as in default. With reference to historical
records, past experience and also available reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information to those
customers, the directors of the Company do not consider
these receivables as credit-impaired as these customers
have a good business relationship with the Group and
recurring overdue records of these customers with
satisfactory settlement history.

Details of impairment assessment as at 31 March 2020
and 2019 are set out in note 36.

RZEBEZTEF=ZRA=+—H &%
BrESREUREREEREDALER
430,512,000 50 (—F— L 4F:
4,775,000/ 7T ) 2 %1 B JE L BR 3 o 1Y
BEF HA T - 5,892,000/8 7T (=
T — 145 1 863,000/ 7T ) B #HI90H
AL AW ARBERIEEN KR E
ZERPHMELLH BELBAK
AESHAERBKREAEEER
ARRBZEVTIRAZEEKIED
HIREERE RFRAZSREFHEAK
SEHBRUTEKBE BZERFP
O 4S80 HA B0 8RR B HL B SR EC 838

8 o
A

R T -_FE=FA=1+—BZREF
e BE N K36
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZZT-_TF-A=-+—HILFE

17. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 17. HttEWFIE - R RFENAR
PREPAYMENTS b= |
As at 31 March
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
R=A=+—H
—E-EF —E-NF
FET FET
Deposits for the acquisition of property UgEE ¥ 3 KRB 218 S
and equipment 1,003 1,064
Deposits paid to the suppliers MHEERZN2iZe 129,944 47,235
Rental deposits Heke 2,190 2,050
Other deposits, other receivables and  H fihi% & « E b jE I 70 0E K 2,547 664
prepayments FET FRIA
Total Bt 135,684 51,013
Presented as non-current assets EVRIIERBEE 2,676 1,593
Presented as current assets EYEREBEE 133,008 49,420
Total st 135,684 51,013
Details of impairment assessment as at 31 March 2020 RZEZZEFR-ZZE—-—NLE=A
and 2019 are set out in note 36. =+ —HBZ2REFHFBEHAWE
36°
18. AMOUNT DUE FROM A SHAREHOLDER 18. B AR R X IH
The amount due from a shareholder was trade nature RZE—NEFE=ZA=1+—8 Ek—
with credit terms of 30 days as at 31 March 2019. The LRRFEBE MG BEEHA
whole amount is repaid during the year ended 31 March 30 -HE_ZE-_ZHF=-A=+—H
2020. IEFEEEEREKIE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

AMOUNT DUE FROM A SHAREHOLDER

(continued)

Details of amount due from a shareholder disclosed are
as follows:

Name i

18. EWIRRFRIR (&)

R R RIBZ FEBEWENT

As at 31 March
2019

HK$'000
R=A=+—H
—E-NF
FET

Mr. Roy Ting TEREE

The following is an ageing analysis presented based on
the invoice dates, which approximated to the dates of
delivery of goods on which revenue was recognised, at
the end of the reporting period:

UTREEZSRSHR REER
H2J MRS EZEHAERD
ERBANEMR T EE:

As at 31 March
2019

HK$'000
R=ZA=+—8H
—E-NF
FHET

91-180 days
181-365 days

91£180H
1812365H

As at 31 March 2019, the amount due from a
shareholder with carrying amount of HK$9,000 has
been past due 90 days or more and is not considered
as in default because of the good understanding on
the financial background of the shareholder by the
management of the Group.

Details of impairment assessment as at 31 March 2019
are set out in note 36.

R-E-NE=A=+—8 KHEE
A9,0008 Ty Bl — B EFHIED
BHIOOH S A £ B AW R EE
Y REARAEBERERD THZ
BREZHBEES-

KT NFZA=+— B ZRET
9 BB Y 336 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZZT-_TF-A=-+—HILFE

19. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED 19. FEU FETBAEK A R FKIE
COMPANIES
Amounts due from related companies FE it B8 B B FRIE
All the amounts due from related companies are non- FRB R A A W 2 RIE RIER
trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and are repayable 48 BEWR 2B RIZEKEE -
on demand.
Details of amounts due from related companies are as FEW BB A RIFIB BT
follows:

As at 31 March

Name Relationship 2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000

R=B=+—8
—E-®FE T NF
HH 1R FHET FET
Shirz Shareholder of the Company, wholly- 25 11

owned by Ms. Shirley Wong
RRRIRER BELRLTE2EHRE

Sunshine Consultancy Shareholder of the Company, wholly- 27 13
owned by Mr. Roy Ting
ARRRE BT EEELEZ2ERESR

UDKS Holdings Limited Ms. Shirley Wong is the sole owner of 278 230
UDKS Holdings Limited
T &8 Z £ AUDKS Holdings Limited 2
ME—HEH A

330 254
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED
COMPANIES (continued)

Details of impairment assessment as at 31 March 2020
and 2019 are set out in note 36.

Amount due to a related company

Amount due to a related company represents advance
payment from Global Choice International Limited
("Global Choice”) for the Group’s purchase of wine
products as an agent on behalf of Global Choice. The
Group will entitle a fixed percentage of commission upon
the successful delivery of wine products to Global Choice.

Details of amount due to a related company are as
follows:

19. B P BREE D R K IE

(%)
RZFB_FER_FT-NAF=A
=t BZREMEFBEHNWE
36 °

P& BA B 1t B 7RO
ENEBARREERAEBIER
REARZKRRERER QR (3R
R RBBHEEMMBRRNZ
AR o AR BB R AR R XN B
BHEERRARESETEAN L2
4o

FEFTRARE R BIFIR 2 FFIB AT

As at 31 March

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
R=A=+—H
—EEE —E-NF
Name =4 FET FET
Global Choice (Note) RE (MaE) 25,640 29,755

Note: Global Choice is wholly owned by Mr. Roy Ting.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has
refunded Global Choice of HK$4,115,000 due to the
cancellation of orders from Global Choice. In the option
of the directors of the Company, the Group will deliver
the wine products to Global Choice within one year upon
the end of the reporting period.

ffit: BIFB T SHEEREHE -

BE-_ZE-_TF=A=+—HI1tF
B -BAREBEHEIVHAIE  AEEBER
BIRERA,115,0008 70 KRR EHR
B AEBBRHRERRE—FAMR
RRXNEEBEER-
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

21.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held and short
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less and carrying interest at prevailing market
rate from 0.0125% to 0.025% (2019: 0.01% to 0.45%)
per annum.

Details of impairment assessment as at 31 March 2020
and 2019 are set out in note 36.

TRADE PAYABLES

The credit period on purchases of goods is up to 90 days.
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period:

20.

21.

RTERRES
BITHEBRBRESBEMERENED
HEA=Z@AU T ZEHIETE
WM F0.0125%%F0.025% (=
T —NF 0.01%E0.45% ) Z & A
MiGFF R B o

R-_ZE-_ZEE_ZT—NF=H
=+ —HBZREFHFBIHAWE
36 °

B 5% ENRE
ERBEER 2 EESERE ARI0A -
AT RERABRER R BHEBH
H 5 e 3 FORBREE 47 ¢

As at 31 March

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

R=A=+—8
—ECEF —E-NF
FET FET

Trade payables: 5 RIA

0-30 days 0%30H 4,937 96
Over 30 days EBiE30H 3,060 2,872
7,997 2,968
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED

22. Hitb BN RERETEH

CHARGES
As at 31 March
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$°000
R=B=+—8H
—ECEHF —ET-NF
FET FET
Payables for acquisition of property and U B ¥ 3 K 55 & 2 JE < TR 1B
equipment - 64
Other payables and accrued charges — H tf fE 1~ 7018 & JE =+ & A 4,597 3,940
4,597 4,004
23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. EHNEE
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2020 2019
R-ZZE-Z2F RIT—NF
=A=+—-H =ZA=+—H
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
Contract liabilities from sales of &HEBEREEEL Z AL
wine products =N 1,535 6,170

* As at 1 April 2018, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$2,854,000.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

When the Group receives deposits from customers to
purchase wine products, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount
of the deposits.

* RZE—NFNA—H &H&a&E
752,854,000/ 7T

TECERANEBESRZ KRN
fFRRESI T :

EAEENIEFPREUNBEGEE
Enl $EFRAORBERELS
WaBE BEENEREAOBSBEES
RARERR Mg Lk

RBBEERERERAT —B-ZFFRH
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fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZZT-_TF-A=-+—HILFE

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 23. ENEE (&)
The following table shows how much of the revenue TEREHELES OB EEEAF
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward EHRAZWETRE-

contract liabilities.

Sales of wine

products
BEEEEMKE
HK$'000
FHET
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE-_ZT-_ZTF=ZA=+—-HLEE
Revenue recognised that was included in the REFFAEANEBEEH ZDER
contract liabilities balance at the beginning W 2=
of the year 6,170
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-_Z-hF=ZA=+—BHLHFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the FFAFHE L ABEEHB 2 EERKE
contract liabilities balance at the beginning
of the year 2,854
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fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

24. BANK BORROWINGS 24. SRITEN
As at 31 March
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$°000
R=BA=+—8H
—EEF —E-NF
FET FHET
Trust receipt loans BB E K 178,013 112,900
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 4,877 -
182,890 112,900
Secured and guaranteed 2HEA k2 ER 42,818 112,900
Unsecured and guaranteed EEAREER 140,072 -
182.890 112.900
Carrying amount repayable* REERmES
— within one year —— %R 182,890 112,900
Less: Amounts due within one year BN —FERNIPRBEARE
or contain a repayable on demand KEFRAV AR RBEBEZR
clause shown under current liabilities 18 (182,890) (112,900)

Amounts shown under non-current FIRRIERB BB ZRIE

liabilities - -
* The amounts due are based on schedule repayment dates * RENMZBE IR ERENE
set out in the loan agreements. BB AEEY -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZE-—Z-_TF=A=+—HIFE

24. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 24. SRITEFR (&)

178

As at 31 March 2020, the bank borrowings amounted
to HK$42,818,000 are secured by the properties owned
by Ms. Shirley Wong, Mr. Roy Ting, Success Dragon
International Industrial Limited (“Success Dragon”) and
Honour Sky Trading Limited (“Honour Sky").

As at 31 March 2019, the bank borrowings amounted to
HK$112,900,000 are secured by the properties owned
by Ms. Shirley Wong, Mr. Roy Ting, Rich Link Hong Kong
Development Limited (“Rich Link"), Success Dragon, Way
Young (International) Limited (“Way Young”), Win Mate
Investment Limited (“Win Mate"”) and Honour Sky.

Success Dragon and Honour Sky are owned by Ms.
Shirley Wong and Ms. Yeung Chi Hung as to 50%
and 50% respectively. Rich Link is wholly-owned by
Ms. Shirley Wong. Way Young is owned by Mr. Roy
Ting and Mr. Ting Ping Sing (“Mr. PS Ting”), who is
the grandfather of Mr. Roy Ting as to 50% and 50%
respectively. Win Mate is wholly-owned by Mr. Roy Ting.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the bank borrowings are
guaranteed by Mr. Roy Ting and Ms. Shirley Wong.

The bank borrowings are at floating rates which carry
interest at either Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") plus a spread or Hong Kong Prime Rate plus/
minus a spread. The effective interest rates on the
Group's bank borrowings ranged from 2.0% to 5.25%
(2019: 3.20% to 5.13%) per annum as at 31 March
2020.

The Company released the pledge of properties owned
by Ms. Shirley Wong, Mr. Roy Ting, Success Dragon and
Honour Sky and the guarantee by Mr. Roy Ting and Ms.
Shirley Wong in May 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HEEE

As at
31 March
2020
HK$'000
R=-Z=-%F
=A=t+—-~H
FET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEaE:
Within one year —FNKN 4,637
Within a period of more than one year but not BB —FETZAME 2 B R
more than two years 3,886
Within a period of more than two years but not HBEMFEETZ N AE 7 HABRA
more than five years 1,444
9,967
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months & : 51218 B R B HE € 2 #018
shown under current liabilities (FIRRAREIEE) (4,637)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 A AR BB (8 2 5RI8
shown under non-current liabilities (FITRIERBEERE) 5,330

RBBEERERERAT —B-ZFFRH
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fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

26. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 26. MEMHESHE

As at 31 March

2019
HK$°000

R-B—NF

=A=+—H

FET

Analysed for reporting purpose as: HERMEBNDNTA:

Current liabilities mEBE 248
Non-current liabilities FEMBAE 55
303
The Group has leased certain of its motor vehicles under REBCDREREHERHEEMA R
finance leases. The lease terms were ranged from three B -NREEE BN F=FHE-
to five years for both years. Interest rates underlying all FARMERESE BENEIRE
obligations under finance leases were fixed at respective AMBEEL EFHER-_E—HE
contract dates ranged from 4.27% to 4.29% per annum A=+ — AN TF427%%4.29% o

as at 31 March 2019.

Present value of minimum

Minimum lease payments lease payments
REBENT RERENTRE
As at 31 March As at 31 March
2019 2019
HK$'000 HK$000
RZB-NEF RZZ-N%F
ZR=+-H ZR=+—-H
T T
Obligations under finance leases payable: [EffREREEE:
Within one year —ER 253 248
In more than one year but not more than B —FEFZNHE
two years 56 55
309 303
Less: Future finance charges HARMEER (6) -
Present value of lease obligations RERAHRE 303 303
Less: Amount due for settlement B R—ERIBEEZHE

within one year GITRRERE)

(shown under current liabilities) (248)
Amount due for settlement after one year R —E /4 B|HEE 2 28 55
The Group's obligations under finance leases were AEEZREHEEFHEEAY
secured by the lessor's charge over the leased assets. HEEE 2 W FTEM -

1 80 Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE-ZT-_TF=A=+—HIFE

26. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 26. REBESE (&)
(continued)
Obligation under finance leases were reclassified as lease REREREREVHREERIE 1698
liabilities upon initial application of HKFRS 16 (note 2). & MEMEBTEEEENSER

HEEE (MizE2) -

27. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 27. EERIEEE
The following are the major deferred tax assets NTRRAFER F—EFEANHER
recognised and movements thereon during the current CEEREMBEEREZE):

and prior year:

Accelerated
accounting
allowance
HK$°000
mEETEE
FAT

At 1 April 2018 RoE—/\FMA—A 58
Credit to profit or loss for the year (note 10) q+)\$¢f7§ (Ktat10) 275

At 31 March 2019 KRZE-NE=A=+—H 333
Credit to profit or loss for the year (note 10) q+)\$¢f7§ (WEIO} 329

At 31 March 2020 RZE-ZEF=A=+—H 662

28. PROVISIONS 28. & &

Provision for
reinstatement cost
HK$'000

EER RS
FEIT

As at 1 April 2018 RZE—N\FWEOA—H 500
Provisions recognised ﬁ@ %’éﬁ 140

As at 31 March 2019 and 2020 RZE-—NFR_ZE-FTF=A=+—H 640

As at 31 March
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

R=A=+—H
—ECEHF —ET-NF
FET FEIT

Presented as non-current liabilities EYRIEREBEE 640 140
Presented as current liabilities By A REEaE - 500

640 640

RSELERERERAT —B-BEFH 181



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn 8 MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZZT-_TF-A=-+—HILFE

28. PROVISIONS (continued) 28. B (&)
The provision of reinstatement cost for reinstating the R EERE I ETEEREEMERR
rented premises to be carried out at the end of the EEBENANBEEHARAES
lease periods had been estimated by the directors of the BEEAEES K PTEI AR IE
Company based on the terms and conditions set out in HIELTEE -2 ERIERTEREM
current rental contracts. These amounts have not been EERTAERTEWEITIR

discounted for the purposes of measuring the provisions
because the effect is not material.

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. g7
Details of the share capital of the Company are disclosed RATIRAFERBENOT
as follows:
Number of
shares Amount
HK$'000
RHEEE &8
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ESREEO1EITTH
TR
Authorised: VERE
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 2020 RZZE—N\FMA—
B ZZ—NFk
—F-F
=A=1+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRAR:
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 2020 MRZZE—N\FMA—
B ZZ—NFKk
—TEF
=A=+—H 400,000,000 4,000
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fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions
with its related parties during the year:

.BEFRS

BERAVBRREMBOAKESE
S REBRAFENEEFB T A
BNIRS:

Year ended 31 March

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$°000
BE=ZA=+t—HLEE
— —T-hF
FHET FHET
Sales of goods to: mMTIETEEER:
— Mr. Roy Ting - TEBEE 23 130
— Ms. Shirley Wong — BRI 52 42
— Hong Kong New Youth Energy —BBHNENEF - 97
75 269
Compensation of key management personnel FEEE A B R
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other RAARESERAMEZEREKER
members of key management during the year were as RNEEHBZHMAT

follows:

Year ended 31 March

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$°000
BE=ZA=t—HLHEE
—EB-2F T hF
FET FA&T
Short-term benefits ER A 2,556 2,376
Post-employment benefits B Bg 12 18 A 20 89
2,646 2,465
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZZT-_TF-A=-+—HILFE

31. OPERATING LEASE 31. REMEE
The Group as lessee rEEEREBEA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RAImEHR - A& ERE A 0 HEH
commitments for future minimum lease payments under KERE 2 RRREBENFEES
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as HRGO T -
follows:
As at 31 March
2019
HK$'000
R=ZBA=+—8H
—E2-NF
FHET
Within one year —FNR 5,166
In the second to fifth year inclusive REZZFAF (BREERT) 1,948
7,114
The above operating lease payments represent rental NEEEHENREAEEREAFE
payable by the Group for office premises, warehouse and HEmMAERM EERTEERE
retail store for the year. Leases and rentals are negotiated Nz HERBEHERIER
and fixed for a term of one to two years. BE—EmMF -
32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. EXREE
As at 31 March
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
R=BA=+—8
—E-EE —E-NF
FET TFET
Capital expenditure contracted for but B FTAVERRERE WIS REEE
not provided in the consolidated HEARFX
financial statements in respect of:
Purchase of property and equipment B8 & ¥ % & & & 100 610
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fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the MPF
Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions. Except for voluntary
contribution, no forfeited contribution under the MPF
Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in
future years. The cap of contribution amount is HK$1,500
per employee per month.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions arising from
the MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
represent contributions paid or payable to the funds by
the Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

At 31 March 2020 and 2019, there were no significant
forfeited contributions which arose upon employees
leaving the schemes before they are fully vested in the
contributions and which are available to reduce the
contributions payable by the Group in the future.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
HK$549,000 (2019: HK$396,000) for the year ended 31
March 2020 represents contributions payable to the MPF
Scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
plans.

33.

iR k48 A 5T &

A B I RIERFIERTE S S
Bl B A TE S E IR R EM -0
BEFEZEE BT ZFEAES
LEGTHARB EESHAFTE R
EaEerE EERHERESBY
BIEZERAEEZLLRABEER
UK - AEBE AR RESE M
—REERELRTEMRK BB RIEMR
FON BEBREFEIE I 2R K
SRR AR R R B 2 A K o
HARBELRATASRER5008
Sk

Rira AR LkEMEERERNGZ
SRAE ST BIFTE £ 2 R IRtE I S
REAREZFERAEEZLLHE
e FES 2 Ko

RZFZZTER-ZF-NF=A

FRATE 5% F T 8l MR U - 30 7] A A
AR 2 RREHPRZEAXR
W g R

REE-_Z-_ZEF=_A=+—HIF
E 18 PR A 425 32 549,00078 7T
(== — S5 :396,000/ 7T ) fE AN &
Bk BT 2R BT 8 Z R 1
FZEE 2 HRe
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZZT-_TF-A=-+—HILFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34. xR RIMB R #E
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$°000
—EB-EF —ZT-hnF
FET FET
Non-current asset EMBEE
Investment in a subsidiary BB AR ZIE 16,128 16,128
Current assets mENE E
Other receivables, deposits and HAth e WKIE - i & RIEN KIA
prepayments 1,294 34
Amount due from a subsidiary JE Y — R Bt /B A B I8 39,257 2,817
Bank balances and cash RITHBR KRS 106 40,006
40,657 42,857
Current liability mENEE
Other payables and accrued charges — E b fE [~ FUE M BT & B 728 280
Net current assets mENVEEFE 39,929 42,577
Net assets BEFE 56,057 58,705
Capital and reserves BARKFE
Share capital (note 27) AR (KtzE27) 4,000 4,000
Reserves (note) & (Kat) 52,057 54,705
Total equity Emias 56,057 58,705
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fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

34. ARTRBMBARR KR (2)

Pt e -
RARZEEED

Movement of reserves of the Company

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total

B% 17 % (B ES 8PS st

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

FET FET FHET

At 1 April 2018 RZZE—-—N\FEOA—AH 76,298 (19,156) 57,142
Loss and total comprehensive AEEABENEZER 285

expense for the year - (2,437) (2,437)

At 31 March 2019 RZE—NF=ZA=+—H 76,298 (21,593) 54,705
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEANBEREERZBE

expense for the year - (2,648) (2,648)

At 31 March 2020 RZZEZTF=A=+—H 76,298 (24,241) 52,057

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. EXERER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to owners through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged for both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt
balance and equity balance. Debt balance consists of
bank borrowings (note 24) and lease liabilities (note
25). Equity balance consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising share capital, share
premium, other reserve and accumulated profits.

The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure on an on-going annual basis. As part of this
review, the management of the Group considers the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the management
of the Group, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through issuance of new shares and the raise of
borrowings or the repayment of the existing borrowings.

AEEERHER  DBRAREY
£ B A BB EE
BRBASESBBEREHEAAZD
5o AEE 2 BBRERWESER
TR -

AEBEZEARBEREEBER MK
Rigth BB AR BIERITE (K

BERAARFEAAEMNEDR EF
BRI - B 8 - A BROR
HERREER

AEEEEEREEREEENEARR
BoERUEARNMZ &0 AKH
BEEEERESRABRERZER
AR R - RIBEAREEIERE ZH#
BER AKEKSREZTHRN
LREEEFRREERAFERTHHEE
BEARE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZE-—Z-_TF=A=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. @@ T A

Categories of financial instruments ST AEER
As at 31 March
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
R=A=+—H
—ECEE —T-hF
FHET FHET
Financial assets EWMEE
Amortised cost RIS IO 70,872 84,313
Financial liabilities cREE
Amortised cost =X )DIN 220,154 148,718

MHEREREBREREXR
AEBZeMIABEE SRR
T8 - HoAf R IE&&i & T RS ER
IR FEMBEEE AR FIE - E B R
ﬁT‘m&fﬁﬂ%ﬁéﬁ&ﬁ/\ B 5 RN
FRIR - H A A RR - BT RE 5%’&7
KB HERBERRITER-ARQ

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, amount
due from a shareholder, amounts due from related
companies and bank balances and cash, trade payables,
other payables, amount due to a related company, lease
liabilities and bank borrowings. Details of these financial

188

instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

Zﬁﬂlﬂ@%ﬁ@%ﬁmﬁ&%ﬁ
&AM EM—REH B AT FRIE %
EomT EZFBREBMERE-
mMzEem T ARE Rk &EBN
MFEZSRBZBRBAR T -E
EEEERERZERAR  UERK
RAEBMEITABEERE-



36.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk
Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency sales and purchases,
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Approximately 4% (2019: 0.4%) of our Group’s sales
is denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities, whilst almost 43.5%
(2019: 87.0%) of purchase of goods is denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the
group entities during the year ended 31 March 2020.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts
of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities recognised in the consolidated

36. R T A (&)

MHREREEBBEREX (4)

ik

B b

AEBABFIINEEE SASEEER
GNEEREE - MNEBEE T _TF=F
=T —HIFE AEEHEZL4%
TE—AF:04%) 5D B A SN
(EEERENREEE I EEE) T
B MERRENRBL435% (=
T—NEFE:87.0%) D RINEEE
BN Z N EBINZ ERETE -

RIS B 5 A B S B R A RSN
M EEYEER SR E S FEE
T

financial statements are as follows:

Great British Pound ("GBP") Euro
HEE([HE]) B
As at 31 March As at 31 March
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R=ZRA=1+-H W=ZA=+-H
“E-2F _T-NF ZBZBE _TNF

&7 FET FEx TET

Trade receivables B SRR - 986 - -
Bank balances and cash BITEBRERE 30 30 17 17
Trade payables BHRNFE - 56 7,922 2,720
Bank borrowings RITIE N

— trust receipt loans —ERRBER - - 12,920 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. TR T (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies HMERBEEEERBER (&)
(continued)
Market risk (continued) G ERE (&)
Currency risk (continued) B (&)
United States Dollars (“USD") Renminbi ("RMB")
ESA(ESAD AR (TAR¥%])
As at 31 March As at 31 March
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
W=ZB=+-H R=ZB=+-H

“E-EE —T-NF CZBE-Ef —ZTNF
FET FET FET FEL

Bank balances and cash RITEREEA 4 4 7 7
Trade receivables B RWFIE - - 68 -
Trade payables BHRNFE - - - 27
Australian Dollar ("AUD") Swiss Franc (“CHF")
B ([&xl) WA ([BLEm])
As at 31 March As at 31 March
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
W=ZB=+-8 R=ZA=+-8

—E-EE —T-NF CZE-Ef —TNF
FET FET FET FET

Trade receivables BHEWNTIE - 2,143 - -
Trade payables BHEMNFIE - - 17 -
Bank borrowings - trust receipt loans $#17fE 3 —EEWIEER - - 13 -
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency RNEE B AR INE R BUR - A
hedging policy. However, the directors of the Company - ANAREFGERIINERL I
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider BREFTERZRLEYHRERINEE
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the Bz o

need arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
Since the exchange rate of HK$ pegged with USD, the

Group does not expect any significant movements in the
USD/HK$ exchange rates.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity analysis
to a 10% increase and decrease in functional currency
of the group entities (i.e. HK$) against relevant foreign
currencies (other than USD as mentioned above) and all
other variables were held constant. 10% is the sensitivity
rate used and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in
the post-tax profit for the year where HK$ strengthening
10% against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 10%
weaken of HK$ against the relevant foreign currencies
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
result for the year.

36. R T A (&)

HMERBREEBEREEK (&)

AR ()

B S

mAE TR ER A  ARE
BHET, BTEEETEAETE
KB

TRFNAEEHEBER LS
k& (BRSTT) RABRASNEE (20 £ SCFrit
LASETTRRON) 2 10%38 hn K sk 4> 2 8
REDH  EPEHMA]ERAKY
BIETE - 10%BTAZBREH R
MREEEEYHERAIEAEESH
E e TXZ EHER BT H
SNEEFHE10% * & HARBR T 12 0% 7
e AT R HBEINEEZ(E10% M
T ABeHE HREEEKRSE
RRRAIFE-

Year ended 31 March

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$'000

BE=ZA=+—-HLEE

—EEHF —ET-NF

FET FHET
GBP i (3) (80)
Euro BT 1,739 226
RMB AR (6) 2
AUD JBIT - (179)
CHF B 5K BB 11 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to the Group's interest-free amount due from
a shareholder (note 18) as at 31 March 2019, interest-
free amounts due from/to related companies (note 19)
and fixed-rate lease liabilities/obligations under finance
leases (notes 25 and 26) as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to floating-rate bank balances (note 20) and
floating-rate bank borrowings (note 24) as at 31 March
2020 and 2019.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

36.

€T HE (&)
BSEAREEEERBE (&)

miEE kR (&)

Tl 3 [ bz
AEEEGREEAEERER - —N
FZAZt+—HZEKRBRESRBX
B (Hf3318) RZBE_ZTFR_ZT
—NWFZA=Z+—R2ZEW TENE
BN m e B 3kIE (M sE19) R EE F
ReMEAE MEAMEBETZEMR
(M 5E25%26) 2 A FEF KR K -
AEBR - ZE-_TER-_FT—IF=
A=+ —BHHEBRFERITES (ME
20) BF BARITER (Misk24) 2B &

MEMRER -

REBHKATEZEMEE 2N B

Year ended

31 March 2020
BE-Z-2F
=Z=A=+-H
ILEE
HK$'000
FET

HEA

Other income
Financial assets at amortised cost

REHERATEZEREE

350

Total interest income F B U A B %8

350

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

WESHX AT EZEMEEZ M S
ANMBEEIT

Year ended

31 March 2019
#HE
—T-hF
ZR=+—H1t
FE

HK$°000
FET

Hp A

Other income
Financial assets at amortised cost

REERATEZEREE

39

Total interest income B U A 258

39
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE-ZT-_TF=A=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR or Hong Kong
Prime Rate arising from the Group's floating-rate bank
borrowings or other market interest rate from bank
balances.

The Group currently does not have interest rate risk
hedging policy. However, management of the Group
closely monitors its exposure to future cash flow interest
rate risk as a result of change on market interest rate and
will consider hedging changes in market interest rates
should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rate risk on bank borrowings.
The sensitivity analysis is prepared assuming the bank
borrowings outstanding at the end of each reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. No sensitivity
analysis is provided on pledged bank deposits and bank
balances as the management of the Group considers that
the interest rate fluctuation on bank balances is minimal
and the impact from the exposure to interest rate risk
sensitivity is considered insignificant.

36. R T A (&)

HMERBREEBEREEK (&)

AR ()

Tl = B (1)

AEE ReRefEXEREEES
RASBEZERITERMEEZE
BRITEAZEFE ([BARTEER
8B THREEN K KRERITLE
’%‘*ZE@W%?‘JTZ fEf o

7 £ 8 35 By 0 4 ) <R R B 9 0 BROSR
A AEEERETYE %%Ei\lm
iﬁﬂ$ @Fﬁ'ﬁﬁnnm*xfﬁﬁﬂwi*u

b WASEBRATEREHPH
%ﬂzm@Z@

AT BURE D1 2 IR PR s 2 SR1T 15
RAREARETE - BRMED T TIRE
RERERRZ HARBERITERR
EEFERBOHRBENRE HE
EERIRITER S ERITAERIBHE
BRESN RARASEEEERR
RTTRER A ERBBERFEM B
PRz F R ERGUREZERRS
B TEKX-
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZE-—Z-_TF=A=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. €T A (&)

194

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

MHREREEBREREX (4)

Market risk (continued) i E R (&)
Interest rate risk (continued) FlEE bz (&)
Sensitivity analysis BURE DT

A 50 basis points increase or decrease is used during the
year, which represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. A positive
number below indicates a decrease in post-tax profit for
the year where the interest rate had been 50 basis points
higher and all other variables were held constant. For 50
basis points lower on interest rate, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the result for the year.

/BRI P 2 SOfEIEL B 48 AN siom 4
RREEEHMNRGE A eEE 27T
fli o AN Z IEBR R i £ FHS0ME & B
K FrA R MR & E RS MRS~ Al
E/ﬁﬂﬁ[ﬁ%ﬁfﬁmﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂd OEJEﬂ
KRHSOEEN S HEHF B
W%%ﬁ?ﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁ)&*ﬁﬁzg“

Year ended 31 March
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$°000
BE=ZA=+—-HLEE
—ECEF —E-NF
FET FET

Decrease in post-tax profit for the year 4,/ Hi P BR £ 18 ¥ F1 360 2

764 471

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, amount
due from a shareholder, amounts due from related
companies, bank balances and financial guarantees
provided by the Group to a related company as set out in
note 38.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is the
carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets.
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1= B 2 B K2 6l 8 5T A%
AEEZEERBREIEREE FHEW
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Credit limits attributable to customers
are reviewed regularly. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.

The Group applies simplified approach and always
recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. To measure
the ECL of trade receivables, except for those debtors
with aggregated outstanding balances exceeding
HK$1,000,000 that were assessed individually, the
remaining debtors have been grouped based on past due
status of the trade receivables and assessed collectively.

36. R T A (&)

MHEBREERSEREEK (&)

1= B 2 B2 K% el B 571 (78)

B ZEW SR

BRIV EERR AEEEEECE
E—xBEBEEFEERBLER
ERik

REMRETAFELR AEBFEHE
EEPZEEERREREFPHIE
EERE -AKEE R TP R
FERB AKETRAEMBERE
FroERFEURETSH WO A HE
15 o

AEBRABC A WIRKRERE
SERRENEHEHEESE - A
EESERFIENTEREEEE
KREBIHERAEELHBETERB
1,000,000/ 7oA FE UK BR FRA0 + SR T FE
AR X B AR R B 5 e U 3k T8 9 8 HR AR
MR WiETT RIS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZE-—Z-_TF=A=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. @R T A (&)
HHEEREERZEREEK (&)

196

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk with exposure
limited to certain customers. Top five debtors comprised
approximately 29.7% (2019: 59.8%) of the Group’s trade
receivables as at 31 March 2020.

Other receivables and deposits

Regarding other receivables and deposits, the ECL on
these assets are assessed individually for debtors on the
recoverability based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. The management of the Group
believes that there is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group’s outstanding balance of other receivables and
deposits. The Group performs impairment assessment
under 12m ECL model in accordance with HKFRS 9.
The Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and
deposits was insignificant due to the exposure over the
other receivables and deposits was insignificant. Thus no
loss allowance was recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Amount due from a shareholder/amounts due from
related companies

The Group assessed the amount due from a shareholder
and amounts due from related companies on 12m ECL
basis. The management of the Group considers the risk
of default by counterparty is insignificant based on the
exposure of amount due from a shareholder and amounts
due from related companies at the end of the reporting
period, their understanding on the financial position,
continuous settlement record of the counterparties and
forward-looking information. Thus, the ECL for the
amount due from a shareholder and amounts due from a
related companies were insignificant.

Bank balances

The Group only transacts with reputable banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies and therefore the management of the Group
considers the risk of default is low. The Group uses
12m ECL to perform the assessment under ECL model
in accordance with HKFRS 9 on balances individually
based on the average loss rate by reference to credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
The Group assessed the ECL for bank balances was
insignificant.

36. R T A (&)

HMERBREEBEREEK (&)

1= B 2 B2 K% el B 571 (78)
FEW —F BT K, K BB 1 7]

KB

AEEZ12E ARREEBEREEFN
1ty B S — 3 BECSR SR IR % e MK A Bt 77 3k
H-AEBEERERR RENRE
H R B W — 2 IR SRR A % e K B gk 77
RIAM R - HH BN T 88
FHOHERECHEIARIEER
HFTEVABRL B FIUL - E
W — 2 B SRR IR e e W B gk 07 AR IR Y
BEHEEBEBTEAKN-

RITH R
AEEESRERREEFRRER
TEREEFRAGFERIFMRITR
7 WAKEEEERSENRRT
S AEBEEAI2EAEREEER
FAEKX - RIEBBHBHRELERIE
o R2EBBREENAEES T
EEFRE AEBRERHAEES
BEREAEM2EABREEBERZT
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. R T E (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies MBERREEEERBEK (&)

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =B R REEFG (&)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment AEEAREEEESRTEHBEN

comprises the following categories: TR

Internal Other financial assets/

credit rating Description Trade receivables other item

B HihemEE

FEFR A B 5 EWRE HihEH

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of  Lifetime ECL - not 12-month ECL
default and does not have any credit-impaired
past-due amounts

1K = B2 HrEHARBE BVEEMas >2HBRREEEE 1R2EABREEEE
RIE -~ EEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due  Lifetime ECL — not 12-month ECL
dates but usually settle after due credit-impaired
date

Bs5E BERALERINPERER BB 2HBEREEEE 1R2EABREEEE
ERIHARREBHER -~ EEERE

Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
increases in credit risk since initial credit-impaired credit-impaired

recognition through information
developed internally or external

resources
7 5t AMRERAT BBABHEA MEBEEER  2BREBEHESR
HESNBAR BEERRBRE  —LEEERE — 3 W R E
50
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL — credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-
asset is credit-impaired impaired impaired
B8 BERAZEELREERE 2HERHEEBE > HEHEEBRE
—EERE —EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
i 3H FREBRABKARNBRENIT ©HEMH M
W% - B RS B I 8 E R U Al
=
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE-ZT-_TF=A=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. TR T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies MEEBREEEERBE (£)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EEREEREEG (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRENAEFHBETRBEEEE
Group’s financial assets and financial guarantee contracts TS REENEIEERASHEE
which are subject to ECL assessment: L
2020 2019
External credit Internal credit ~ 12-month or  Gross carrying  Gross carrying
Notes rating rating lifetime ECL amount amount

1288 ZBIZE CZNF
frit HBEEFR  ABEEIR RECEES REAE RHAE

HK$'000 HK$'000
T#Ex T

Financial assets at amortised cost

REHBATECZEREE

Trade receivables 16 N/A Note (a) Lifetime ECL 9,899 7173

g S EWGE Tam [i%(a) (provision matrix)

2H
BEHEEBR
(BBER)

Lifetime ECL 56,510 30,943
28
BEHEEBR

Other receivables and deposits 17 N/A Note (b) 12m ECL 2,449 312
A EYERES TEm Hitb) 1218 A
BHEERR

Amount due from a shareholder 18 N/A Low risk 12m ECL - 9
FEWRRTE TEm &R 12{8 A
BEHEERR

Amounts due from related companies 19 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 330 254
B AR TEm &R 12{8 A
BHEEBR

Bank balances 20 A1 to Baa2 N/A 12m ECL 2,360 45,760
RITEH A1EBaa2 TEm 1284
BEHEEBR

Other item

Hit B E

Financial guarantee contracts (note (c)) 38 N/A Note (c) 12m ECL 13,015 13,794

BBEREY (HH(0) TEm 1o} 1218 A

BHEEER

Notes: B & -

a.  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified a. HMEBEHEWFEMS AEEEK
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance RAEBMBHREENESFROE T
at lifetime ECL. Apart from debtors with aggregated FERrEAHEHEERENBER
outstanding balances exceeding HK$1,000,000 that o BRE R TR ER B R(E R 4 nﬁ?
are assessed individually, the Group determines the ECL #AZAE3H1,000,0007 7T K FE U R
on these items using a provision matrix grouped with INERZEE F RS IEEI’JﬁHﬂWK
reference to past due status of the trade receivables. o AREEFERSAREEREEE

EHZETEEMEHREEBE-
RSEEERERERAT —B-BFER 199
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. €T A (&)

200

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Notes: (continued)

a. (continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
debtors with aggregated outstanding balances
exceeding HK$1,000,000 with gross carrying amounts
of HK$56,510,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK$30,943,000) were assessed individually and the Group
uses past due debtor's ageing to assess the impairment
for the remaining debtors because these customers consist
of a large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on provision matrix
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 within lifetime ECL (not

MHEREREZRBERER (&)

1= B /2 B K Bl (B 7P 1 (4%)
fifat: (4&)

EAEAEBEEFERKRERN — I
DRZEBEEF=ZA=ZF+—H 'K
BB 4L SR 4EFEEB 51,000,000 7T &
4 BF T {8 /56,510,000/8 7T (=&
— JLE : 30,943,000/ 7T ) H & Uk BF
HE FTEBHGH MAEEFEAH®
HA PR W SR TR /Y BR B AT 1 R T IR R
FHRE RAAZERFPBEEX
ENEF ERBANKREER
REPYMATAEIHAFUARE K
A BB ko T R 2 8 78 B8
FEEE (BEERE) MBS ER
RE(RZBEZEFR_FT—NF
T A=+ —HRBHEEETE)EE

credit-impaired). [ Bz 9 & #f o
2020 2019

—EZEF —T-NF
Gross Gross
Average loss carrying Average loss carrying
rate amount rate amount
FHYEEE IREAE THEEX BRE A
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Current (not past due) BIES (R HEH) 1.26% 5,428 0.09% 3,873
1-90 days past due BEI1Z=90H 1.79% 3,442 1.54% 2,499
More than 90 days past due & Ef2:B90H 5.85% 1,029 8.96% 801
9,899 7,173

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
(for example, the current and forecasted economic
growth rates in Hong Kong which reflect the general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate) that is available without undue cost or effort.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management of
the Group to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Notes: (continued)

36. TR A (4)
HERABEEABREE (4)

1= B 2 B2 K% el B 571 (78)
et (&)

b.  For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the b. ?div\iﬁi‘ﬂ1?%l§tfﬁ%f2ﬁﬁ§ ’ ?%%
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit (! i%iﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ B S HERERE
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. ERBEGREEM-

Not past due/
No fixed
repayment
Past due term Total
ES Vg 7
af EEMH @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
2020 -l 33
Other receivables and deposits HttERFER Z - 2,449 2,449
2019 —E-NE
Other receivables and deposits Hih Bl FIB RS - 312 312
c.  For the financial guarantee to a related company, the .  BABEBARRHMOMBERD

management of the Group continuously monitors the
financial condition of the related company and the market
price of the pledged properties owned by the related
company so as to ensure that the Group will not suffer
significant credit losses as a result of the failure of the
related company on the repayment of the relevant loans.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

FAKEEREREEERABA
AMHBRR BB AREENE
BERMENTE URRAEER

g B A R RAEEERBER
MEXEREEEE - ARAES
R AEENEERBRE KXER

9\0

RBBEERERERAT —B-ZFFRH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

36. TEAT A (4)
HERBEREEREE (4)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

1= B 3 B2 K Bl B 7P 1 (48)

TREJIERBEBT AR ZE S

EWFIE>REREEFEZEH -

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach.

Trade receivables
under lifetime
ECL (not credit -

202

impaired)
HEBEE
BEETZ
B 5 EWRE
(X EEERE)
HK$'000
FET
As at 1 April 2018 R-ZE—-N\FMHA—H 326
Changes due to financial instruments RZE-\FHA-BH#ERAZE/T
recognised as at 1 April 2018: BEEZ2EH:
— Impairment loss reversed —BEREREEE (326)
New financial assets originated MEemMEE
— Impairment loss recognised —ERRBEEIE 138
As at 31 March 2019 R-TE-NF=A=+—H 138
Changes due to financial instruments REZZE-NFNA-—BH#ERZE/T
recognised as at 1 April 2019: BESA22%:
— Impairment loss reversed —BEREREEE (138)
New financial assets originated it emEE
— Impairment loss recognised —EERBIEEE 676
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_ZTF=A=+—H 676

HE-T-TER-F—AF=A

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables
during the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 are
mainly due to the settlement of trade debtors brought
forward from 1 April 2019 and 2018 and impairment
allowance recognised for new trade receivables
originated of HK$676,000 (2019: HK$138,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management of the

Group to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities which has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities and lease liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of each reporting period.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

36. €@t T A

MERREEEEREE (&)

HBE LR
REERDERARE NEBER
KgRRe MR EFEYKFRASE
BEEERARABIAEELES
HERAERERBTEZKF-

TRAVASREERETESRE
BEREERBECERANIHA K
DR AEEREFEN K2 KRFH
Sz emaErHEREZ R
ARERESLH-ARBME AR
ERERIGERZRITERTIMART
RE#E MAwRITESAEER
TTEEEN EMFETESMARZ
2 H B TR W R K B BE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ-_ZT_FF=HA=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. €T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies MBERREEEERBEK (&)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEBELERE (&)
Weighted
average Total Total
effective Repayable Within Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate  on demand 1 year Tyear  cash flows amount
% HKS$'000 HKS$°000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000
il £321 ARER
EBNE  REXRE MER BB1E  RERE  REAE
% FExn FiEn FiEn FEn FiEn
As at 31 March 2020 RZB-25=f=1-H
Non-derivative financial iabilities FiikcBER
Trade payables BARNTA N/A TER - 7,997 - 7997 7997
Other payables HiENTE N/A R - 3627 - 3627 3,627
Amount due to a related company BRI BB A AR N/A TER 25,640 - - 25,640 25,640
Bank borrowings R/ITER 3.95 182,890 - - 182,890 182,890
Lease labilities HERE 493 - 5,017 5,523 10,540 9,967
Financial quarantee contracts BRERAN N/A TER 13,015 - - 13,015 -
221,545 16,641 5,523 243,709 230,121
Weighted Total Total
average effective  Repayable Within Over  undiscounted carying
interest rate ~ on demand 1 year Tyear  cash flows amount
% HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
E¥S BRER
ERAE  REXEE MER BE1E  HGRE  BEAE
% AT TEL TEL T TAT
As at 31 March 2019 RZB-AE=R=t-8
Non-derivative financial iabiities Fit2BEE
Trade payables EUL GRS N/A TR - 2,968 - 2,968 2,968
Other payables HiERFE NA M ER - 3,005 - 3,005 3,095
Amount due to a related company  ERBEBLAFZE NA MER 29755 - - 29755 29,755
Bank borrowings BAER 451 112,900 - - 112,900 112,900
Obligations under finance leases BEHERA 428 - 253 56 309 303
Financial quarantee contracts HBEREY NA AR 13,794 - - 13,794 -
156,449 6,316 56 162,821 149,021
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE-ZT-_TF=A=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amount included above for variable interest
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of each reporting period.

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on the expectations
at the end of each reporting period, the management
of the Group considers that it is more likely than not
that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending
on the probability of the counterparty claiming under
the guarantees which is a function of the likelihood that
the financial receivables held by the counterparty which
guaranteed suffer credit losses. Details of the financial
guarantees are set out in note 38.

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “Repayable on demand” time band
in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2020, the
aggregate carrying amount of these bank borrowings of
amounted to HK$182,890,000 (2019: HK$112,900,000).
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the
management of the Group does not believe that it is
probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
right to demand immediate repayment. The management
of the Group believes that such bank borrowings of the
Group will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreement.

36. R T A (&)
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. TR T (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies HMERBEEEERBER (&)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEBELERE (&)
For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the RERRDESRRME AEEE
management of the Group reviews the expected cash BERTREAIRITERBEETZ
flow information of the Group’s bank borrowings based ERA B AEERITERZ B
on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the bank ReREER:

borrowings agreements as set out in the table below:

Weighted

average Total Total
effective Within undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1year  cash flows amount
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

mEFLY BRER
BRAE 15R ReRE FHAE
% TET THET TET
As at 31 March 2020 RZZEZZF=A=1+—H 3.95 185,018 185,018 182,890
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=ZA=1—H 4.51 115,098 115,098 112,900
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37. MOVEMENT ON GROUP’S LIABILITIES 37. AKEEREETHELS
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BB
Obligations
Amount under
due to finance
a related Bank  leases/Lease
company borrowings liabilities Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
e AERE
BHAF BT &/
ZHE RATER HELE @t
BT A @i T T
At 1 April 2018 “E-\¥MA-H - 127,586 99 128,582
Financing cash flows (note) rﬂﬁiﬂ%/mi (Hizt) 29,755 (20,780) (717) 8,258
Finance costs recognised BRARENE - 6,094 2 6,118
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1+-H 29,755 112,900 303 142,958
Adjustment upon application of RERBBHBREENE 1638
HKFRS 16 e - - 4,109 4,109
At 1 April 2019 R-E-NENA—H 29,755 112,900 4,412 147,067
Financing cash flows (note) BEBERE (M) (4,115) 57,030 (4,324) 48,591
Finance costs recognised ERAREKA - 8,083 447 8,530
New lease entered [SERE ko) - - 9,432 9,432
At 31 March 2020 RZEZTFE=A=1+-H 25,640 178,013 9,967 213,620
Note: The financing cash flows represented the net amount of Met: AR RERRITERMERIA
proceeds from bank borrowings, advance from a related AR —HABAR B XM
company, payment of finance costs, repayments to a BERKAR - 7 — BB R AE SR
related company, repayments of bank borrowings, lease EERITER HERELRAMR
liabilities and finance leases. BERREA -
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38. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE AND 38. MBERRIRARE
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, Wine’s Link provided NR_ZE_FTFR-F-—NLF=A
corporate guarantee to a bank in respect of entire =t+—H BREZRZLT -HBELALX
banking facilities granted to Success Dragon in addition CTREBEERTRESEIRTZ
to the personal guarantees provided by Ms. Shirley BRI KRBT A &P ZE AL -
Wong, Ms. Yeung Chi Hung, Mr. Roy Ting and Mr. PS BHOEF)EREERLE Z22F

39.

Ting and the properties owned by Success Dragon. The
banking facilities are only available to Success Dragon.
As at 31 March 2020, the outstanding loan balance
of Success Dragon was amounted to HK$13,015,000
(2019: HK$13,794,000). The directors of the Company
considered the ECL of the financial guarantee provided
by Wine's Link is insignificant as at 31 March 2020 and
2019. Wine’s Link released the corporate guarantee in
May 2020.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme"”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
on 18 December 2017 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives to any directors of the Company
and full-time employees of any member of the Group,
and any consultant or advisor of the Group who
the directors of the Company considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed or shall contribute to the
Group (“Participant”). The following is a summary of the
principal terms of the Share Option Scheme:

(i)  On and subject to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and the requirements of the Listing Rules,
the directors of the Company shall be entitled to,
at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
deems fit, grant options to any Participant.

(i) The maximum number of options in respect of
which might be granted under this Share Option
Scheme must not exceed 10% of the aggregate
of the shares in issue on the date the shares
commence trading on the Stock Exchange. The
maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted was 40,000,000 shares,
respectively 10% of issued share capital of the
Company on the date the shares commence trading
on the Stock Exchange. The overall limit on the
number of shares which shall be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted, and yet
to be exercised, under the Share Option Scheme
shall not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from
time to time.
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39. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

The total number of shares issued, and to be issued,
upon exercise of the options granted to each
Participant (including both exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any twelve months period
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

The period within which the shares shall be taken
up under an option shall be a period to be notified
by the directors of the Company to each grantee
at the time of making an offer, which shall be
determined by the directors of the Company in
its absolute discretion at the date of grant of the
relevant option, but such period shall not expire
later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
relevant option.

The subscription price shall be such price
determined by the directors of the Company at its
absolute discretion and notified to the Participant
in the offer at the time of the offer, and shall be no
less than the highest of: (a) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant of
the relevant option, which shall be a business day;
(b) an amount equivalent to the average closing
price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the
relevant option; and (c) the nominal value of a share
on the date of grant of the relevant option.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled
or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 nor
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period.
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40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 40. B AR Z##15
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March AABMBRRINR-ZE_ZTFR=F
2020 and 2019 are as follows: —NEFE=ZA=+—HZHBOT:

Attributable equity interest

of the Group as at
RT3 ARG EEERE
Issued and
Place of incorporation  Place of full paid share 31 March
Name of subsidiary  and registration operation  capital 2020 2019 Principal activities
BEAR
WRARAR A% EERE  2P4RRA ZR=1-A IEER
L
Directly held:
BERE:
Starlight The BV, limited HongKong ~ USD100 100% 100% Investment holding
liability company
Worldwide ABRAEE/ERDE BE 100£7 RERR
Perfectalent The BV, limited Hong Kong ~ USD1 100% 100% Investment holding
liability company
Holdings Limited ~ ZBRXES/ERAT &4 157 REBK
Sincere Peace The BV, limited liability ~ Hong Kong ~ USD1 100% - Investment holding
Holdings Limited ~ company
ZBRAHB/BRAT B4 B3 REER
Bountiful Vision The BV, limited liability ~ Hong Kong ~ USD1 100% - Investment holding
Investment Limited ~ company
AERAEE/ARAT BA E3p REER
Indlrectly held:
BERA:
Wine's Link Hong Kong, limited Hong Kong  HK$20,000,000 100% 100% Trading of premium wine and wine
liability company cellar
gl (B%) EE/BRLR 3 20,000,000 ¢ EERAEEEREE
Wineslink Macau, limited Macau Macau Pataca 100% 100% Dormant
(Macau) Limited liability company 25,000
A7 (RF)ERAR R/ BRAT -4 25,0005 7T BEH
Minogue International  Hong Kong, limited liability Hong Kong ~ HK$100 55% - Investment holding
Limited company
Bt/ ERAA 303 1007 RERRK
Brilliant Raise Holdings  Hong Kong, limited liabllity Hong Kong ~ HK$10,000 100% - Dormant
Limited company
Bt/ ERALA B 10,0007 70 B2H
21 O Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

All the companies comprising the Group have adopted 31
March as their financial year end date.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of both years.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Since early 2020, in response to outbreak of COVID-19
(the "COVID-19 Outbreak”), the Group has implemented
precautionary measures and hygiene measures to prevent
and control the COVID-19 Outbreak and safeguard the
occupational health and safety of the employees.

As the situation remains fluid as at the date these
consolidated financial statements are authorised for
issue, the directors of the Company considered that
the financial effects of the COVID-19 Outbreak on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements cannot be
reasonably estimated. Nevertheless, the management will
continue to monitor the development of the COVID-19
Outbreak and react actively to its impact on the financial
position and operating results of the Group. The actual
financial effects, if any, will be reflected in the Group’s
future consolidated financial statements.
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Financial Summary

MIIEE

RESULTS ¥E

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
“E-XEF ZEtF Z2/\F “F-NF -B-E¥F
FAEL T FEr  TET  TAR

Revenue g 244,619 281,639 323,127 335,127 279,403
Profit before taxation & %4 Al & F 5,511 5,926 16,242 41,150 14,763
Income tax expense Frisfim s (1,664) (2,228) (4,663) (8,384) (2,833)
Profit for the year FEEMN 3,847 3,698 11,579 32,766 11,930
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ZERF ZFtF ZF-\F ZT-NF ZEB-EF
T8T T8 TBT TBT TET

Total assets BEEBE 297,100 170,839 297,361 347,228 437,637
Total liabilities BERE (237,891)  (107,932) (142,577) (160,004) (238,483)
Total equity s 59,209 62,907 154,784 187,224 199,154
Non-controlling interests 3F 2 f& # %5 - - - - 14

Equity attributable of ~ ANQRJHEH AFE(L

the owners of the T =
Company 59,209 62,907 157,984 187,224 199,168
21 2 Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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